
Summons to Meeting

Tuesday 21 February 2017

Council
Wednesday 1 March 2017, 7.00 pm

Council Chamber, Allerdale House
Membership:

Councillor Celia Tibble (Chair) Councillor Mary Bainbridge (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Peter Bales Councillor Barbara Cannon
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor John Colhoun
Councillor John Cook Councillor Joseph Cowell
Councillor John Crouch Councillor Len Davies
Councillor Adrian Davis-Johnston Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Duncan Fairbairn Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Bill Finlay Councillor Marion Fitzgerald
Councillor Mark Fryer Councillor Malcolm Grainger
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Hilary Harrington
Councillor Michael Heaslip Councillor Alan Hedworth
Councillor Vaughan Hodgson Councillor Joe Holliday
Councillor William Jefferson Councillor Mark Jenkinson
Councillor Frank Johnston Councillor Angela Kendall
Councillor Peter Kendall Councillor Jim Lister
Councillor Tony Lywood Councillor Patricia Macdonald
Councillor Louise Maguire Councillor Anthony Markley
Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes Councillor Billy Miskelly
Councillor Jacqueline Mounsey Councillor Ron Munby
Councillor Eric Nicholson Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor Alan Pitcher
Councillor Martin Pugmire Councillor Denis Robertson
Councillor Joe Sandwith Councillor Neil Schofield
Councillor Alan Smith Councillor Christine Smith
Councillor Stephen Stoddart Councillor Philip Tibble
Councillor Lee Williamson Councillor David Wilson
Councillor Janice Wood Councillor Martin Wood

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Dean Devine on 01900 702502.



Agenda
1. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 8)

To sign as a correct record the minutes of the Council meeting held on 18 
January 2017.

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Exclusion of the Press and Public  
To consider whether there are any items on the agenda for which the press and 
public should be excluded.

5. Questions and Petitions  
To answer questions under Procedural Rule No. 4.16 from members of the 
public and from Councillors under Procedural Rule No. 4.17.2 and to receive 
Petitions under Access to Information Rules.

6. Notices of Motion  
To receive Notices of Motion.

Councillor A Smith submitted the following notice of motion:

‘As a Council we remain committed to apprenticeships. We pay apprentices the 
living wage and want to encourage all employers in the area to do the same. 
Apprenticeships are a key part of our local economy, as well as being a route 
into permanent employment and qualifications for many of our young people. 

New Government legislation dictates that all employers with over 250 employees 
must meet a target for a number of apprenticeships; otherwise they must return 
all levy money to central Government. This Council calls upon the Government 
to consider a mechanism for reinvesting unspent levies into the local SMEs in 
order to help them with their employment of apprentices.’

7. Councillor Speeches  
To hear speeches (not exceeding 5 minutes each), for up to a specified period of 
15 minutes, from individual members on a local issue in the Member’s Ward, of 
which 24 hours’ notice has been given to the Chief Executive.

8. Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service  (Pages 9 
- 10)

9. Portfolio Holder Reports  (Pages 11 - 24)
To consider reports from Members of the Executive.



10. Executive Minutes  (Pages 25 - 30)
To note the contents of the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 11 
January 2017.

11. Budget 2017-18 – Revenue and Capital  (Pages 31 - 88)

12. Council Tax Resolution 2017-18  (Pages 89 - 104)

13. Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy 
and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2017/18  (Pages 105 - 
156)

14. Pay Policy Statement  (Pages 157 - 168)

Chief Executive

Date of Next Meeting:

Wednesday 17 May 2017, 7.00 pm
Council Chamber, Allerdale House



This page is intentionally left blank



At a meeting of the Council held in Council Chamber, Allerdale House on Wednesday 
18 January 2017 at 7.00 pm

Members

Councillor Celia Tibble (Chair) Councillor Mary Bainbridge (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Peter Bales Councillor Barbara Cannon
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor John Colhoun
Councillor John Cook Councillor Joseph Cowell
Councillor Len Davies Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Bill Finlay
Councillor Marion Fitzgerald Councillor Mark Fryer
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Konrad Hansen
Councillor Hilary Harrington Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor Alan Hedworth Councillor Vaughan Hodgson
Councillor Joe Holliday Councillor William Jefferson
Councillor Frank Johnston Councillor Angela Kendall
Councillor Peter Kendall Councillor Jim Lister
Councillor Tony Lywood Councillor Patricia Macdonald
Councillor Louise Maguire Councillor Anthony Markley
Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes Councillor Billy Miskelly
Councillor Jacqueline Mounsey Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor Alan Pitcher
Councillor Martin Pugmire Councillor Joe Sandwith
Councillor Neil Schofield Councillor Alan Smith
Councillor Christine Smith Councillor Stephen Stoddart
Councillor Philip Tibble Councillor Lee Williamson
Councillor David Wilson

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Crouch, A Davis-Johnston, 
D S Fairbairn, M Jenkinson, R Munby, E Nicholson, D Robertson, J Wood and M Wood

Staff Present

H Carruthers, D Devine, I Frost, A Gilbert, C Hadfield, N Hardy, C Holmes, W Johnston, 
C Nicholson, J Owen, A Seekings, S Sewell, S Stanhope and P Wood

316 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Council Meeting held on 
16 November 2016 

The minutes of the meeting held on 16 November 2016 were signed as a 
correct record.

317 Declaration of interests 

None declared.

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



318 Exclusion of the Press and Public 

There were no items on the agenda for which the press and public should be 
excluded.

319 Questions and Petitions 

None received.

320 Notices of Motion 

Councillor B Finlay moved the following:

‘This Council resolves to request the Monitoring Officer to include a proposal as 
part of the report to the AGM in May 2017 that all of our Scrutiny committees be 
chaired by members drawn from outside the group or groups controlling the 
Council, and that the work programme of Scrutiny be determined by its 
members in consultation with colleagues to obviate the risk of the Executive 
being perceived or accused of shaping or directing its activities, the report to 
include recommendations on how the Council's Constitution can be amended to 
facilitate this approach.’

This was seconded by Councillor N Cockburn.

In response to the motion, Councillor A Smith said:

‘A review of the Scrutiny function was identified last year and the Council now 
has capacity to take this forward with the appointment of a permanent Scrutiny 
officer who started in post at the beginning of this month. 

The Council recognises that the scrutiny function is member-led and as such 
arrangements are now being made for an independent ‘peer challenge’ review 
of the whole function to be led by the LGA in the forthcoming weeks. This will 
seek to engage all members with the view to putting any recommendations in 
place by the new municipal year.

The outcome of the review will cover the issues the main motion is addressing.

In terms of the development of the annual Work programme, it is within the 
remit of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees to identify how they want to 
develop their Work Programmes and what goes on to it.’

Councillor A Smith moved the following amendment to the motion:

‘This Council resolves to request officers to report to the AGM in May 2017 on 
the outcome and recommendations of the independent ‘peer challenge’ review 
of the Scrutiny function, the report to include recommendations on how the 
Council's Constitution can be amended where necessary.’

Councillor M Fryer seconded the amendment.

Page 2



A vote was taken on the amendment to the motion – 32 in favour, 15 against 
and 0 abstentions. The amendment to the motion was carried.

The amendment became the substantive motion.

A vote was taken on the substantive motion – 46 in favour, 0 against and 1 
abstention. The substantive motion was carried.

Resolved

That the Council resolves to request officers to report to the AGM in May 2017 
on the outcome and recommendations of the independent ‘peer challenge’ 
review of the Scrutiny function, the report to include recommendations on how 
the Council's Constitution can be amended where necessary.

321 Councillor Speeches 

None received.

322 Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service 

None received.

323 Mayor's Engagements 

The Mayor made reference to the engagements she had attended since the last 
meeting. She thanked those Councillors who had also attended some of the 
events.

324 Portfolio Holder Reports 

Councillor A Smith presented his report. This was noted.

Councillor M Fryer presented his report. This was noted.

Councillor B Cannon presented her report. This was noted.

Councillor K Hansen presented his report. He thanked those Councillors who 
had attended the workshops he had held on the Regulatory Services Portfolio, 
where he had provided organisational charts on the new structure of the 
Revenues, Benefits, Customer Service and Document Management services, 
now known as Customer Operations. He informed Councillors that he would 
circulate these charts to them.

Councillor M Heaslip presented his report.

Councillor B Finlay asked for further information on Dog Control Orders (Public 
Space Protection Orders). Councillor M Heaslip agreed to provide further 
information.

Councillor B Jefferson presented his report. This was noted.

Page 3



Councillor C McCarron-Holmes presented her report. This was noted.

Councillor P Tibble presented his report. This was noted.

325 Executive Minutes 

Members reviewed the contents of the minutes of the Executive meetings held 
on 5 October, 8 November and 14 December 2016.

Agreed

That the minutes of the Executive meetings held on 5 October, 8 November and 
14 December 2016 be noted.

326 Changes to Committee Memberships 

The Head of Governance and Monitoring Officer submitted a report which 
sought Members to agree changes to committee memberships.

Councillor B Cannon moved that Councillor B Miskelly be appointed to the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Councillor A Smith seconded. 
This was agreed.

Councillor B Cannon moved that Councillor J Osborn be appointed Vice-Chair 
on the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Councillor A Smith 
seconded.

Councillor T Markley moved that Councillor J Lister be appointed Vice-Chair on 
the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Councillor J Mounsey 
seconded.

Councillor M Fitzgerald moved that Councillor B Finlay be appointed Vice-Chair 
on the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Councillor L Davies 
seconded.

A vote was taken in favour of Councillor B Finlay being appointed Vice-Chair on 
the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 6 voted in favour, 26 against 
and 15 abstentions. The motion was lost.

A vote was taken in favour of Councillor J Lister being appointed Vice-Chair on 
the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 17 voted in favour, 26 against 
and 4 abstentions. The motion was lost.

A vote was taken in favour of Councillor J Osborn being appointed Vice-Chair 
on the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 26 voted in favour, 15 
against and 6 abstentions. The motion was carried.

Councillor B Cannon moved that Councillor J Farebrother be appointed Vice-
Chair on the Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Councillor A Smith 
seconded.

Page 4



Councillor T Markley moved that Councillor M Grainger be appointed Vice-Chair 
on the Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Councillor A Pitcher 
seconded.

Councillor B Finlay moved that Councillor H Harrington be appointed Vice-Chair 
on the Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Councillor M Fitzgerald 
seconded.

A vote was taken in favour of Councillor H Harrington being appointed Vice-
Chair on the Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 7 voted in favour, 
27 against and 13 abstentions. The motion was lost.

A vote was taken in favour of Councillor M Grainger being appointed Vice-Chair 
on the Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 15 voted in favour, 28 
against and 4 abstentions. The motion was lost.

A vote was taken in favour of Councillor J Farebrother being appointed Vice-
Chair on the Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 27 voted in favour, 
19 against and 1 abstention. The motion was carried.

Councillor B Cannon moved that Councillor J Ellis be appointed Vice-Chair on 
the Licensing Committee. Councillor A Smith seconded.

Councillor T Markley moved that Councillor J Mounsey be appointed Vice-Chair 
on the Licensing Committee. Councillor M Grainger seconded.

A vote was taken in favour of Councillor J Mounsey being appointed Vice-Chair 
on the Licensing Committee. 18 voted in favour, 26 against and 3 abstentions. 
The motion was lost.

A vote was taken in favour of Councillor J Ellis being appointed Vice-Chair on 
the Licensing Committee. 27 voted in favour, 19 against and 1 abstention. The 
motion was carried.

Resolved

That:

1. Councillor B Miskelly be appointed to the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

2. Councillor J Osborn be appointed Vice-Chair on the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee

3. Councillor J Farebrother be appointed Vice-Chair on the Community 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

4. Councillor J Ellis be appointed Vice-Chair on the Licensing Committee

Page 5



327 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles/Drivers Review of Policies 

The Senior Licensing and Compliance Officer submitted a report which sought 
Members to review the revised policies in respect of Vehicle Age, Vehicle 
Advertising and the relevance of criminal convictions relating to the 
determination of the application to grant or renew a Hackney Carriage or Private 
Hire Drivers Licence.

Councillor A Kendall moved that the policies contained within the report be 
approved. Councillor D Wilson seconded. This was agreed.

Resolved

That the following be approved:

1. Vehicle Age Policy

2. Vehicle Advertising Policy

3. The Relevance of Criminal Convictions Relating to the Determination of 
the Application to Grant or Renew a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire 
Drivers Licence

328 Reference from Audit Committee 28 November 2016 - Treasury 
Management Operations - Mid-year Review 2016/17 

The Financial Services Manager had submitted the mid-year review report on 
treasury management operations for 2016/17 to the Audit Committee on 28 
November 2016. After considering the report, the Audit Committee had 
recommended that Council agree that the contents of the report be noted.

Councillor M Bainbridge moved the recommendation. Councillor J Colhoun 
seconded.

Resolved

That the contents of the mid-year review report on treasury management 
operations for 2016/17 be noted.

329 Calculation of Council Tax Base for 2017-18 

The Head of Financial Services submitted a report which gave details on 
calculations for the council tax base for the whole district and for each parish 
and town council for the year 2017-18, as required by the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 and the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) 
Regulations 2012.

Councillor B Cannon moved the recommendations set out in the report. 
Councillor M Fryer seconded. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Page 6



Resolved

1. That the report for the calculation of the council’s tax base for the year 
2017-18 as set out in the Appendices, be approved

2. That pursuant to the report and in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 2012, the amount 
calculated by Allerdale Borough Council as its tax base for the whole 
area for 2017-18 shall be 30,183.13

3. That the major precepting authorities (Cumbria County Council and the 
Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria) be notified for the purpose 
of calculating the basic amount of its council tax

4. That the tax bases be used by Allerdale Borough Council for calculating 
the basic amount of council tax as required by the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 as amended

330 Councillors Allowances 2017/18 

The Head of Governance and Monitoring Officer submitted a report which 
sought Members to consider the recommendations of the Independent Panel for 
Councillors Allowances on the Council’s Members’ Allowances Scheme for 
2017/18, following the Panel’s review of the scheme.

The Independent Panel had recommended that the Basic Allowance payable to 
all Councillors be increased by £100 for the forthcoming year and an increase in 
the Special Responsibility Allowance payable to the Chair of the Development 
Panel. The Panel had also recommended the removal of the Broadband 
Allowance.

Councillor B Cannon moved that the recommendations set out in the report be 
approved. Councillor A Smith seconded.

Councillor B Finlay moved that the recommendations set out in the report be 
refused. Councillor L Davies seconded.

A vote was taken in favour of refusing the recommendations of the Independent 
Panel for Councillors Allowances. 18 voted in favour, 27 against and 2 
abstentions. The motion was lost.

A vote was taken in favour of approving the recommendations of the 
Independent Panel for Councillors Allowances. 30 voted in favour, 12 against 
and 5 abstentions. The motion was carried.

Resolved

1. That the report and recommendations of the Panel be endorsed as 
Appendix 1

2. That the allowances paid to the Mayor and Deputy Mayor of Allerdale 
remain at £7,071 and £507 respectively

Page 7



3. That the Members’ Allowances Scheme 2017/18 be approved as 
Appendix 2

The meeting closed at 8.30 pm

Page 8



The Mayor, Councillor Celia Tibble

Engagements since the last Council meeting on 18 January 2017

Wednesday 1 February 2017, 10:15am Opening of Moorclose Deli, Moorclose, 
Workington

Friday 10 February 2017, 12:00pm Gen2 Graduation Ceremony 2017, Workington

Wednesday 15 February, 2017, 18:45pm WAOS, Opening Performance of Starlight Express 
(Junior Section)

Page 9

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 1 March 2017

Portfolio Holder Updates

The Reason for the Decision To update Council on the activities and
decisions of Portfolio Holders since the last
meeting

Summary of options considered N/A

Recommendations That Members note the content of the report

Financial /  Resource Implications None

Legal / Governance Implications None

Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

None

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

N/A

Wards Affected As indicated in the main body of the report

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

Portfolio Holder activity relates to the
development of the new Council’s key aims

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Alan Smith – Leader of the Council

Lead Officer Corporate Management Team – as indicated

Report Implications

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N
Financial N Employment (internal) N
Legal N Partnership N
Social Inclusion N Asset Management N
Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

Page 11

Agenda Item 9



1.0 Introduction

1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide full Council with an update and overview 
of the activities of individual portfolio holders.

2.0 Content

The activities of the Portfolio Holders are as follows:

2.1 Leader of the Council: Cllr Alan Smith
Growing our economy

As an Executive we are committed to building on our assets and growing our 
economy, whether that be in housebuilding or by attracting businesses to the 
area. This has been demonstrated in the recent housing strategy and business 
growth strategy, passed by the Executive in November 2016. Copies of these 
documents are available for all members, just speak to the relevant head of 
service if you want to find out more. We want to grow our economy by putting 
land to good use and helping to create more jobs for our local people. 

I have recently increased my activity in promoting Allerdale on a national level. I 
regularly attend the United Utilities’ YourVoice meetings, the North West 
Industrial Alliance Regional Meeting and the North West Leaders Board. In 
addition, I attended the Council Leader Summit and the UK Northern 
Powerhouse conference in Manchester. At all of these meetings I have 
advertised Allerdale as a great place to invest and do business, as well as a 
great place to live, work and visit. 

Devolution 

I am still waiting for a phone call from government to discuss future plans for 
devolution for Cumbria. I am glad that Allerdale will receive funding as part of the 
Growth Deal 3 announcement from government, although I believe that Cumbria 
as a whole should have received more funding. 

Boundary Review 

There is currently a consultation on the draft recommendations for the new 
warding arrangements in Allerdale. The Boundary Commission are proposing a 
reduction to 49 members in 22 wards, instead of the 56 councillors in 31 wards 
that is the case currently. I would encourage all members to have a look at the 
proposals at https://www.lgbce.org.uk/current-reviews/north-
west/cumbria/allerdale and respond accordingly before 3rd April 2017. 

Page 12

https://www.lgbce.org.uk/current-reviews/north-west/cumbria/allerdale
https://www.lgbce.org.uk/current-reviews/north-west/cumbria/allerdale


2.2 Deputy Leader: Economic Growth Portfolio: Cllr Mark Fryer

District Heat Networks

Work has commenced on the second stage of the Workington District Heat 
Network. Atkins have been appointed by the Council to undertake the 
commission. At the conclusion of this study the Council will be in a position to 
understand the potential for bidding into the £300m of funding that is available 
through Central Government.

Mentoring

Officers are now supporting students in three Allerdale schools: St Joseph’s in 
Workington, Netherhall in Maryport and Beacon Hill in Aspatria.  Students are 
being given mentoring support to raise their exam results, identify future career 
paths and assist with contacts to support further education and training needs.

Growth Deal 3

The Government have announced the projects that will make up Cumbria’s 
Growth Deal 3 funding package. Lillyhall North has been allocated £5million as 
part of the deal. The project will now be subject to a full business case. In order 
to support the development of the business case Ove Arup has been appointed 
to undertake a feasibility study on the Lillyhall North site. The commission will be 
undertaken in partnership with ABC, BEC and James Walker as the possible 
anchor tenant. Britain’s Energy Coast have provided the funding for the feasibility 
study. The work is expected to be concluded by the end of March 2017.  

Market Analysis Consultancy Contract 

Walton Goodland have been appointed to undertake a detailed demand and 
supply analysis of industrial, incubation and business premises in the Allerdale 
area as well as recommending  an approach to an inward investment/follow on 
business growth strategy. This will provide an up to date position of the current 
available stock, their age, size, rent and condition. This will be an extremely 
useful document which can be used to support future property investment 
decisions.

Festival and Events

12 events have been successfully supported through Council’s Festival and 
Events programme in the year to date. A number of the festivals and events will 
take place in the new financial year.

Page 13



Sports Development

129 new people were engaged in sport and physical activity in the first six 
months of year three of the Community Sport Activation Fund Project. A new 
project to support engagement in football is the most recent activity to be added 
to the programme which started in February. 

Through our swim support funding, a new learn to swim pilot has begun at 
Workington Leisure Centre targeting juniors who have not reached the national 
curriculum swim level and who are in receipt of free school meals so they can 
access the Leisure Centre’s learn to swim program free of charge. 

Participant figures for the new leisure centre are consistently high. Swim School 
and gymnastic courses are at a record high and they have just recruited a 
Community Sports Officer to develop the sport activities programme.

Local Plan

Consultation on the Local Plan (part 2) commenced on 27 January. It identifies 
sites for a variety of uses including housing, employment and retail to deliver the 
level of growth identified in part one of the Local Plan. This is an important 
opportunity for the local community and stakeholders to comment on the 
proposed sites. The consultation runs until 24 March and drop-in sessions with 
officers have been planned to allow the community to discuss the proposals, 
details of which are on the website. All the documents are available to view on 
the website and at the Council’s area offices and libraries.

2.3 Regulatory Services Portfolio: Cllr Konrad Hansen

Bereavement Services 

The department has had a busy February with 28 funerals that have either 
already taken place or are expected to take place before the end of the month. 
An increase of three over the December figures produced at the last Full Council.

The second round of memorial inspections are now complete and the third round 
has commenced with Brigham Cemetery being the first cemetery finished. This is 
a rolling programme for the eight cemeteries and 12 closed churchyards.

I would like to thank Susan Chilton who has left Allerdale after 24 years of 
service and pay tribute to her work. She was a dedicated member of the 
Bereavement Services team who gave valuable admin support to Robert and 
Ruth and empathy to those recently bereaved.

We have now received a building survey report for the disused rest room within 
Causewayhead Cemetery. This report has been passed onto Holme Low Parish 

Page 14



Council who have exciting plans for the building and an Allerdale representative 
attended their last Parish Council meeting to discuss the matter.  The report 
highlighted work that will be required to be completed on the building in the near 
future.  I look forward to working with the Parish Councillors to find an 
appropriate way forward for the project they are working on.

Corporate Health & Safety 

Barry Chambers has been carrying out Display Screen Assessments for staff 
suffering musculoskeletal issues. New equipment has been arranged including 
high backed chairs, lumbar cushions and ergonomic mice for those suffering 
which has resulted in no absenteeism or sickness from those affected. This is 
testament to the importance of corporate health and safety that they can address 
peoples’ needs before issues become too debilitating. 

Customer Operations 

Cumbria County Council are in the process of transferring Cockermouth Library 
to the Town Council in a community asset transfer. In line with findings in the 
recent residents survey where 89% of respondents told us they would support 
Allerdale working with other organisations to deliver services, we are in 
discussion with the Town and County Councils to relocate our local customer 
service centre, currently in Fairfield Road car park, to the library to form a 
community hub where customers can borrow books, use public access 
computers, use free public wi-fi, as well as accessing tourist information and a 
range of Town, County and District Council information and services all under 
one roof. If all goes well the service will move early in April.

Council Tax collection rates have continued to increase from 76.31% at the end 
of November to 94.62% at the end of January. Changes to benefit claims have 
also remained within target at 8.76 days (target 10 days) but the new benefit 
claims processing times have increased slightly over target at 20.05 days (target 
20 days). 

In January, Customer Services dealt with 5700 phone calls from our customers 
and over 3000 emails. They also dealt with over 1000 face to face visitors at our 
offices across the district. Over 1600 customers took advantage of our free 
telephone call back service meaning that they didn’t have to wait for their call to 
be answered. The abandoned call rate has risen slightly to 11% at the end of 
January (target 10%). This target and the new benefit claim processing target are 
marginally over target and will be redressed.

Licensing 

The department has been working with Nik Hardy’s team exploring the night time 
economy. One meeting has already been held internally with various 

Page 15



departments who have an interest in this and shortly Nik’s team will be arranging 
meetings with licence holders of pubs/clubs and late night takeaways and a 
separate meeting with the taxi trade. A representative of the Licensing 
Department will be attending both meetings and it will be an opportunity of 
addressing any current problems/queries the various trades have and look to 
explore and contribute to the improvement of the night time economy.

2.4 Localities and Environmental Quality Portfolio: Cllr Michael 
Heaslip

Area Arrangements

Meetings are being held for Councillors in each of our seven Areas to look at up-
dated Area Assessments and Plans for those Areas.

Streets

I reported at the last meeting about the change in the law on Dog Control Orders 
which, under the remit of Public Space Protection Orders, is likely to cost the 
Council £10,000 per year if we are to protect people, especially children, from the 
public health dangers of dog faeces, and help to promote healthy play and 
recreation by ensuring people are not put off by dog faeces in their sports pitches 
and playing areas.

In order to fund this extra cost, I intend to cease providing free dog-fouling bags 
to Parish Councils and Area Offices. Dog-fouling bags are readily available from 
all supermarkets and many other shops at a minimal charge, and can still be 
supplied to Parish Councils at cost. 

Waste & Recycling

The Council has been using purple plastic bags for doorstep recycling of glass, 
metal and plastics for some time now, and this scheme now covers a significant 
proportion of the district. The bags themselves require double-handling, can only 
be used once and reduce the value of the recycled materials as the bags are 
classed as contamination. The Council would save money if purple bags were 
replaced by some other container which was re-usable, didn't need double-
handling and didn't contaminate recycled materials. 

 
A series of trials are being undertaken on the kerbside recycling service to 
test different potential collection options, which include:

1. Paper and card in existing 120L wheeled bin; collections of glass bottles/jars, 
food & drinks cans and plastic containers from a 55L recycling box. 

Page 16



2. Paper & card collections from  a 55L recycling box;  collections of mixed glass 
bottles/jars, food and drinks cans and plastic containers to be collected using the  
existing 120L wheeled bin (instead of using it for paper).

  
3. Paper & card collections from a reusable 72L sack (with Velcro flap and 
weighted base); collections of glass bottles/jars, food and drinks cans and plastic 
containers using the 120L wheeled bin

Approximately 300 households were selected for the trial to provide detail and 
depth of data which includes tonnage and participation with customer and 
contractor feedback on the collection methods after completion of the trial. There 
are no plans to reduce the type of recycling being collected, only the collection 
methods. The trials will be conducted over 12 weeks, beginning in March 2017, 
across three areas which are: 

 Maryport – The Beeches 
 Seaton – Coronation Avenue Estate  
 Cockermouth – Beech Lane Estate 

We are hoping to trial, for a month each, three different alternatives in each of 
three  areas of about a hundred properties, to see which works best for the 
service – which also must mean which works best for the household users. 

No changes are proposed to the “Crunch” service, although we do need to better 
understand who uses it and why.

Open Spaces

The proposed establishment of a Water Level Management Board (Internal 
Drainage Board) for the lower Waver-Wampool catchment area has been put on 
hold. The Environment Agency has announced that it will continue its previous 
operations in the area until October 2018, and not withdraw – as had been 
threatened. The problem is that it’s virtually impossible to set up a new Board 
under the current legislation, and a change in the law will be needed. It’s 
impossible to say when time might be found in Parliament.

2.5 Tourism and Culture Portfolio: Cllr William Jefferson

Visitor Guide

The Council are currently exploring options for the development of a new, 
improved visitor guide. This work will include the design of a unique and 
attractive toolkit which includes graphics, typography and imagery to be used in 
electronic and printed media. It is envisaged that the final document will be a 
printed and electronic map/brochure to be used to promote the area's tourist 
attractions for visitors as well as to a local audience. 

Page 17



Theatre

Congratulations to Workington Amateur Operatic Society (WAOS) for yet another 
sell-out by the WAOS Juniors with their Starlight Express Youth Group 
production this February following last year's sell-out of Les Miserables at the 
Carnegie. I thought Starlight Express was exceptional with many excellent 
individual performances.  WAOS are setting very high standards and are well 
worth following.  Tickets are already on sale for their Christmas Special (White 
Christmas) which is also expected to be sold out well ahead of time. 

Signage in Keswick

Improved signage has been installed in Keswick town centre to help visitors to 
the area find their way to Derwentwater, one of the town’s most popular 
locations. The project is being funded by Allerdale Borough Council, which has 
been working with Keswick Town Council to implement the new finger-posts, 
signs and route-map. 

The signage ties in with the new Derwentwater Walk waymarked route project 
which has been delivered by the National Trust, Keswick Tourism Association 
and Lake District National Park Authority to help visitors follow the scenic 10-mile 
walk around the lake. A new map of the entire route has been placed opposite 
Hope Park Café. The route passes through the town centre, with the Town 
Council highlighting a need for improved information to help tourists follow the 
popular path.

Solway Coast

Stage 2 Coastal Communities Fund bid for new cycle-path infrastructure and 
coastal visitor projects. A visit has been hosted by the assessment officer from 
CCF to look at the projects and to gain further information. The officer has now 
made their recommendation to the CCF funding board for a decision in spring. 
The bid is worth £1.8 million and is led by the Silloth on Solway Coastal 
Community Team.

Support to the major visitor development in Bowness on Solway (Bowness 
House Farm). This project has been supported to provide an early marketing and 
web presence. And a bid for £85,000 has been lodged with the Council’s SIIF 
Fund.

Architects have been contracted to provide feasibility studies for developments at 
Wigton Baths and a new visitor attraction in Fletchertown.

Page 18



Silloth have been invited for the second year running by Britain in Bloom to enter 
the town at national level in the small coastal town category. In 2016 Silloth was 
awarded national silver gilt and the Chair of Silloth in Bloom received the RHS 
Community Champion Award. The innovative bee garden - created by Vivian 
Russell with the support of the town team - has received widespread national 
acclaim. This year Silloth has been asked to host the Cumbria in Bloom Awards 
ceremony in September.

Hadrian’s Wall Partnership

Officers from the Council are supporting Hadrian’s Wall Partnership to appoint a 
consultancy to investigate and appraise options for a sustainable funding model 
for the Hadrian’s Wall Heritage Site and make recommendations on the scope 
and delivery mechanisms of centrally funded activity. This is a hugely important 
piece of work for the Partnership and Hadrian’s Wall and the Wall remains a 
significant but potentially underutilised tourism asset for Allerdale.

2.6 Housing Health and Wellbeing Portfolio: Cllr Carni McCarron-
Holmes
Housing

I recently attended the Westfield Housing Association Board meeting. The 
current Director is on a two day week running down to retirement. He has led this 
organisation splendidly over many years and it will be sad when he departs. 
However, as this is a flat management body, the future of this Association and 
where it fits in the Cumbria Housing family will require some in depth discussion. 
They have been very good with RTB buybacks; thus keeping the housing 
community buoyant. I will keep members up to date as things progress.

Your D&S

At last I can see progress in the de-merger with the mother Board of YOUR 
Housing association. It is hoped that our new link with 2 Castles will be between 
June and 1st July. Members should be aware that this will secure the housing 
stock to remain in the hands of a West Cumbria Board and tenants will, I hope, 
feel the benefit of this throughout the Borough 

Government Funding Award

The Government at the budget 2016 announced a £60million fund to support 
community led housing development in areas where the impact of second homes 
is particularly acute.

Page 19



As part of their commitment, the Council was informed at the end of December 
2016 that it was being allocated £772,554 of funding for 2016/17, of which 50% 
has now been received.

The aim of the funding is to enable local community groups to deliver affordable 
housing units of mixed tenure on sites which are less likely to be of interest to 
mainstream house builders and will go some way to contribute to the overall 
delivery of housing supply.

There will be a second tranche of funding available to the Council in 2017 subject 
to the Council providing satisfactory evidence that the money is being spent in 
accordance with the objectives outlined in the budget announcement.

A similar amount from 2017/18 onwards will be available but this will depend in 
part on how the Council’s 2016/17 allocation has been spent.

The funding criteria are;

 A requirement that the community must be integrally involved throughout the 
process in key decisions.  They don’t necessarily have to initiate and manage 
the development process, or build the homes themselves, though some may 
do

 A presumption in favour of community groups that are taking  a long term 
formal role in ownership, management and stewardship of the homes; and

 A requirement that the benefits to the local area and/or specified community 
must be clearly defined and legally protected in perpetuity.

The Community Housing Fund may be used to fund capital projects, revenue 
streams and purchase of land and property. 

Current Position:

In Allerdale we have nine parishes where the levels of second homes are above 
10%.  These are; Above Derwent, Borrowdale, Iredale and Uldale, Keswick, 
Lorton, Loweswater, St Johns Castlerigg and Wythburn, Underskiddaw and 
Wythop.  Efforts should be focused on these areas but it is reasonable for us to 
include neighbouring parishes when looking at potential developments.

Early discussions with the Homes and Communities Agency have been positive 
and they are keen for Allerdale to build upon the good work that we have done 
around the development of Community Land Trusts, strongly support the Council 
in getting the infrastructure in place to deliver Community led housing, support 
the purchase of land and property for future development to support; existing 
CLTs, those CLTs in development in areas where we feel community groups can 
be established in the future.   

Although we are already working with the Keswick Community Housing Trust, 
Caldbeck Parish Council and the Above Derwent Community Land Trust we are 

Page 20



keen to work with as many community groups as we can to develop potential 
projects for the future.

Should you feel able to help please get in touch, particularly if you represent one 
of the parishes outlined above.

Health

The Success Regime still causes raised voices and despite concerns being 
expressed, I fear for our area. However the Impact dwelling handed over to us 
has undergone considerable work to be used as a home for trainee GPs coming 
from London region to undertake a spell with our rural and urban practices. I 
firmly hope that this initiative will assist and maybe encourage some to relocate 
to this borough.

2.7 Transformation Portfolio: Cllr Philip Tibble
Community Safety

There has been some concern over a recent increase in anti-social behaviour, 
after hours, in Workington Town Centre. Although there is no problem with young 
people gathering, there have been incidents of criminal damage to both shops 
and to the general fabric of the area. I recently convened a meeting with Allerdale 
officers, the police and the commercial town centre manager to look at solutions 
to the problems. The company who manages the centre are looking at installing 
a CCTV system, which will help in evidence gathering and addressing shoplifting, 
which is often carried out by organised gangs. Allerdale have offered the use of 
the existing control room within the town centre. 

As reported previously the CSP has funded youth engagement in Copeland 
using INSPIRA and in Allerdale using Cumbria Youth Alliance. This will be rolled 
out in most areas of Allerdale, building on existing youth provision. We are also 
looking to providing a HUB in Workington, similar to the one in Whitehaven.  The 
HUB is a multiagency base from which the District, County, Police and other 
agencies can work together to address issues.

Drink related incidents during the festive season were significantly reduced. The 
use of taxi marshals, funded by West Community Safety Partnership, have 
contributed to this along with the Pub Watch scheme also funded by the CSP. 
Pub Watch was developed in West Cumbria, operating in all Allerdale towns, and 
is now used throughout the UK. I will be attending the National Pub Watch 
Conference in Reading, at which our Coordinator Lisa Elder will be receiving an 
award in recognition for her work. Workington, after being in the top 5 of 
Cumbrian towns in terms of incidents in the town centre, is now down to 30th.

Emergency Planning and Flood Prevention

Page 21



I recently took part in a “walkabout” in the Flimby area, organised by Councillor 
Peter Kendall, along with Home Housing, Allerdale officers and residents. We 
looked at various “pinch points”, culverts and drains etc, which need attention to 
help alleviate flooding in the future. Flimby have also set up a Flood Action Group 
and Allerdale have committed funding to purchase a container for flood sacks 
and torches etc to be used in an emergency.

The Allerdale Flood Resilience group is ongoing and we have attendance from 
most areas affected by the floods and again we will fund small to medium scale 
work around flood prevention. I will give an update on the situation with the Flood 
Resilience Grants at Full Council. 

Transformation and ICT

We are currently in the process of restructuring the ICT department to reflect the 
changes in the way the service will be delivered in the future as we move away 
from servers and systems located on our premises by migration to more flexible 
cloud based services.  The skills needed to deliver the service will change and 
the new structure will mean that they are ready to deliver the service the 
organisation needs.

The project to replace the current Allerdale website has started, our current 
website, www.allerdale.gov.uk, has won a number of awards in the past and 
received a 3 star rating in a recent SOCITM review. 

However things move on and we recognise that increasingly customers expect to 
be able to be able to access council services and information when it’s 
convenient for them. They want to be able to do more on-line and to do this well 
across the range of devices, smartphones and tablets used by customers. We 
need to rethink the way we offer those services and we need a website needs 
able to reflect those aspirations. 

The trial sending mail out using hybrid mail has been successful and we will now 
be looking at a trial to use it for large mailings to customers.

2.8 Corporate Resources Portfolio: Cllr Barbara Cannon 

Member Training

Monday 6 March – Chairing Skills Training – 9.30am to 4.30pm in Council 
Chamber – All Chairmen / Vice-Chairmen required to have the training and 
should make the effort to attend unless they have good reason not to! All 
Members are invited to attend

Page 22

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/


Tuesday 7 March – CIPFA Fraud Training arranged by Assurance, Risk and 
Audit – 9.30am to 4.30pm in Council Chamber – Important for Members to attend 
to make sure they are fully aware of their responsibilities for fraud risks

Members planning to attend the training should let Democratic Services know as 
soon as possible.

Temporary Road Closure Orders for Public Events

Fee for an application for a Temporary Road Closure Order for a Public Event 
increased from £118 to £121 as of 1 April 2017. This has been publicised on the 
Council’s website.

Policy Development

The People Resources team continues to progress developing HR policies. The 
Recruitment and Selection Policy is currently being reviewed to better reflect the 
behaviours contained within the What Great Looks Like in Allerdale framework.

Apprenticeships

As part of the executive commitment to apprenticeships, one apprenticeship has 
been recruited to support in Planning Services with the business administration 
apprentice starting on 13th February.  In line with the Council’s pledge to pay the 
Living Wage Foundation pay rates, all apprenticeships are paid at £8.25 per 
hour.

Dream Placements

In addition we have one Dream Placement student starting for a week in 
Communication & Marketing. The Dream Placement Scheme is run by the 
Centre for Leadership Performance with the purpose of giving the students an 
insight into the world of work with a leading Cumbrian employer. It is intended to 
give a unique opportunity to see how the senior teams and leaders of 
organisations go about dealing with the challenges they face.

Work Experience

Work experience student, Chelsea O’Hagan, starts in Democratic Services on 
Monday 27 February. She is with the service until Thursday 2 March. 

Employee Awards

The Employee Engagement Group are looking at the next Employee Awards 
event scheduled for May.

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



At a meeting of the Executive held in Council Chamber, Allerdale House on Wednesday 
11 January 2017 at 9.00 am

Members

A Smith (Chairman)

B Cannon
M Fryer
M Heaslip

C McCarron-Holmes
P Tibble

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors K Hansen and W H Jefferson

Staff Present

D Devine, I Frost, A Gilbert, C Hadfield, N Hardy, I Hinde, C Holmes, K Kerrigan, 
C Nicholson, A Seekings, S Sewell, S Stanhope, J Ward, G Wilson and P Wood

Also Present

Councillor C Tibble

308 Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 14 December 2016 were signed as a 
correct record.

309 Declaration of Interest 

None declared.

310 Questions 

None received.

311 Members Announcements 

None received.

312 Local Plan (part 2) Preferred Options Consultation 

The Subject of the Decision:

The Head of Development Services submitted a report which sought approval 
from the Executive to commence consultation on the Allerdale Local Plan (part 
2) preferred options.

Councillor M Fryer moved that the recommendation be approved. This was 
seconded by Councillor B Cannon. The recommendation was unanimously 
agreed.

Page 25

Agenda Item 10



Alternative Options Considered:

A detailed options assessment had been carried out across all sites and policies 
before arriving at the preferred options. Details of the options considered were 
set out in the documents attached to the report.

The Reason for the Decision:

To seek Member approval to commence consultation on the Allerdale Local 
Plan (part 2) preferred options.

The Decision:

Resolved – That the documents appended to the report be approved for 
consultation.

313 Residents Survey Results 2016 

The Subject of the Decision:

The Head of Customer and Commissioning submitted a report which sought to 
provide the Executive with the results of the 2016 Allerdale Residents Survey.

The results of the survey showed an improvement on previous years in most 
areas. Main highlights included:

Overall satisfaction with the services provided by the Council had been largely 
maintained at record levels. In total 73% of respondents were very or fairly 
satisfied with the way the Council provided its services. The 2014 level was 
74% which was a rise from 49% in 2012 and 39% in 2008.

Locally, those in Cockermouth (78%) and Silloth (75%) and Wigton (75%) came 
out the most satisfied. In other areas the satisfaction ratings were: 73% in 
Aspatria and Workington, 70% in Maryport and 69% in Keswick.

Residents’ satisfaction with their local area as a place to live had been 
maintained at above 80% (82% in 2016 and 84% in 2014). Those people living 
in Wigton were most satisfied with their local area (91%). For Silloth and 
Cockermouth 90% of residents were satisfied, 86% in Keswick, 78% in 
Workington, 77% in Maryport and 74% in Aspatria. The results were 
comparable with those in 2014.

93% of people said they were satisfied with the weekly refuse collection and 
78% with the doorstep recycling service. These figures compared to the results 
in 2014 which were 92% and 79% respectively.

Overall satisfaction with other services, such as household waste recycling sites 
(84%), parks and open spaces (72%), public sport/leisure facilities (47%) and 
car parking (48%) were comparable with results in 2014 of 84%, 73%, 46% and 
44% respectively.

Page 26



Members considered it important to use the information to inform the Council’s 
decision making.

Councillor P Tibble moved that the recommendation be approved. This was 
seconded by Councillor M Fryer. The recommendation was unanimously 
agreed.

Alternative Options Considered:

None

The Reason for the Decision:

To provide Members with the results of the 2016 Allerdale Residents Survey

The Decision:

Agreed – That the contents of the report be noted.

314 Youth Unemployment Review report of Scrutiny 

The Subject of the Decision:

The Key Partnerships Officer submitted a report which sought the Executive to 
consider recommendations from the Community Overview and Scrutiny Sub-
Committee on Youth Unemployment in Allerdale.

Councillor C Tibble, Chairman of the Scrutiny Sub-Committee: Enquiry into 
Youth Unemployment in Allerdale presented the report.

The Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee had considered the report at 
its meeting on 25 November 2016, adopting the recommendations of the sub-
committee with some amendments.

Councillor C McCarron-Holmes noted that the report highlighted there was not 
currently a Prince’s Trust ‘Team’ programme provision running in Allerdale – a 
12-week personal development course for 16 to 25-year-olds, offering work 
experience, qualifications, practical skills, community projects and a residential 
week. She asked if there was any possibility of the Council heading up the 
programme to which the Chief Executive and Corporate Director suggested the 
Council could look into.

Councillor M Fryer moved that the recommendations be approved and that the 
Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee be asked to examine issues 
affecting young people around deprivation and how the Council could target 
these people. This was seconded by Councillor A Smith. The motion was 
unanimously agreed.

Alternative Options Considered:

None

Page 27



The Reason for the Decision:

To allow Members to consider the report and recommendations from the 
Community Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee on Youth Unemployment

The Decision:

Resolved – That the recommendations as set out in the Youth Unemployment 
Review Report be agreed, being:

a) The report should be shared more widely, particularly with the Allerdale 
Local Committee of Cumbria County Council;

b) The Council should work with partners and in particular liaise with 
businesses to encourage the reintroduction of training provision, 
especially vocational training for those with no or lower level 
qualifications;

c) The Council should work closely with delivery partners receiving funding 
(for example European Social Fund) to target those furthest from the 
employment market and monitor their performance and encourage 
opportunities for those seeking work to attend ‘work fairs’, with the 
particular level of available work clearly promoted;

d) The Council’s Community Scrutiny Committee should further examine 
issues affecting young people including education provision, and 
opportunities within a range of industries, particularly manufacturing, 
tourism and self-employment.

Recommended

That the Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee be asked to examine 
issues affecting young people around deprivation and how the Council could 
target these people

315 Fees and Charges - Commercial Waste and Bulky Waste Collection 

The Subject of the Decision:

The Head of Community Services submitted a report which sought the 
Executive to approve increases to the Council’s commercial collecting fees, an 
increase to the bulky waste collection fee and an introduction of a charge for the 
collection of commingled commercial glass, cans and plastics, in order to bring 
the Council’s charges for these services in line with the costs for collection and 
disposal.

Councillor M Heaslip moved that the recommendations be approved. This was 
seconded by Councillor B Cannon. The recommendations were unanimously 
agreed.

Page 28



Alternative Options Considered:

Charging for all recyclables (glass, cans, paper) and increase current 
commercial collection fees to that of inflation

Charging for mixed recyclables (glass, cans and plastics) and increase current 
commercial collection fees beyond inflation for 2017/18

The Reason for the Decision:

To bring Allerdale Borough Council’s charges for bulky waste collection and 
commercial waste in line with the cost of collection and disposal and to 
introduce a charge for commercial recycling

The Decision:

Resolved – That:

1. The increase of commercial collection fees as set out in Appendix 3 of 
the report be approved

2. The increase in bulky waste collection fees as set out in Appendix 3 of 
the report be approved

3. A charge be introduced for collection of commingled commercial glass, 
cans and plastics as set out in Appendix 3 of the report

4. All new charges be applied as of 1 April 2017

The meeting closed at 10.10 am

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 30



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 1 March 2017

Recommendations Referred to Council

Budget 2017-18 – Revenue and Capital
___________________________________________________________________

The following recommendations have been referred to Council by the Executive at its 
meeting held on 15 February 2017. It is for Council to consider its response.

Following the meeting held on 15 February, there have been no amendments to 
parish precepts and therefore no amendments to the figures.

Recommended

That Council be requested to agree that:

1. The total planned revenue expenditure is £14,936,330 including parish 
precepts of £1,913,535.

2. £14,501,532 is approved as the Council’s net Budget requirement for 2017-
18.

3. An increase in Council Tax of 1.9% is approved.

4. No changes are made to Council’s Council Tax Reduction discount scheme 
and that the current scheme remains in place for 2017-18.

5. The amount of central government funding in respect of council tax support 
funding included in the Councils Settlement Funding Assessment to be paid to 
Town and Parish Council is set at £41,332 (Appendix A).

6. The revenue estimates as approved are used in the calculation of the basic 
amount of tax under Section 31of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

7. The minimum level of non-earmarked general fund balances is set at £2.7m and 
that no maximum level is set.

8. The capital budget of £19,306,264 (comprising £9,401,147 in 2017-18, 
£7,715,117 in 2018-19 and £2,190,000 in 2019-20) is approved.

9. The proposed capital budget for 2017- 18 is financed as follows:
 grants and contributions ….£7,426,147
 borrowing………………...…£1,975,000

Dean Devine
Temporary Democratic and Support Services Manager

Page 31

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Executive – 15th February 2017 
 

Budget 2017-18 – Revenue and Capital 
 

  
The Reason for the Decision To present the draft revenue and capital budget 

and the formal advice of the chief financial officer 
on the robustness of the estimates included in the 
budget and the adequacy of the reserves which 
support the Council’s budgetary plans. 
 

Summary of options considered  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Council has a statutory requirement to 
approve a balanced budget.    

The draft budget proposes an increase in Council 
Tax of 1.9%.  

A number of growth bids and savings bids have 
been submitted and are considered in this report. 

A public consultation exercise relating to options 
included in the Council’s draft budget proposals 
was carried out between December 2016 and 
January 2017. 

 
Recommendations It is recommended that: 

1. The total planned revenue expenditure is 
£14,936,330 including parish precepts of 
£1,913,535.  

2. £14,501,532 is approved as the Council’s 
net Budget requirement for 2017-18. 

3. An increase in Council Tax of 1.9% is 
approved. 

4. No changes are made to Council’s Council 
Tax Reduction discount scheme and that 
the current scheme remains in place for 
2017-18.  

5. The amount of central government funding 
in respect of council tax support funding 
included in the Councils Settlement 
Funding Assessment to be paid to Town 
and Parish Council is set at £41,332 
(Appendix A). 

6. The revenue estimates as approved are 
used in the calculation of the basic amount 
of tax under Section 31of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. 

Page 33



7. The minimum level of non-earmarked 
general fund balances is set at £2.7m and 
that no maximum level is set.   

8. That the capital budget of £19,306,264 
(comprising £9,401,147 in 2017-18, 
£7,715,117 in 2018-19 and £2,190,000 in 
2019-20) is approved. 

9. That the proposed capital budget for 2017-
18 is financed as follows: 

• grants and contributions …£7,426,147  

• borrowing………………...…£1,975,000 

 
Financial / Resource Implications As set out in the report.  The revenue estimates 

will form part of the calculation of the overall 
council tax level to be set. 
 

Legal Implications Statutory requirement to set a balanced budget. 
 

Community Safety Implications 
 

None 
 

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications 

The budget contains provision for the Council to 
discharge its obligations under health and safety 
legislation, and to maintain a reserve in order to 
manage risks. 

There are also risks that the Council will not be 
able to operate within agreed budgetary 
provisions but this can be minimised by the 
financial monitoring process and by the prudent 
policy on the level of reserves and balances. 

  
Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed 

As part of the budget growth bids and savings 
bids process. 

  
Wards Affected All 
  
The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities 

The revenue budget is set to support the Council 
in achieving priorities through the Council Plan 
and to facilitate control of expenditure on its 
activities. 

  
Is this a Key Decision Yes 
  
Portfolio Holder Councillor Barbara Cannon 
  
Lead Officer  Catherine Nicholson  

Head of Financial Services 
01900 702503 
catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk 

Page 34



 
 
Report Implications (Please delete where applicable). 
 
Community Safety Y Employment (external to the Council) Y 

Financial  Y Employment (internal) Y 

Legal Y Partnership Y 

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management Y 

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety Y 

 
1.0 Introduction 

1.1 The Council has a statutory responsibility to set a balanced budget for each 
financial year. This means that the Council’s expenditure on services must be 
contained within the available funding envelope.  

1.2 This report sets out the:  

• outcome of the 2017-18 Budget Consultation exercise ; 

• proposed revenue budget for 2017-18; and 

• proposed capital budgets for 2017-18 to 2019-20. 

1.3 This report also sets out the chief finance officer’s report to the Council (made 
under section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003) on the: 

(a)  the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the Council’s 
budget calculations and 

(b)  the adequacy (or otherwise) of the Council’s financial reserves 

to which members are required to have regard to when making decisions about 
the Council’s budget calculations. 

 
 
2. Budget Consultation 

2.1 Consultation with the public and other key stakeholders is essential to informing 
the Councils priorities and the financial plans which underpin delivery of those 
priorities, including the Councils annual budget. Consultations informing the 
2017/18 budget process comprised: 

• a survey of residents undertaken during July and August 2016  

• a budget consultation focusing on specific budget issues raised in the 
residents survey. 

Survey of Residents 

2.2 The Council commissioned NWA Social and Market Research to undertake a 
general survey of residents seeking their views on satisfaction with services, with 

Page 35



their quality of life and their area.  The 2016 survey was similar to those carried 
out in 2014 and 2012 and to the Place Survey of 2008. 

2.3 Questionnaires were posted out in July 2016 to 7,078 randomly selected 
addresses across the Council’s area. The Survey questionnaire was 
accompanied by a covering letter and information on how to obtain support if 
required during the survey. Reminders were sent mid-August to 5,852 addresses 
from which no reply to the initial mailing had been received. In total, 2048 surveys 
were completed (29%).  Weighting was applied at the analysis stage in order to 
make the survey results representative of the Council area in terms of age and 
gender and the seven localities in the borough. 

2.4 The headlines of the survey included: 

• very high levels of satisfaction (82%) with their locality as a place to live 
and with the way Allerdale Borough Council provides services (74%) 

• very high levels of satisfaction with key services for example household 
waste recycling sites (84%), refuse collection (93%) and doorstep 
recycling 78% 

• less than half of respondents expressing satisfaction with ‘public car 
parking’ (48%), ‘public sport/ leisure facilities’ (47%), ‘theatres/ concert 
halls’ (45%), ‘museums/ galleries’ (37%), and ‘public toilets’ (36%)   

• over half of respondents (52%) indicating they would like to see more 
‘preparation for flooding events’ whilst ‘street cleaning’ (38%), ‘public 
toilets’ (31%), ‘public car parking’ (29%) and local markets (28%) ranked 
highest amongst the services which respondents would like to see more of  

• economic development and job prospects are key concerns for residents 

• support from the majority of respondents for the different ways the Council 
could provide services, including working with other organisations to 
reduce costs, making services operate commercially and providing better 
quality facilities, but less of them 

• support, from the majority of respondents, for a rise in Council Tax to 
protect key services.  

Budget Consultation 

2.5 The Budget consultation was held between 16th December 2016 and 30th 
January 2017. The consultation was accessible via the Council’s website and the 
designated consultation pages, allowing people to submit responses 

electronically. All parish and town councils were sent the consultation, as were 
various partner organisations and third parties. Hard-copy versions of the 
consultation were also made available in our offices.  The consultation was 
promoted through the local press, via the homepage of the website and via 
numerous postings on our Twitter and Facebook sites.   

2.6 The consultation document included a background to the Council’s financial 
situation and the steps taken by the Council to bridge the financial gap arising 
from the reduction in central government grants. To supplement the feedback 

Page 36



received from the residents’ survey the budget consultation sought views on 
proposals related to setting next year’s Council Tax and increasing fees and 
charges in line with inflation. 

2.7 The majority responses to the budget consultation were in favour of the 
proposals put forward in the consultation document with:  

• 77% of the responses received in favour of the 1.9% increase in 
Allerdale’s portion of the Council Tax bill, and  

• 77% supporting the general policy of increasing fees and charges in line 
with inflation 

2.8 A summary of consultation responses can be found in Appendix J.  
 
 
3.       National and Local Context  

2015 Spending Review and Autumn Statement 

3.1 Local authorities have taken the biggest hit in terms of central government cuts 
since 2010.  The scale of reduction, along with a degree of volatility around the 
phasing and timing of these cuts has made it very difficult for authorities to plan 
their spending priorities strategically.  The need for effective medium term 
planning has never been stronger. 

3.2 The government’s response to these concerns has been the offer of a 4 year 
settlement guarantee, paid to councils for the 4 year period from April 2016 to the 
financial year 2019-20.  It covers Revenue Support Grant, transitional funding 
and Rural Services Delivery Grant. 

3.3 This Council chose to take advantage of this offer and published, in line with 
terms of the multi-year offer, its Efficiency Plan in October 2016. DCLG duly 
confirmed that we were to receive the multi-year settlement. 

Autumn Statement 2016 

3.4 The Autumn Statement 2016, delivered on 23 November 2016 confirmed the 
government’s commitment to the departmental spending plans set out in the 
2015 Spending review. It also included the announcement that the Government 
will no longer seek to deliver a budget surplus by the end of the current 
parliament but will instead seek to return public finances to balance ‘as early as 
possible in the next Parliament. Although reductions in departmental spending 
and further fiscal tightening were avoided, there was no easing of austerity for 
public services.  

3.5 Other policy announcements made in the 2016 Autumn Statement and impacting 
on local government bodies included: 

• a new Housing Infrastructure Fund of £2.3bn by 2020-21 funded by the 
National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) and allocated to local 
government on a competitive basis, to provide infrastructure that will 
support delivery of up to 100,000 new homes in high demand areas.  

Page 37



• an additional £1.4bn funded from the NPIF to deliver an additional 40,000 
homes from the Affordable Homes Programme up to 2020-21  

• investing £1.7bn by 2020-21 through the NPIF to speed up house building 
on public sector land in England through partnerships with private sector 
developers 

• awarding £1.8bn to Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) across England 
through a third round of Growth Deals. 

• investing  £170m in flood defence and resilience measures 

• doubling of rural business rate relief to 100% from 1 April 2017 

• removing the tax and national insurance advantages of salary sacrifice 
schemes from 2017 and reforming off-payroll working rules in the public 
sector from April 2017. 

Local Government finance report and provisional settlement 2017-18 

3.6 The provisional local government finance settlement for 2017-18 was issued on 
15 December 2016 and sets out the distribution of centrally allocated resources 
for local authorities in England. The final settlement is expected to be issued in 
February 2017. 

3.7 The Settlement outlines the provisional Settlement Funding Assessment – (SFA) 
(comprising Revenue Support Grant and retained business rates income 
(baseline funding)) for local authorities and the impact on the core spending 
power of local authorities (i.e. the aggregate of the SFA, council tax income, New 
Homes Bonus, Better Care Fund funding and rural services delivery grant). 

3.8 Almost all council’s signed up to the offer on the four year settlement.  This does 
provide more certainty of funding and we welcome this.  

3.9 In December 2016 the government published its response to the consultation 
New Homes Bonus: Sharpening the Incentive.  It has been confirmed that the 
number of years for which the bonus is paid will be reduced from six years to five 
years in 2017-18 and then four years from 2018-19.  There will be also be a 
baseline for housing growth, set at 0.4% initially for 2017-18, with the bonus only 
payable for growth above this level.  The government is also considering 
withholding New Homes Bonus from local authorities where it considers that 
planning is not effective in terms of decisions on planning applications and 
delivering new homes.  The changes to the NHB will result in savings which will 
be used to fund a new Adult Social Care Support Grant.  

3.10 The Council tax referendum principles for 2017-18 have also been announced.  
The core principle of a referendum threshold of 2% will continue to apply.  Shire 
district councils will continue to be allowed increases of up to 2% or up to and 
including £5, whichever is higher. Changes have however been made to the adult 
social care precept.  Instead of 2% per year up to 2019-20 as announced in 
2015, social care authorities can introduce the increase sooner, by raising council 
tax by up to 3% in 2017-18 or 2018-19.  The overall limit of 6% in total over three 
years remains. The social care authority for Cumbria is Cumbria County Council. 

Page 38



3.11 The figures included in the local government finance settlement for 2017-18 are 
broadly in line with the indicative figures announced in the four year settlement 
last year.  

3.12 As previously stated Core Spending Power consists of revenue support grant, 
retained business rates, new homes bonus income, council tax income together 
with grants and income from rural services delivery, transition, better care fund 
and adult social care. 

3.13 The government’s figures indicate that Core Spending Power will fall by an 
average of 1.1% in 2017-18, assuming the council tax flexibilities as set out 
above.  The change over the whole Spending Review period is 0.4%. 

3.14 The contribution of settlement funding assessment to core spending power will 
decline in future years as local authorities move towards 100% retention of 
business rates. This reduction in the settlement funding assessment over the 
period 2015-16 to 2019-20, is underpinned by a reduction of £7.8bn (79%) in 
revenue support grant funding. 

3.15 For Allerdale the figures highlight a projected reduction in the Council’s core 
spending power by around 7.4% in cash terms, from £11.49m to £10.64m 
between 2015-16 and 2019-20. This includes a reduction of approximately £2m 
(34%) in the Settlement Funding Assessment offset by a projected increase of 
approximately £0.8m (18%) in council tax income (including base growth and 
levels increasing by CPI) and £0.3m (26%) in the levels of New Homes Bonus 
and Rural Services Delivery Grant. The revenue grant funding element of the 
Council’s Settlement Funding Assessment is expected to fall from £2.523m in 
2015-16 to £0.196m in 2019-20. 

3.16 Despite receiving a ‘flat-cash’ settlement over the next four years, there are still 
very significant challenges ahead for councils who will have to make savings 
sufficient enough to compensate for any additional cost pressures they face. 
These include those arising from general inflation, increases in demand for 
services and increases in core costs such as national insurance, the National 
Living Wage and pension contributions. 

3.17 The maintenance of a broadly flat cash settlement, in the context of significant 
grant reductions, is achieved largely through an assumption that throughout the 
period to 2019-20: 

• councils will take up the option to raise council tax in line with the in line 
with the 2% referendum limit (plus an additional 2% for social care where 
relevant)  

• average annual growth in the council tax base remains consistent with 
the growth achieved by each local authority between 2013-14 and 2016-
17  

• district councils will increase their Band D council tax by whichever is the 
greater of £5 or 2%. 

Page 39



3.18 Going forward the illustrative levels of core spending further assume that levels of 
New Homes Bonus for 2018-19 onwards:  

• will reduce in line with the national totals set at the Spending Review – 
from £1,252m in 2017-18 to £900m in 2019/20  

• the share of the national totals remains consistent with local authority 
shares, before returned funding, in 2017-18. 

 
 
4. Local Government funding - resources available to support the 2017-18 

Revenue Budget 

4.1 The Council’s net revenue budget is funded from: 

• Central Government grants 

• the Business Rate Retention Scheme (non-domestic rates) 

• Council Tax 

• Income from fees and charges 

• Interest and investment income. 

 Government Grants  

4.2 Following introduction of the Business Rate Retention Scheme (BRRS) in April 
2013 central government support for local government (the Settlement Funding 
Assessment) now comprises two main funding streams:  

i. Revenue Support Grant (RSG), and 

ii. amounts funded through the Business Rates Retention scheme (the 
(NNDR) baseline funding level).  

4.3 The Settlement Funding Assessment represents the local authority’s share of 
central government’s local government spending control total. In addition to the 
Settlement Funding Assessment there are also various specific grants 
(sometimes called targeted grants) distributed outside the settlement. The basis 
on which these grants are distributed varies from grant to grant. They include 
non-ringfenced grants, which have no accompanying restrictions on what 
councils can spend the money on, and ring-fenced grants where the expenditure 
is controlled to fund a particular service that is a national priority. 

Revenue Support Grant  

4.4 Revenue Support Grant is a non-ring-fenced central government grant that can 
be used to finance revenue expenditure on any service. The amount of Revenue 
Support Grant to be provided to local authorities is established through the local 
government finance settlement.  

4.5 The Council’s RSG settlement for 2017-18 - included in the Provisional Finance 
Settlement for 2017-18 - is £1.06m. This represents a reduction of £0.639m 
(38%) on the amount (£1.7m) awarded in 2016-17 and a cumulative reduction of 
£3.7m (78%) on the amount received in 2013-14 (£4.8m).  

 

Page 40



 

Table 1: Provisional local government settlement 2017-18 

Settlement Funding 
Assessment 

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Revenue Support Grant 1,700 1,060 652 196 

Baseline funding 3,346 3,414 3,524 3,649 

Total 5,046 4,474 4,176 3,845 

 
Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG) 

4.6  Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG) is an un-ringfenced section 31 grant paid 
by central government to rural authorities in recognition of the extra costs of 
delivering public services in sparsely populated areas. The grant is paid to the 
upper quartile of authorities based on the super-sparsity indicator, a proxy for 
rurality which ranks authorities by the proportion of the population which is 
scattered widely using census data and weighted towards the authorities with the 
sparsest populations.  

4.7 The Authority’s RSDG allocation for 2017/18 is £261,249. Its allocations for 2018-
19 and 2019-20 are £200,961and £261,249 respectively. 

 
Other Government Grants – New Homes Bonus 

4.8 The New Homes Bonus was announced as part of the Comprehensive Spending 
Review in 2010. It match funds the council tax raised on the net number of 
additional new homes and long term empty properties brought back into use and 
is based on data included in the Council Tax Base Return (CTB1) submitted in 
October each year. In two-tier areas the bonus is split 80:20 between the district 
and county councils.  

 
 Table 2: New Homes Bonus Grant 

Year 

Year of Payment (Allerdale Borough Council Share) 

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

1 222 222 222 222 222 

2   469 469 469 469 

3     277 277 277 

4       458 458 

5     178 

Total 322 791 1,068 1,526 1,604 

4.9 The provisional allocations of new homes bonus funding for 2017-18 were 
announced in early December. Final allocations were published alongside the 
final local government finance settlement in February 2017. The Council’s 
allocation of New Homes Bonus grant funding for 2017-18 is £1,603,999. This is 
paid as a non-ring-fenced grant meaning the Council is free to decide how to 
spend it and can spend it on either revenue or capital or place it in reserves.  

Page 41



4.10 Following the consultation on reforms to the New Homes Bonus, issued 
alongside the provisional 2016-17 settlement, the Government has decided to: 

• reduce the number of years for which legacy payments under the bonus 
will be paid from six years to five years in 2017-18 and then four years 
from 2018-19 

• introduce a baseline for housing growth set at an initial baseline of 0.4% of 
the council tax base for 2017-18 with the bonus only payable for growth 
above this level. The Government will also retain the option of making 
adjustments to the baseline in future years in the event of a significant 
increase in housing growth. 

4.11 Compared to the previous methodology for calculating the amount of New 
Homes Bonus receivable these changes will result in a reduction of £198,650 in 
the amount of grant receivable by the Authority in 2017-18. They will also result 
in a reduction in the legacy payments receivable in 2018-19 and 2019-20 of 
£691,317 and £746,448 respectively. We can still expect significant sums over 
the period to 2020-21, however for budget setting purposes, it is not planned to 
rely on any further New Homes Bonus money to support the Council’s general 
expenditure over and above the allocations already secured. For 2017/18 this 
has allowed additional monies totalling £451k to be set aside for the Council’s 
priorites. 

4.12 The government has also announced that from 2018-19 it will consider 
withholding New Homes Bonus from local authorities where it considers that 
planning is not effective in terms of decisions on planning applications and 
delivering new homes. To encourage more effective local planning it will also 
consider withholding payments for homes that are built following an appeal. 

Business rates (non-domestic rates- NNDR)  

4.13   Under the business rates retention scheme, 40% of business rates (NNDR) 
collected is retained by the Council. The remainder is paid to Central 
Government (50%) and Cumbria County Council (10%). The scheme also 
provides that certain sums are to be treated as being outside the scheme and 
retained in their entirety by the Council (or by the Council and the County 
Council).The Council is also able to retain the growth in the local share of 
business rates subject to the payment of a levy to central government designed 
to prevent disproportionate increases in the Council’s funding as a result of 
growth in business rates income. 

4.14  A system of top-up and tariffs ensures the Council’s share of estimated business 
rates income (business rates baseline) does not exceed the level of funding to be 
provided through the business rates retention scheme (baseline funding). Tariffs, 
top-ups and baseline funding levels are indexed each year in line with the small 
business rates multiplier (usually set at the September RPI). The Council’s 
baseline funding for 2017-18 is £3.414m and the amount of tariff payable in 
2016-17 £6.931m.  

4.15 The amount of business rates income available to the general fund and taken 
into account when setting the budget is based on an estimate - made in January 

Page 42



preceding the start of the financial year. This estimate of business rate income, 
reported in the government return NNDR 1, also determines how much the 
Council must pay to central government and the County Council during the 
course of the year. 

4.16 The estimate of business rates income takes into account any projected changes 
in the tax base, estimated losses due to appeals and expected collection rates. 
The amounts paid to the county council and central government and the amount 
retained by the Council are fixed at the outset of each year (based on the 
estimates included in the Council’s NNDR 1return). As a consequence any 
difference between estimated amounts and the final outturn will result in a 
surplus, or deficit on the Council’s Collection Fund. An estimate must therefore 
be made by the Council of the surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund at the end 
of the previous financial year. This estimated amount is then shared between the 
Council, Cumbria County Council and central government and added (or 
subtracted) from each Authorities share of the following year’s non-domestic 
rating income. 

4.17  A summary of the business rate income included in the 2017-18 budget is shown 
in table 3. Technical difficulties nationally with the software update required to 
produce the NNDR 1 has delayed completion of the Council’s NNDR 1 return for 
2017-18. As a consequence, in order to meet the timetable for preparing and 
approving the Council’s revenue budget, it has been necessary to prepare the 
revenue budget using provisional estimates of the Council’s NNDR income. Any 
differences between these estimates and the amounts included in the NNDR 1 
return submitted to will be reported through the Council’s quarterly monitoring 
procedures and revised budget.  

Table 3: Estimated NNDR funding 2017-18  

Funding Element £’000 

Allerdale Share of NNDR Income  11,541 

Net tariff payable to Central Government (6,931) 

Section 31 grant  819 

Levy payable (net of reduction under pool arrangements) (432) 

 4,997 

Release of s31 Flood grant from Earmarked Reserve  230 

 5,227 

Share of estimated collection fund deficit at 31 March 2017 (623) 

Total estimated income from NNDR 4,604 

4.18 As part of the business rates retention scheme, local authorities have the option 
of working with neighbouring authorities to seek formal designation as a pool 
which is treated as a single authority for the purpose of certain calculations under 
the scheme. This provides the opportunity to increase the amount of growth in 
the local share retained locally (through a reduction in the levy rate). Pooling also 
provides scope to manage the impact of volatility in rates income across a wider 
economic area. 

Page 43



4.19 After undertaking appropriate due diligence including modelling the individual 
position alongside the pool position the Authority entered into a formal pooling 
arrangement with Barrow Borough Council, Carlisle City Council, Cumbria 
County Council, Eden District Council and South Lakeland District Council in 
October 2013. The pool commenced on 1st April 2014 and will continue to 
operate in 2017-18. In 2017-18 it is estimated that additional business rates 
income of £353k – that would otherwise have been paid to central government 
through the levy payment – will remain available to the Council’s general fund.  

4.20  In recent Autumn Statements the Government announced various changes to the 
business rates system that will affect the business rates income of local 
authorities. The following changes will affect the Council’s business rates income 
in 2017-18: 

(i) exempting empty new build properties from empty property rates for 18 
months (Autumn Statement 2012) 

(ii) permitting ratepayers receiving Small Business Rate Relief that take on 
an additional property to continue to receive their current relief for 12 
months(Autumn Statement 2013)  

(iii) providing a 50% business rates relief for 18 months for businesses that 
- between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2016 - move into retail premises 
that have been empty for a year or more (Autumn Statement 2013) 

(iv) making permanent the doubling of small business rates relief from 1 
April 2017 and changing eligibility thresholds from 2017-18  

(v) providing discretionary relief of £1,500 in respect of the office space 
occupied by local newspapers 

(vi) doubling rural rate relief; to be awarded through discretionary relief until 
such time as the Government can make the necessary changes to 
primary legislation. 

4.21 The Government has undertaken to compensate local authorities for the loss of 
income they suffer as a result of these changes by means of a grant payment 
under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. Section 31 grant will also be 
payable to compensate authorities for the ongoing loss of business rates as a 
result of the decision to cap the increase in the small business multiplier to 2% in 
each of 2014-15 and 2015-16. 

Council tax  

4.22 Each year the Council must calculate the amount of revenue it needs to raise 
through council tax (the council tax requirement). Calculation of the council tax 
requirement is calculated based on the Authority’s estimates of:  

• the expenditure it will incur in the year less estimates of the income it will 
receive from government grants, business rates and fees and charges  

• allowances required for contingencies in relation to amounts to be 
charged or credited to revenue  

• the financial reserves it will be appropriate to raise in the year for meeting 
its estimated future expenditure, less 

Page 44



• the amount of the financial reserves that will be used in the financial year 
to meet expenditure. 

4.23 The Authority’s council tax requirement must also take into account the amounts 
the Council is required to transfer during the year between its General Fund and 
Collection Fund in respect of its share of any surpluses or deficits on the 
Collection Fund for the previous year in respect of business rates and council tax. 

4.24 The amount of council tax income available to the Council’s general fund in the 
financial year is fixed at the level determined when the council tax is set. This 
amount is paid out of the Council’s Collection Fund regardless of how much 
council tax is actually collected during the year. As a consequence if more 
council tax is collected than expected a surplus on the Collection Fund will arise; 
if less is collected, a deficit will result. Statutory provisions require the surplus or 
deficit on the council tax element of the collection fund for the previous year to be 
estimated on 15th January of that year. The estimated surplus/deficit on the 
Collection Fund is shared out – in accordance with statutory provisions - between 
the Council and the major precepting authorities (Cumbria County Council and 
the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria) in the following year and taken 
into account in the budget calculations for that year.  

4.25  The estimate of the collection fund surplus in respect of council tax at 31 March 
2017, to be distributed in 2017-18, is £1,050,638 of which Allerdale Borough 
Council’s share is £139,050. 

 
Table 4: Allocation of collection fund surplus (council tax) at 31 March 2017 

 
Share of surplus 

£000 

Cumbria County Council 775 

Cumbria Police and Crime Commissioner 136 

Allerdale Borough Council 139 

Total estimated surplus 1,050 

Proposed council tax increase 

4.26 The Council has the ability to set any level of council tax increase. However, 
whilst the Localism Act 2011 abolished Council Tax capping in England it 
introduced, in its place, a power for local electorates to approve or veto excessive 
council tax rises. Since 2012-13 onwards, an authority setting a council tax 
increase which exceeds principles endorsed by the House of Commons 
alongside the local government finance settlement (i.e. which is “excessive”) will 
be required to hold a council tax referendum. The result of a council tax 
referendum is binding.  

4.27  For financial years 2013-14 to 2015-16 a core principle of an increase of 2% or 
more in council tax (the relevant basic amount of council tax plus any levies) 
exclusive of parish precepts was sufficient to trigger a referendum. The threshold 
for 2012-13 was 3.5%. For 2016/17 the threshold level at which council tax 
increases was considered excessive was set at more than 2% or more than £5 

Page 45



greater than the amount of council tax in 2015-16 (whichever is higher). For shire 
district councils the threshold for 2017-18 remains at 2% or up to and including 
£5, whichever is higher. 

4.28 In the 2010 spending round the government announced that it would fund a four 
year council tax freeze to enable local authorities to freeze their council tax over 
the four year period of the spending review (2011-12 to 2014-15) at a rate of 
2.5% in each year of the Spending Review period.  In the Spending Round 2013 
the government announced further council tax freeze grant would be payable to 
support councils that froze or reduced Council Tax in 2014-15 and 2015-16 - the 
grant being equivalent to a 1% increase in council tax. 

4.29 The Council accepted the freeze grant in 2011-12; worth around £114k p.a. for 
each of the four years. However, based on the Council’s assessment of the 
longer term impact on its capacity to raise income through council tax, 
subsequent offers of council tax freeze grant, in four years 2012-13 to 2015-16, 
were declined. Council tax was subsequently increased by 2.9% in 2012-13 and 
1.9% in 2013-14, 2014-15 and 2015-16. Legacy funding for council tax freeze 
grants is now included in the local government settlement totals (revenue support 
grant) for future years. The Finance Settlement 2016-17 included no provision for 
the payment of Council Tax Freeze Grant in 2016-17. 

4.30  In line with expectations the Finance Settlement 2017-18 includes no provision 
for the payment of Council Tax Freeze Grant in 2017-18. The Council therefore 
proposes to increases Council Tax by 1.9%.  

Council tax base  

4.31 After calculating its council tax requirement each local authority then sets its 
basic amount of council tax (band D) at the level necessary to raise this amount, 
taking into account its likely collection rate. The basic amount council tax is 
calculated by reference to the Council’s council tax requirement and its council 
tax base. 

4.32 The council tax base is the number of Band D equivalent dwellings in a local 
authority area. The tax base is therefore an estimate of the taxable capacity for 
the borough as a whole and for each parish area. To calculate the tax the 
number of dwellings in each council tax band is reduced to take account of 
discounts and exemptions. This includes reductions awarded under the Council’s 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme. The resulting figure for each property band is 
then multiplied by its proportion relative to Band D (from 6/9 for Band A to 18/9 
for Band H) and the total across all eight bands is calculated. An adjustment is 
then made for the collection rate. 

4.33  The tax base for 2017-18 has been set at 30,183.13.This represents an increase 
of 2.4% on the 2016-17 tax base of 29,470.69. 

4.34 Council tax raised on behalf of parish and town councils (‘Parish Precepts) are 
 incorporated into the Council’s general fund budget and council tax requirement.  
Details of parish precepts for 2017-18 are set out in Appendix B. 

Page 46



Grant to Parish Councils re Local Support for Council Tax 

4.35  Under the Welfare Reform Act 2012, Council Tax benefit paid to low income 
households was abolished from 1st April 2013. In its place, all Billing Authorities 
were required to put in place a Local Support for Council Tax scheme 
(LSCT),which is a discount scheme (similar to single person discounts but with 
variable rates of discount depending on individual circumstances). The changes 
introduced by the 2012 Act also necessitated amendments to the way in which 
the Council Tax base is calculated. 

4.36 Prior to 2014-15, funding for Council Tax Support schemes was separately 
identifiable in the formula grant settlement. However, since 2014-15 this funding 
has been “rolled up” into the Council’s Revenue Support Grant which has 
subsequently been scaled back and hence the amount of grant available to pass 
onto parishes continues to reduce. 

4.37 DCLG has continued to stress that it is for each local authority to determine how 
the funding to Town and Parish councils is allocated. Whilst there are no plans to 
make the redistribution of these monies compulsory, the Government is 
expecting some funding to be allocated to parishes. As this Authority’s revenue 
budget continues to come under pressure from reductions in Central Government 
funding, the level of redistributed to parishes also needs to be reviewed. 

4.38 The DCLG’s preferred approach to funding local precepting authorities in relation 
to local council tax support schemes is through a voluntary arrangement whereby 
billing and local precepting authorities agree the amount of funding, allocated 
initially to billing authorities, to be passed down to local precepting authorities. 

4.39 In 2016-17 the amount of CTRS grant funding passed to Town and Parish 
Councils was £61,997. In 2016-17 it is proposed that  

• the budget for 2017-18 is set at £41,332; the reduction of £20,665  
mirroring the reduction in the funding receivable by the Council from 
Central Government for 2017-18. 

• the grant to be redistributed is allocated based on the indicative council 
tax discount entitlements included in calculation of the Council’s Council 
Tax Base. 

4.40 The proportionate share of the £41,332 grant allocated to individual Parish and 
Town Councils is summarised in Appendix A to this report. 

4.41 Members are requested to approve the allocation of this grant to Parish 
Councils. The grant will be paid as part of the normal precept funding to Parish 
& Town Councils. 

Page 47



 
5. Determination of the council’s net budget (budget requirement) 

5.1 Preparation of the council’s 2017-18 net revenue budget begins with a roll 
forward of the 2016-17 recurring base budget (£12,213k). This figure is then 
adjusted to accommodate: 

• changes to pension deficit funding payable to the Cumbria Local 
Government Pension Scheme   

• changes to salary costs including the impact of pay awards, incremental 
pay increases and changes to establishment  

• recurring growth and savings; 

• self-sufficiency savings, and 

• non-recurring growth and savings - i.e. those required for the current year 
only.  

5.2 The key the assumptions / parameters that were adopted as part of this budget 
are:- 

• to prioritise delivery of the council plan with a strong emphasis on 
supporting economic growth to support our self-sufficiency plans 

• to continue to identify areas where efficiencies, both cash and non-cash, 
can be identified 

• income from fees and charges will be generated and / or increased in line 
with the charging policy 

• inflation will be added to the base budget in line with our contractual 
commitments based on the relevant measure of inflation   

• the salary budget provision will be calculated based on revised structures 
and will continue to allow for a 2% reduction to account for the fluctuation 
and movement of staff throughout the year; and  

• Council Tax increases to be built into the budget at 1.9% p.a. 

5.3  The Council’s net revenue budget (budget requirement) for 2017-18 is shown in 
table 5.  

Page 48



Table 5: 2017-18 Revenue Budget 

 2017-18 Reference 
 £000  

Base Budget 12,213  

Pension deficit funding (62) 5.7 

Change in salary costs  137 5.8 

Recurring growth 771 5.9/Appendix D 

Recurring savings  (414) 5.10/Appendix D 

Self-sufficiency savings  (738) 5.11 

Recurring (base) budget 11,907  

Non-recurring growth  746 5.14/Appendix E 

Non-recurring savings (65) 5.16/Appendix E 

 12,588  

Expenditure on earmarked priorities  435 Appendix H 

Proposed Budget (excluding parish precepts) 13,023  

Parish precepts  1,914 Appendix B 

Proposed Budget (including parish precepts) 14,937 Appendix C 

Less: Planned use of earmarked balances  (435) Appendix H 

 14,502  

 
5.4 The Council’s net budget requirement is funded as follows: 

Table 6: 2017-18 Revenue Funding  

 2017-18 Paragraph 
 £000  

Revenue support grant 1,060 4.4 

Rural Services Delivery Grant 261 4.6 

Other government grants (New Homes Bonus) 1,604 4.8 

Council tax – including parish element 6,834 4.26 

Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax  139 4.25 

NNDR funding 5,227 4.13 

Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - NNDR (623) 4.13 

Use of /(contribution to) General fund Balances 0  

Total funding 14,502  

 

5.5 The draft net expenditure for 2017-18, excluding parish precepts and spend on 
earmarked priorities (met from the use of earmarked reserves) is £12,588k.  This 
compares with a total of £13,414k for 2016-17 (revised budget).  The reasons for 
the movement between 2016-17 (revised budget) and 2017-18 is summarised in 
Appendix F. 

 

Page 49



5.6 The Revenue Budget for 2017-18 is presented by Executive member portfolio in 
Appendix C. These budget figures are presented prior to the allocation of salary 
and support costs to the appropriate service heads.  

Pension deficit funding - £(62)k  

5.7 The latest triennial actuarial valuation of the Cumbria Local Government Pension 
Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. This sets the Authority’s 
Employers Contribution Rate for the three years beginning 1 April 2017 at 14.5% 
(compared to 12.6% for the three years beginning 1 April 2014). It also 
establishes the Authority’s (employers) deficit funding contributions. The deficit 
funding contribution for 2017-18 is £918,000.  A decrease of £62,200 on the 
contribution of £980,200 paid in 2016-17. The deficit funding contributions 
payable in 2018-19 and 2019-20 are £938,200 and £958,800 respectively. The 
impact of the increase in the employers pension contribution rate i.e. the 
percentage of salary contributed by the Authority, is included in the change in 
salary costs outlined below. 

Change in salary costs - £137k 

5.8 This is the total increase required to cover a number of changes in the salary 
budgets. These changes include the cost of the nationally agreed pay award, the 
cost of annual increments due, changes to staffing structures and the increase in 
employers pension contribution rate following the latest triennial actuarial 
valuation of the Cumbria Local Government Pension Scheme.   

Recurring growth - £771k 

5.9 Details of recurring growth bids included as adjustment to the Councils base 
budget are summarised in table 7: 

Page 50



Table 7: Recurring growth bids 2017-18 

Bid Detail 
Bid 

£000 

Parks & Grounds Maintenance: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary 
increase) 

19 

Street Cleansing: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase)   16 

Domestic Waste: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 24 

Recycling: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 19 

Off-street Car Parks - Owned: Increase in NNDR Costs 56 

Sports & Leisure Centres:  Scheduled reduction in contribution received 
from GLL to compensate the Council for additional revenue financing costs 
associated with improvement works at Cockermouth Sports centre 

108 

The Wave: Increase in contribution to joint fund as per Management 
Agreement 

17 

Corporate Property: Increase in NNDR costs following revaluation exercise 15 

Banking & Interest: Increase in PWLB interest costs to reflect full year 
impact of additional borrowing expected to be drawn down in 2016-17 and 
the cost of additional borrowing expected to be drawn down in 2017-18.  

27 

Minimum Revenue Provision: Increase in MRP charge associated with 
unfinanced capital expenditure incurred prior to 1 April 2017 

31 

Insurances: Retendering of insurance cover and anticipated increase in 
associated policy costs 

39 

Apprenticeship Levy: introduction of statutory levy from April 2017 18 

IT Services: Annual cost of procuring CHECK accredited services to conduct 
internal and external vulnerability and penetrating testing of the Council’s 
network to ensure compliance with Central Government PSN Code of 
Connection security requirements 

10 

Revenues:  Reduction in Court costs income (Council tax and NNDR 
summonses) 

25 

Economic Development & Tourism Pay Group: Creation of Special 
Initiatives Officer post  

53 

Parks & Grounds Maintenance: first year of two year grant to Workington 
Town Council for Vulcans Park (£20,710 in year 2) 

41 

Tenanted properties: increase in maintenance and NNDR costs relating to 
tenanted properties 

15 

Economic Regeneration: Budget to support specific activity listed in the 
Action Plan and facilitate activity planned by others 

20 

Tourism & Heritage Development:  Additional budget to support delivery of 
the tourism element of the Business Growth Plan and Heritage Strategy 

50 

Reducing Poverty: Operational budget to accompany community officer 
post 

50 

Estates: Funding to undertake the development of (capital) schemes 25 

Revenues & Benefits: Reduction in Admin Support Grant 62 

Total of service bids with an individual value <10k   31 

Total recurring growth bids 771 

Page 51



 

Recurring savings – (£414k) 

5.10 Details of recurring savings bids included as adjustment to the Council’s base 
budget are summarised below: 

Table 8: Recurring savings bids 2017-18 

Bid Detail 
Bid 

£000 

Land Charges: Increase in income due to changes in the volume of search 
requests 

(20) 

Shared Revenues & Benefits: Reduction in operating costs following 
cessation of Shared Revenues and Benefits Service  

(90) 

Bereavement Services: Additional Income due to increase in fees and 
charges plus income due following a change in the legal requirements for 
statutory declarations 

(29) 

Asset Management: Transfer/closure of public toilets (20) 

Carnegie Trust: Agreed reduction in subsidy awarded  (15) 

The Wave: Increase in income following changes to layout   (20) 

HR: Reduction in training budget  (15) 

Camping & Caravan:  Adjustment to bring income in line with 3 year 
average 

(50) 

Recycling: Reduction in costs of purple bag recycling scheme following 
transfer to re-usable containers. (Part year roll out) 

(25) 

Domestic Waste: Increase in bulky waste income from fees and charge 
uplift. 

(13) 

Trade Waste: Additional commercial waste income associated with an 
increase in fees and charges and the re-introduction of charges for 
collection & processing of co-mingled recyclates 

(50) 

Parish Councils: Reduction in Council Tax Reduction Scheme grant  (21) 

Total of service bids with an individual value <10k   (46) 

Total recurring savings bids (414) 

 
Self - sufficiency savings (£738k) 

5.11 The 2017-18 budget is set within the context of the Council’s Medium-Term 
Financial Plan (see Appendix I). This shows that, in order for the Council to 
remain financially sustainable and continue to meet its statutory obligation to 
deliver a balanced budget it will need to address a funding deficit of over £3m 
over the period 2017-18 to 2019-20. These savings are in addition to delivering 
the Council’s existing programme of self-sufficiency savings. 

5.12 The Council’s self- sufficiency programme includes the delivery of targeted 
reductions (recurring savings) in the Councils base budget of £738k in 2017-18 
(summarised in Table 9 below) and a further £706k in 2018-19. 

 
 

Page 52



 

Table 9: 2017-18 Self Sufficiency Savings Target 

Service 
2017-18 2018-19 

£000 £000 

Economic Growth 

Economic Development Initiatives  (250) 

Tenanted Properties  (65)  

    

Operational Efficiencies 

Corporate Management (10) (10) 

IT Services (40) (30) 

Planning and Development (3) (20) 

Parks and Grounds Maintenance (42) 0 

Domestic Waste (50) 0 

Town and parish transfers 0 (50)  

   

Service Delivery   

Off-street - Owned (75) 0 

Sports & Leisure Centres (103) (75) 

Corporate & Service Reviews (350) (71) 

    

Total revenue savings (738) (506) 

Financing  

Increase business rates and C-tax base - (200) 

     

Total self-sufficiency savings (738) (706) 

Non-recurring growth/savings 

5.13 There are a number of bids that are non-recurring, i.e. they are required for one 
year only. These are detailed below: 

Non-recurring growth - £746k 

5.14  Details of non-recurring growth bids included in the Council’s net budget 
requirement are: 

Page 53



Table 10: Non-Recurring growth bids 2017-18 

Bid Detail 
Bid 

£000 

Legal Services: External legal support costs for potential appeals, judicial 
reviews, contract reviews and agreements. 

75 

IT Services: Next Generation Development & Health & Housing Services 
Solution 

125 

Asset Management: Contribution to repair works at Cockermouth Market 
Place  

30 

Supporting Leisure Activities: Financial contribution to Wigton Pool Trust 15 

Shop Front Improvements: Expansion of existing Shop Front Improvement 
Scheme 

50 

Corporate priorities: Budget provision to support the Council’s priority of 
reducing poverty and tackling inequality 

451 

Total non-recurring growth bids 746 

5.15 The Council holds a central contingency budget for unquantifiable risks. The 
contingency balance held for the 2017-18 is £111,780 (see Appendix C). 

 
Non- recurring savings - (£65k) 

5.16  Details of non-recurring saving bids included in the Councils net budget 
requirement are summarised in table 11. 

Table 11: Non-recurring savings bids 2017-18 

Bid Detail 
Bid 

£000 

Universal credit: Non-recurring DWP grant income to support 
implementation of universal credit less additional costs associated with 
obtaining  external advice  

(60) 

Total of service bids with an individual value <10k   (5) 

Total non-recurring savings bids (65) 

 

 
6. Capital budget  

6.1 Capital expenditure includes the acquisition and construction of non-current 
assets, such as land and buildings, which have a useful life in excess of 12 
months as well as expenditure on additions to or enhancement of existing non-
current assets. It also includes items such as grants towards capital expenditure 
incurred by third parties (for example Disabled Facilities Grants).  

6.2 The following paragraphs set out the Council’s proposed capital programme for 
2017-18 and subsequent years together with a summary of how this expenditure 
will be financed.  

Page 54



6.3 Capital expenditure may also impact on the Council’s revenue budget. Where 
this is the case the revenue implications of capital expenditure are dealt with as 
part of the Revenue Budget Process. Revenue implications of capital expenditure 
include: 

• increases/decreases in operating costs, e.g. heating & lighting, staff costs 
or increased income from new or enhanced assets. 

• for expenditure not financed up front from capital receipts, grants or 
contributions from revenue - the Minimum Revenue Provision, which is an 
annual amount the Council is required to be set aside from the General 
Fund to meet the capital cost of expenditure funded by borrowing or credit 
arrangements.  

• increased finance costs either by way of interest on borrowing or the loss 
of income on investment balances used to fund capital expenditure. 

 
Financing the capital programme  

6.4 Resources available to finance capital expenditure include: 

• Capital receipts (usable proceeds from asset sales) 

• Grants and contributions from third parties 

• Direct financing from revenue.  

6.5 Capital expenditure that is not financed up-front from these resources will 
increase the Council’s underlying need to borrow, as measured by the capital 
financing requirement (CFR). The Council’s underlying borrowing is not 
necessarily the same as its actual borrowing position. The level of external debt 
will be determined in accordance with the Council’s treasury management 
strategy and practices. As a consequence an increase in the Council’s underlying 
borrowing position will not necessarily mean a corresponding increase in the 
amount of external borrowing. 

6.6   Capital receipts and grants received to date together with (capital) grant funding  
allocations for 2017-18 have been fully committed to support the Council’ s 
capital programme.  

6.7  Statutory provisions set out the purposes to which the Council can apply its 
available capital receipts. The uses specified in regulations are: 

• to meet capital expenditure in the current year 

• to reduce the underlying borrowing requirement associated with capital 
expenditure not financed from capital receipts, grants or revenue  

• to pay a premium charged in relation to any amount borrowed 

• to meet the administrative costs of or incidental to a disposal of an asset. 

6.8 In accordance with the Codes of Practice published by the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy and good professional practice capital receipts 
received in 2017-18 and subsequent years will only applied to fund new (capital) 
priorities where – after carrying out option appraisals and whole life costings - it 

Page 55



can be demonstrated that this offers better value for money to the Council when 
compared with alternative uses. Alternative uses include their use to meet 
existing capital commitments in order to reduce:  

• the Council’s existing borrowing requirement and  

• the impact of this (borrowing) on the Council’s revenue budget. 

 Proposed capital programme 

6.9  The proposed capital programme covering 2017-18 and subsequent years is 
summarised in table 12.  

 

Table 12: Proposed Capital Programme & methods of financing 

 

Proposed Budget  

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Gross expenditure1 :     

Housing, Health & Wellbeing 985 2,050 2,050 5,085 

Tourism & Culture 304 1,525 - 1,829 

Localities & Environmental Quality 322 - - 322 

Transformation 140 140 140 420 

Economic Growth 7,650 4,000 - 11,650 

Total Expenditure 9,401 7,715 2,190 19,306 

Financed by     

External funding sources:     

Disabled Facilities Grant (Better Care Fund)   975 1,000 1,000 2,975 

SCP Housing grant 10 50 13 73 

ERDF grant 1,020 - - 1,020 

LEP Growth Deal funding 5,000   5,000 

Coastal Communities Fund grant 304 1,425  1,729 

Other grants and contributions  117 - - 117 

ABC resources:     

General Fund - - - - 

Earmarked Reserves    - - - - 

Capital Receipts - - - - 

Unfinanced expenditure (borrowing) 1,975 5,240 1,177 8,392 

Total financing 9,401 7,715 2,190 19,306 

1  
Gross expenditure

 
does not include any proposed budget carry forwards from the approved 2016-17 capital 

programme; these requests will form part of the Capital Outturn Report. 

Page 56



6.10 The proposed programme for the three year period to March 2020 comprises: 

• capital expenditure bids submitted for approval covering gross 
expenditure of £6,353k in 2017/18, £5,715k in 2018-19 and £140k in 
2019/20  

• previously approved expenditure for the three years to March 2020 
included in the Council’s 2016-17 revised capital budget (£3,147k in 
2017-18, £2m in 2018-19 and £2m in 2019-20)  

• re-profiling adjustments to the existing expenditure plans (£-100k in 
2017-18 and £50k in both 2018-19 and 2019-20.  

6.11 A reconciliation of the proposed 2017-18 capital budget to the revised 2016-17 
capital budget is included in Appendix G 

6.12 Capital Expenditure in 2017/18 will be financed, in part from capital grants and 
contributions of £7,426k (£10,914k for the three year period 2017-18 to 2019-20). 
The remaining expenditure is unfinanced and will be funded from borrowing.  

6.13 Unfinanced expenditure, that is, capital expenditure not financed from grants, 
revenue contributions or capital receipts will be funded from borrowing. 
Unfinanced expenditure totals £1.975m in 2017-18, £5.240m in 2018-19 and 
£1.18m in 2019-20. The revenue implications of this unfinanced expenditure 
including the amounts chargeable to the general fund in respect of the associated 
minimum revenue provision and interest costs on additional external loans is 
included in the revenue budgets for 2017-18 and subsequent years.  

6.14 Details of the schemes included in the proposed three year capital programme 
2017-18 to 2019-20 are set out in the following paragraphs.  

Housing, Health & Wellbeing Portfolio 

6.15 Proposed schemes within the Housing, Health & Wellbeing Portfolio are 
summarised in table 13. 

Table 13 Capital schemes within the Housing, Health & Wellbeing Portfolio  

 
2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

£000 £000 £000 

DFG Funding - Mandatory Grants  750 750 750 

DFG Funding - Discretionary Grants 225 250 250 

Healthy Homes 0 1,000 1,000 

Securing Affordable Homes 10 50 50 

Portfolio total 985 2,050 2,050 

 
Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) 

6.16 This involves grant support provided by the Authority to cover the cost of housing 
adaptations to enable people to stay living in their own home for longer. The 
Authority has a statutory duty to provide adaptations to the homes of disabled 
people who qualify for a mandatory DFG. 

Page 57



6.17 Expenditure on DFGs is funded from an annual grant paid to upper-tier 
authorities as part of the Better Care Funding allocations and cascaded to district 
councils responsible for providing DFGs. Pending clarification of the Authority’s 
grant funding allocation for 2017-18, the estimated grant income for 2017-18 and 
the following two years is based on the 2016-17 allocation of £950k. In addition 
there remains an unspent balance of previous allocations of £125k. This will 
enable the expenditure budget for mandatory and discretionary grants during the 
three years 2017-18 to 2019-20 to be fully funded from expected grant income. 
 
Healthy Homes 

6.18 The Healthy Homes scheme is aimed at securing improvements to sub-standard 
homes on an individual, block or area basis. The 2016-17 capital budget included 
an allocation of £200k to support the introduction of a Home Improvement 
programme and extend the existing grant scheme to install central heating 
systems in homes that currently have no heating. This was accompanied by a 
budget of £1m in each of the three subsequent years (2017-18 to 2019-20). 

6.19 The previous budget allocation of £1m for 2017-18 is no longer required. In the 
short term an expected carry forward of unspent budget from 2016/17 (£100k) 
will provide sufficient budget to allow this programme to continue. This reduction 
in budget is underpinned by a refocussing of activity towards the delivery of 
additional schemes through the DFG budget. It also reflects the additional activity 
associated with the delivery of schemes necessary to securing the Council’s 
recently announced funding allocation from the Community Housing Fund. This 
includes an allocation of £772k in 2016-17 to support community-led affordable 
housing developments in areas where the impact of second homes is particularly 
acute. 

Securing Affordable Homes 

6.20 As part of the 2016-17 capital programme a budget of £50k was approved for 
2016-17 and each of the three subsequent  years. This budget was targeted at 
providing grant support to assist registered housing providers to improve housing 
stock in high need areas, which would otherwise be sold.  

6.21 It was anticipated that there would be 5 grants provided each year based on prior 
experience.  However the Council has received fewer requests for disposals 
during 2016/17 than in previous financial years. As a result £40k of the 2016-17 
budget is expected to remain unspent.  

6.22 It is proposed that the previously agreed budget for 2017/18 of £50k is reduced 
by £40k to £10k. Combined with the expected carry-forward of the unspent 
portion of the 2016-17 budget this will bring the total available budget for 2017-18 
to £50k for 2017-18 to allow the scheme to continue as originally planned (to 
support 5 properties per year. Expenditure on this scheme over the three year 
period is 2017-18 to 2019-20 is funded from grants (£97,332) and borrowing 
(£12,668). 

Page 58



Tourism & Culture Portfolio 

6.23 Table 14 sets out proposed schemes within the Tourism & Culture Portfolio.  
 
Table 14 Capital schemes within the Tourism & Culture Portfolio  

 
2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

£000 £000 £000 

AONB Solway coast multi-user pathway 304 1,425 - 

Kirkgate Centre Contribution - 100 - 

Portfolio total 304 1,525 - 

 
AONB Solway coast multi-user pathway 

6.24 This scheme relates to the creation of a multi-user coastal pathway linking 
Silloth-on-Solway and the West Cumbria Cycle network and the Hadrian’s cycle 
route.  It involves the construction of a 12km path passing through the Solway 
Coast Area of Outstanding natural Beauty and the Hadrian’s Wall World Heritage 
Site. It will also see the improvement of visitor facilities such as car parks, 
signage and interpretation along the route. Implementation of the project is 
subject to the outcome of a bid to the Coastal Communities Fund (CCF). This 
was submitted in December 2016 and if successful will provide grant income 
finance the scheme and associated revenue costs, in full.  
 
Kirkgate Centre Contribution 
 

6.25  The proposed budget of £100k will enable the Council to make a capital 
contribution to support the financing of a project to renovate and extend the 
facilities at the Kirkgate Arts and Heritage Centre, Cockermouth. The Council’s 
contribution is subject the outcome of a bid made to the Heritage Lottery Fund by 
the charitable body responsible for running the centre. This expenditure will be 
met from borrowing. 
 
Localities & Environmental Quality Portfolio 

6.26 Proposed schemes within the Localities & Environmental Quality Portfolio are 
summarised in table 15. 

 
Table 15: Schemes within the Localities & Environmental Quality Portfolio 

 
2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

£000 £000 £000 

Workington Hall Repair Scheme 50 - - 

Fleming Square (Maryport) - restoration works 30 - - 

Harrington reservoir restoration  167 - - 

Public Toilet Review 75 - - 

Portfolio total 322 - - 

 

 

Page 59



Workington Hall Repair Scheme 

6.27 Following further deterioration to Workington Hall works are required to remove 
tree growth from walls and ensure progression towards eventual removal of the 
building from the at risk register. Expenditure on this scheme is unfinanced and 
will be met from borrowing. 

Fleming Square (Maryport) - restoration works 

6.28 A budget of £30k will allow the Authority to make a contribution towards public 
realm enhancement works at Fleming Square, Maryport. This scheme has been 
identified through consultation with the local community and external funding will 
be targeted to increase this budget and the overall value of the scheme. The 
£30k contribution from Allerdale is considered an appropriate level of funding to 
make a meaningful impact in the area. The Council’s contribution towards this 
scheme will be funded from borrowing. 

Harrington Reservoir Restoration 

6.29 A budget of £167k is required for a restoration project on Harrington Reservoir 
Local Nature Reserve which is a key target of the Workington Nature 
Partnership. The budget will require a contribution of £50k from Allerdale 
Borough Council and external funding is being targeted for the remaining £117k. 
£30K of this external funding has already been confirmed and work is on-going to 
ensure the remaining balance can be secured. Expenditure on this scheme is 
unfinanced and will be met from borrowing. 

Public Toilet Review 

6.30 A budget of £150k was approved, in 2016/17 for capital investment in public 
conveniences as part of the Council’s review of the provision of those facilities. 
Half of this budget (£75k) has now been used during 2016-17. It is proposed that 
remaining balance of £75k will be carried forward to 2017-18 and supplemented 
with an additional bid of £75k bringing the budget up to a total of £150k and allow 
the scheme to continue. Expenditure on this scheme will be met from borrowing. 
 

6.31  Table 16 summarise details of proposed schemes within the Transformation 
Portfolio. 

 
Table 16: Schemes within the Transformation Portfolio 

 
2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

£000 £000 £000 

ICT Equipment  40 40 40 

Flood resilience  100 100 100 

Portfolio total 140 140 140 

ICT Equipment  

6.32 With an increasing reliance on data and cloud based services it is imperative that 
staff have the appropriate equipment to be able to access information and 
systems quickly and efficiently. A recurring capital budget of £40k per annum is 

Page 60



required to upgrade and replace desktop computers, laptops and tablets on a 
rolling program. The programme will replace 25% of equipment annually, and 
will ensure staff are working on equipment compatible with the latest software. 
Expenditure on this scheme is unfinanced and will be funded from borrowing. 

Flood Resilience  

6.33 The proposed annual budget of £100k over the three years of the proposed 
capital programme is aimed at supporting a range of small and medium sized 
projects in the borough that can demonstrate a clear link to reducing the risk of 
flooding in the future. These will be community based schemes supported by 
local flood action groups and medium sized schemes in partnership with the EA 
and other partners. Expenditure on this scheme is unfinanced and will be funded 
from borrowing. 

6.34 Capital schemes within the Economic Growth Portfolio are summarised in table 
17. 
 
Table 17: Schemes within the Economic Growth Portfolio 

 
2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

£000 £000 £000 

Strategic Acquisitions 950 - - 

Lillyhall – Industrial Development 5,000 4,000 - 

Reedlands Road – Industrial Development 1,700 - - 

Portfolio total 7,650 4,000 - 

Strategic Acquisitions 

6.35 A budget of £950k was approved as part of the 2016/17 budget for the 
acquisition and redevelopment of commercial properties. The Estates team are 
currently working on a number of potential schemes and it is proposed that this 
budget, funded from borrowing, remains in place to allow this work to continue. 

Lillyhall - Development 

6.36 The 2016/17 capital programme includes a budget of £1.1m for the acquisition of 
undeveloped portions of the Lillyhall site from the Homes and Communities 
Agency (HCA). The proposed budget of £9m will, subject to its acquisition from 
the HCA, permit the Council to undertake development of the site as the premier 
employment site for West Cumbria and to support invest to save projects  

6.37 The site is suitable for a number of industrial and commercial uses and has been 
identified as being of strategic importance to future economic growth within the 
borough. A number of development options are currently under consideration and 
any decision to proceed with these options is subject to completion of full a 
business case and financial appraisal.  

6.38 The proposed budget of £5m for 2017/18 is subject to an application for external 
grant funding from the Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) Growth Deal. 
The proposed budget allocation for 2017/18 will be used to support the 
development of Lillyhall North. Further expenditure of £4m (unconnected with the 

Page 61



Council’s LEP funding bid) has been allocated to 2018/19 to allow development 
work to continue across the site. This expenditure will be met from borrowing.  

Reedlands Road - Industrial Development 

6.39 The proposed budget of £1.7m relates to an invest to save project involving the 
development of additional industrial units on land, owned by Allerdale Borough 
Council, at Reedlands Road, Workington. These additional properties will allow 
the Authority to secure additional revenue income whilst supporting business in 
the area.  

6.40 The estimated cost of this development is £1.7m and any decision to proceed 
remains subject to final costings and financial appraisal.  External funding 
(ERDF) is being sought for 60% of this cost (£1.020m) from the allocation of £2m 
made to Cumbria to enhance the competitiveness of small and medium sized 
enterprises. The outcome of the Council’s grant funding bid is expected to be 
known later in 2017-18. The balance of expenditure (£680k) will be met from 
borrowing.  

 

7. Budget Assurance statement from the Chief Financial Officer 

7.1 Section 25 of the local Government Act 2003 places a duty on the chief financial 
officer (Head of Financial Services) to make a report to the Council on the 
robustness of budget estimates and the adequacy of the Council’s reserves.  The 
Council must have regard to this report when making its decisions about budgets 
and council tax for the forthcoming year.  This is because the Council is setting 
the council tax before the commencement of the year and cannot increase it 
during the year.   It is therefore important that there is an understanding of the 
risks of increased expenditure or reduced income during the year. 

Robustness of Estimates 

7.2 The budget estimates for 2017-18 have been prepared by appropriately qualified 
and experienced staff in consultation with the service managers.  All the budgets 
have been scrutinised by the Corporate Leadership Team with the relevant 
Portfolio Holder and the whole process has been properly managed by the 
Senior Management Team. 

7.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has also reviewed the budget process 
and the draft budget position at their meetings on the 9th December 2016 and the 
13th and 27th January 2017. 

7.4 Budgets for staff pay in 2017/18 allow for incremental progression and for a pay 
award of 1%.  The budgets include a 2% reduction for staff turnover and make 
allowance for the planned changes to NI.  Contractual inflation has been built in, 
but in order to drive further efficiencies no other inflation has been provided for on 
expenditure. 

7.5 Income levels have been subject to regular review at the Commercial Board and 
prudent estimates have been made.  Fees and charges have been increased for 

Page 62



inflation where appropriate and volatile budgets will continue to be closely 
monitored. 

7.6 The advice of the Council’s treasury management advisers has been taken into 
account in determining investment income and borrowing costs.  Again, this area 
will be closely monitored. 

7.7 The Council has identified its key corporate risks.  As a consequence of the 
localisation of business rates and the proposed move to 100% retention the 
Council has an increased risk of retaining adequate reserves to meet unforeseen 
circumstances.  Additional monitoring has been put in place to ensure early 
recognition of additional losses. 

7.8 Reductions in our government grant have continued.  Our self-sufficiency plans 
have worked well to date in helping us to deal with the funding challenges and to 
reduce our recurring base budget.  We now know that by 2019-20 we will be 
wholly reliant on Council Tax and locally retained Business Rates.  

7.9 This means that we will need to focus on Growth to ensure that we are a self-
funded Council with additional income streams from investments and selling 
services  

Adequacy of Reserves 

7.10 In the current climate it is essential that the Council maintains reserves to deal 
with the unexpected, such as continued spending pressures or further reductions 
in income. 

7.11 The Council’s financial strategy has been to maintain the strength of the balance 
sheet to provide resilience in the challenging financial environment, whilst 
reducing the recurring net cost base. 

7.12 The Executive has previously agreed to deploy balances to meet priorities and 
this budget continues to ensure funds are set aside for these and to focus on 
creating economic growth and development. This spend has been taken into 
consideration when looking at the adequacy of general fund balances. 

7.13 Given the increased level of financial risks due to the localisation of business 
rates, then there is a case for retaining higher levels of balances.  The current 
minimum level of balances of £2.7 million is still therefore considered to be 
prudent.  

7.14  A summary of the Council’s expected general fund reserves remaining available 
at 1 April 2017 is shown in table 18. 

Page 63



 

Table 18: Estimated General Fund balances  

  
2016-171 

£000   

2017-18 

£000 

2018-19 

£000 

2019-20 

£000 

Opening Balance at 1 April 5,070 3,801 3,801 3,278 

Add: transfer (to)/from Earmarked Reserves  124 0 0 0 

Less: Use to finance 2016/17 Capital 
Programme (including carry-forwards) 

(1,195) 0 0 0 

Less: budgeted use of GF to support 2016-
17 Revenue Budget 

(198) 0 0 0 

Less: Use of GF to fund Revenue Budget  0 0 0 

Less: Use to fund Capital Budget  0 0 0 

Less: Projected Revenue Deficit 2  0 523 1,925 

Projected Balance at 31 March  3,801 3,801 3,278 1,353 

Retained - Minimum Balance (2,700) (2,700) (2,700) (2,700) 

Available for use 1,101 1,101 578 (1,347) 

 1 
Based on revised 2016/17 budget;

    2 
net of

 
planned transfers to Earmarked Reserves  

7.15 In addition to general fund balances the Council also holds Earmarked Reserves 
balances. These have largely been created from under spends and additional 
income received in previous years and have been set aside for specific 
purposes. They include a balance of £723k set aside to provide protection 
against the potential volatility of NNDR income under the business rates retention 
scheme. 

7.16 These reserves are reviewed on a monthly basis to ensure they are applied in 
line with corporate priorities. A detailed breakdown of the remaining earmarked 
reserves is included at Appendix H. 

 
 
8. Conclusions  

8.1 The proposed total revenue expenditure for 2017-18 including Parish precepts is 
£14,937k. This includes expenditure of £435k that will be funded from earmarked 
reserves. This results in a net budget requirement of £14,502k. 

8.2 The proposed capital budget will be £19,306k comprising expenditure of £9,401k 
in 2017-18, £7,715k in 2018-19 and £2,190k in 2019-20. It is proposed that this is 
financed from the following resources: 

• Grants and contributions ….…£10,914k 

• Borrowing…………….…………..£8,392k 

8.3 The Council has seen unprecedented reductions in Government funding since 
the Comprehensive Spending Review 2010.  In addition service pressures and 
increased demand for some services has meant that the Council has had to 
make significant budget savings. 

Page 64



8.4 In order to strengthen or financial position we recognise that we will have to 
consider other ways to generate income and be self-sufficient.  This will include 
changes in local taxation, fees and charges and trading activities as well as 
supporting and prioritising economic growth within the Borough. 

8.5 The Council has responded in a systematic and planned way and we will 
continue with this strategy.   In order to avoid cuts to frontline services we will 
explore alternative service delivery options to ensure that we continue to be fit for 
purpose. 

8.6 Our future focus will be on economic growth as we recognise that investment in 
growth supports both our residents and businesses. 

  
 
 

Catherine Nicholson 
 

Head of Financial Services 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Appendices  

Appendix A  Council tax support for parishes  

Appendix B Parish precepts  

Appendix C Budget analysed by portfolio  

Appendix D 2017-18 recurring growth & savings bids – summary by portfolio.  

Appendix E 2017-18 non-recurring growth & savings bids – summary by portfolio.  

Appendix F Movement in revenue budget 2016-17 to 2017-18.  

Appendix G Reconciliation of 2017-18 capital budget to revised 2016-17 capital budget  

Appendix H Summary of Earmarked Reserves by portfolio  

Appendix I Medium Term Financial Plan  

Appendix J Summary of Consultation responses  
 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 66



Appendix A

Council Tax Support for Parishes

Parish
Council Tax

Support
Grant

Parish
Council Tax

Support
Grant

£ £
Above Derwent 224.68 Greysouthen 135.08
Aikton 43.20 Hayton & Mealo 82.83
Allerby & Oughterside 274.01 Holme Abbey 299.45
Allhallows 176.72 Holme East Waver 33.22
Allonby 223.76 Holme Low 125.38
Aspatria 1,644.77 Holme St Cuthbert 64.98
Bassenthwaite 58.66 Ireby & Uldale 51.25
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 0.00 Keswick 1,878.69
Blennerhassett & Torpenhow 106.99 Kirkbampton 57.47
Blindbothel 0.00 Kirkbride 159.15
Blindcrake 63.61 Little Clifton 184.50
Boltons 141.49 Lorton 54.91
Borrowdale 19.86 Loweswater 45.12
Bothel & Threapland 131.42 Maryport 7,357.19
Bowness on Solway 244.90 Papcastle 60.22
Bridekirk 71.02 Plumbland 99.66
Brigham 238.13 Seaton 1,312.74
Bromfield 98.02 Sebergham 44.30
Broughton 609.42 Setmurthy 15.46
Broughton Moor 323.34 Silloth-on-Solway 1,478.40
Buttermere 3.02 St Johns,Castlerigg & Wythburn 78.98
Caldbeck 88.31 Thursby 331.11
Camerton 55.37 Underskiddaw 47.50
Cockermouth 2,745.65 Waverton 72.66
Crosscanonby 385.02 Westnewton 45.12
Dean 143.59 Westward 72.48
Dearham 764.27 Wigton 2,389.46
Dundraw 46.68 Winscales 54.82
Embleton 25.26 Woodside 82.74
Gilcrux 52.17 Workington 14,920.57
Great Clifton 692.80 Wythop 0.00

Total 41,331.59

Page 67



Appendix B

Parish Precepts 2017-18

Parish Precept Parish Precept

£ £
Above Derwent 25,468.24 Holme Abbey 12,270.80 *
Aikton 4,556.80 Holme East Waver 6,500.00
Allerby & Oughterside 10,161.99 Holme Low 1,874.62
Allhallows 9,023.28 Holme St Cuthbert 4,935.02
Allonby 10,000.00 Ireby & Uldale 6,388.75
Aspatria 61,355.23 Keswick 219,051.31
Bassenthwaite 7,350.00 Kirkbampton 7,500.00
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 0.00 Kirkbride 9,700.00
Blennerhassett& Torpenhow 9,393.01 Little Clifton 5,315.50
Blindbothel 3,400.00 Lorton 5,445.09
Blindcrake 6,236.39 Loweswater 2,404.88
Boltons 4,858.51 Maryport 191,165.41
Borrowdale 6,895.00 Papcastle 9,259.78
Bothel & Threapland 5,368.58 Plumbland 5,000.00
Bowness on Solway 18,784.00 Seaton 53,188.61
Bridekirk 6,341.00 * Sebergham 4,800.00
Brigham 9,760.87 Setmurthy 560.52
Bromfield 5,901.80 Silloth-on-Solway 170,912.00
Broughton 14,765.00 St Johns,Castlerigg & Wythburn 7,351.89
Broughton Moor 15,876.66 Thursby 21,738.33
Buttermere 1,396.98 Underskiddaw 5,547.50
Caldbeck 11,811.69 Waverton 2,111.34
Camerton 1,500.00 Westnewton 4,873.79
Cockermouth 190,418.00 Westward 6,427.52
Crosscanonby 12,139.98 Wigton 166,180.54
Dean 14,156.41 Winscales 2,945.18
Dearham 27,735.23 Woodside 4,628.26
Dundraw 1,703.32 Workington 439,030.00
Embleton 4,651.29 Wythop 989.18
Gilcrux 8,547.83
Great Clifton 10,000.00
Greysouthen 11,864.92
Hayton & Mealo 4,017.17

Total 1,913,535.00

Change in Precept

   Precept 2016-17 1,797,392     Precept 2017-18 1,913,535
   % Change in Precept 6.46%

* estimated 

Page 68



SUMMARY OF BUDGET BY PORTFOLIO

Portfolio

Net

2017/18 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring Salary
Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings One-off Growth One-off

Savings

Reserve
Funded

Projects 

Proposed
Budget

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

REVENUE
Corporate Resources 5,844,667 (350,000) (40,050) 143,170 (44,310) 75,000 0 0 5,628,477
Economic Growth (713,640) (3,250) 44,080 112,500 (50,000) 531,000 0 0 (79,310)
Housing, Health & Well-being 1,043,700 0 34,630 50,000 0 15,000 (4,310) 0 1,139,020
Leader of the Council 455,430 (10,000) (80,650) 0 (3,340) 0 (1,000) 0 360,440
Locality & Environmental Quality 3,449,150 (334,280) 70,740 305,380 (143,380) 0 0 0 3,347,610
Regulatory Services 389,700 0 25,070 100,050 (139,170) 0 (60,000) 0 315,650
Tourism & Culture 292,340 0 260 50,000 (15,000) 0 0 0 327,600
Transformation 1,452,179 (40,000) 20,320 10,000 (18,989) 125,000 0 0 1,548,510

Revenue Sub Total 12,213,526 (737,530) 74,400 771,100 (414,189) 746,000 (65,310) 0 12,587,997

Parish Precepts 1,913,535 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,913,535

Total Revenue 14,127,061 (737,530) 74,400 771,100 (414,189) 746,000 (65,310) 0 14,501,532

RESERVE  FUNDED PROJECTS
Corporate Resources 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 175,304 175,304
Economic Growth 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 90,746 90,746
Housing, Health & Well being 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Leader of the Council 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,000 20,000
Locality & Commercial Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 51,163 51,163
Regulatory Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 48,585 48,585
Tourism & Culture 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,000 10,000
Transformation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 39,000 39,000

Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 434,798 434,798

Total 14,127,061 (737,530) 74,400 771,100 (414,189) 746,000 (65,310) 434,798 14,936,330

A
ppendix C

P
age 69



PORTFOLIO : CORPORATE RESOURCES

Description 2017/18 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded

Projects 

Proposed
Budget

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
REVENUE
Training 70,450 0 0 0 (15,000) 0 0 0 55,450
Corporate Recruitment 13,350 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,350
Pensions 164,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 164,000
Mayoral Services 13,570 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,570
Mayor's Fund 3,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,250
Members Services 270,300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 270,300
Leaders Services 30,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30,000
Electoral Registration 60,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 60,000
Elections 42,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 42,500
Corporate Advertising Statutory 1,550 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,550
Corporate Property Maintenance 547,320 0 0 15,320 0 0 0 0 562,640
Harrington Harbour 1,000 0 0 8,000 0 0 0 0 9,000
Banking and Interest 947,440 0 0 26,707 0 0 0 0 974,147
MRP & Finance Charges 614,498 0 0 31,022 0 0 0 0 645,520
Insurances 215,639 0 0 38,661 0 0 0 0 254,300
Parish Councils 111,790 0 0 0 (20,670) 0 0 0 91,120
Contingencies 111,780 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 111,780
Out of Hours Telephones 8,640 0 0 0 (8,640) 0 0 0 0
Public Building Cleaning 70,220 0 1,890 0 0 0 0 0 72,110
Car Parks Inspection & Maintenance 30,300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30,300
Pension Deficit Employer Contribution 1,050,200 0 (82,200) 17,560 0 0 0 0 985,560
Self Sufficiency Programme 0 (350,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (350,000)
Human Resources Pay Group 168,570 0 5,300 5,900 0 0 0 0 179,770
Democratic Services Pay Group 110,040 0 (160) 0 0 0 0 0 109,880
Asset Management Pay Group 238,380 0 6,140 0 0 0 0 0 244,520
Finance and Accounting Pay Group 438,690 0 16,080 0 0 0 0 0 454,770

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

Legal Services 152,570 0 6,690 0 0 75,000 0 0 234,260
Head of Financial Services 67,780 0 1,640 0 0 0 0 0 69,420
Head of Governance 67,780 0 1,640 0 0 0 0 0 69,420
Governance Support Assistants 62,920 0 2,630 0 0 0 0 0 65,550
Elections - Pay Group 88,140 0 300 0 0 0 0 0 88,440
Apprentices & Graduates 72,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 72,000
Total Revenue 5,844,667 (350,000) (40,050) 143,170 (44,310) 75,000 0 0 5,628,477

Parish Precepts 1,913,535 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,913,535

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Allerdale Options 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,745 3,745
Section 31 NNDR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 171,559 171,559
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 175,304 175,304

TOTAL 7,758,202 (350,000) (40,050) 143,170 (44,310) 75,000 0 175,304 7,717,316

P
age 70



PORTFOLIO : ECONOMIC GROWTH

Description 2017/18 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded

Projects 

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Tenanted Properties (214,590) 0 0 15,000 0 0 0 0 (199,590)
Industrial Units (230,800) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (230,800)
Other Land & Buildings (80,000) 0 0 0 0 30,000 0 0 (50,000)
Camping & Caravan Sites (514,000) 0 0 0 (50,000) 0 0 0 (564,000)
Workington Town Centre (527,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (527,000)
Circuses & Fairs (10,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (10,000)
Building Control - Chargeable (293,090) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (293,090)
Planning and Development (517,900) (3,250) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (521,150)
Markets (79,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (79,000)
Economic Regeneration 82,920 0 0 20,000 0 0 0 0 102,920
Grants to Voluntary Organisation 72,130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 72,130
Planning Policy 44,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 44,250
Sports Development 15,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15,000
Festivals & Events 104,080 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 104,080
Building Control - Non-Chargeable (5,740) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (5,740)
Corporate Property (40,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (40,000)
Economic Growth Priorities 0 0 0 0 0 451,000 0 0 451,000
Town Centres 80,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 80,000
Maryport Shop Front Improvements 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 0 50,000
Building Control Pay Group 277,770 0 12,870 0 0 0 0 0 290,640
Planning and Development Pay Group 516,260 0 15,130 0 0 0 0 0 531,390
Regeneration Pay Group 168,090 0 4,110 0 0 0 0 0 172,200
Head of Development Services 62,450 0 1,560 0 0 0 0 0 64,010
Business Support Unit, Devt Services 162,080 0 6,410 0 0 0 0 0 168,490
Head of Economic Growth 61,450 0 1,560 0 0 0 0 0 63,010
Estates 137,000 0 2,440 25,000 0 0 0 0 164,440
Economic Development & Tourism Pay Group 0 0 0 52,500 0 0 0 0 52,500
Disposal of Allerdale Sites 15,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15,000

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

Total Revenue (713,640) (3,250) 44,080 112,500 (50,000) 531,000 0 0 (79,310)

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Planning Service Del Improvement 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,746 50,746
Planning Policy 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,000 10,000
AIP Solicitors Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30,000 30,000
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 90,746 90,746

TOTAL (713,640) (3,250) 44,080 112,500 (50,000) 531,000 0 90,746 11,436

P
age 71



PORTFOLIO : HOUSING, HEALTH & WELL-BEING

Description 2017/18 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded

Projects 

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Health and Safety 1,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,500
Housing Strategic Function 1,190 0 0 0 0 0 (4,310) 0 (3,120)
Homelessness 6,750 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,750
Assistance - Housing Services (52,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (52,000)
Gypsy & Traveller Sites 18,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18,000
Anti-poverty 0 0 0 50,000 0 0 0 0 50,000
Supporting Leisure Activity across Allerdale 0 0 0 0 0 15,000 0 0 15,000
Head of Housing & Health 62,450 0 1,560 0 0 0 0 0 64,010
Housing & Health Pay Group 1,005,810 0 33,070 0 0 0 0 0 1,038,880
Total Revenue 1,043,700 0 34,630 50,000 0 15,000 (4,310) 0 1,139,020

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS

Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 1,043,700 0 34,630 50,000 0 15,000 (4,310) 0 1,139,020

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

P
age 72



PORTFOLIO : LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

Description 2017/18 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded

Projects 

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Corporate Management (138,000) (10,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (148,000)
Corporate Complaints 3,340 0 0 0 (3,340) 0 0 0 0
Referral Centre 20,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,000
Leaders Priorities 10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,000
Heads of Service 33,590 0 770 0 0 0 0 0 34,360
Director of Operations 93,670 0 (93,670) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Director of Resources & PA 125,630 0 2,920 0 0 0 0 0 128,550
Chief Executive 169,040 0 4,000 0 0 0 (1,000) 0 172,040
Policy & Performance 138,160 0 5,330 0 0 0 0 0 143,490
Total Revenue 455,430 (10,000) (80,650) 0 (3,340) 0 (1,000) 0 360,440

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Corporate Priorities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,000 20,000
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,000 20,000

TOTAL 455,430 (10,000) (80,650) 0 (3,340) 0 (1,000) 20,000 380,440

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

P
age 73



PORTFOLIO : LOCALITY & ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

Description 2017/18 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded

Projects 

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Footways 124,940 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 124,940
Confidential Waste 3,600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,600
Parks and Grounds Maintenance 504,620 (41,420) 0 19,360 0 0 0 0 482,560
Street Cleansing 1,117,930 0 0 15,950 0 0 0 0 1,133,880
Public Convenience Cleaning 141,370 0 3,020 0 (25,350) 0 0 0 119,040
Animal Welfare 46,740 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 46,740
Domestic Waste 1,648,560 (50,000) 0 23,580 (13,430) 0 0 0 1,608,710
Trade Waste (415,220) 0 0 4,110 (50,000) 0 0 0 (461,110)
Recycling 549,140 0 0 19,610 (25,000) 0 0 0 543,750
Environmental Initiatives 62,700 0 0 41,420 0 0 0 0 104,120
Off-street - Owned (1,970,900) (140,000) 0 56,000 0 0 0 0 (2,054,900)
Multi-storey Car Park 171,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 171,000
Off-street - Managed (60,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (60,000)
Localities & Partnerships 12,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12,000
Sports & Leisure Centres 501,180 (102,860) 0 108,180 (9,600) 0 0 0 496,900
Maryport Wave 236,770 0 0 17,170 (20,000) 0 0 0 233,940
Workington Nature Partnership 15,380 0 1,720 0 0 0 0 0 17,100
Environmental Services Pay Group 413,200 0 (361,020) 0 0 0 0 0 52,180
Parking Services Pay Group 284,690 0 (248,920) 0 0 0 0 0 35,770
Head of Community Services 61,450 0 1,560 0 0 0 0 0 63,010
Community Services Pay Group 0 0 674,380 0 0 0 0 0 674,380
Total Revenue 3,449,150 (334,280) 70,740 305,380 (143,380) 0 0 0 3,347,610

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Leisure Activities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,360 29,360
Footway Lighting Scheme 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21,803 21,803
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 51,163 51,163

TOTAL 3,449,150 (334,280) 70,740 305,380 (143,380) 0 0 51,163 3,398,773

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

P
age 74



PORTFOLIO : REGULATORY SERVICES

Description 2017/18 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded

Projects 

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Bereavement Services (89,860) 0 0 4,760 (29,170) 0 0 0 (114,270)
Revenue (376,600) 0 0 25,000 0 0 0 0 (351,600)
Benefits (591,480) 0 0 62,290 0 0 0 0 (529,190)
Shared Revs & Bens 207,000 0 0 0 (90,000) 0 0 0 117,000
Licensing Service (172,160) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (172,160)
Land Charges Service (87,640) 0 0 8,000 (20,000) 0 0 0 (99,640)
Pest Control (32,690) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (32,690)
Food and Occupational Health 230 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 230
Environmental Protection (9,700) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (9,700)
Document Management Pay Group 165,620 0 (80,090) 0 0 0 0 0 85,530
Bereavement Services Pay Group 69,360 0 9,570 0 0 0 0 0 78,930
Customer Services Pay Group 403,760 0 21,880 0 0 0 0 0 425,640
Licensing Pay Group 81,280 0 1,960 0 0 0 0 0 83,240
Land Charges Pay Group 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 250
Housing Benefits Pay Group 440,180 0 (440,180) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revenues Pay Group 382,150 0 (382,150) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revenues, Benefits & Recovery Paygroup 0 0 894,080 0 0 0 0 0 894,080
Universal Credit 0 0 0 0 0 0 (60,000) 0 (60,000)
Total Revenue 389,700 0 25,070 100,050 (139,170) 0 (60,000) 0 315,650

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Shared Revs & Bens Projects 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 48,585 48,585
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 48,585 48,585

TOTAL 389,700 0 25,070 100,050 (139,170) 0 (60,000) 48,585 364,235

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

P
age 75



PORTFOLIO : TOURISM & CULTURE

Description 2017/18 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded

Projects 

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Silloth TIC 9,920 0 260 0 0 0 0 0 10,180
AONB Contribution 29,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,000
Museums 51,570 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 51,570
Arts Development 16,850 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 16,850
Carnegie Trust Contribution 135,000 0 0 0 (15,000) 0 0 0 120,000
Tourism Incentive 50,000 0 0 50,000 0 0 0 0 100,000
Total Revenue 292,340 0 260 50,000 (15,000) 0 0 0 327,600

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Festivals & Community Events 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,000 10,000
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,000 10,000

TOTAL 292,340 0 260 50,000 (15,000) 0 0 10,000 337,600

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

P
age 76



PORTFOLIO : TRANSFORMATION

Description 2017/18 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded

Projects 

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Communications and Marketing 34,100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 34,100
Coastal Protection and Inland Flooding 45,200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 45,200
Risk Management 3,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,000
Corporate Improvement Team 9,970 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,970
IT Services 407,230 (40,000) 0 10,000 (4,500) 125,000 0 0 497,730
Shared Revs & Bens IT Costs 68,120 0 0 0 (8,820) 0 0 0 59,300
Multi-functional Printers 35,530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 35,530
Community Safety 10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,000
Emergency Planning 18,700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18,700
Shared ICT Costs 60,269 0 0 0 (5,669) 0 0 0 54,600
Internal Audit Pay Group 89,800 0 5,010 0 0 0 0 0 94,810
Shared IT Services Pay Group 357,610 0 (4,740) 0 0 0 0 0 352,870
Head of Org Dev & Transformation 61,450 0 1,560 0 0 0 0 0 63,010
Customer & Transformation Programme 101,540 0 (2,080) 0 0 0 0 0 99,460
Communications 100,610 0 5,100 0 0 0 0 0 105,710
Commissioning Support Pay Group 49,050 0 15,470 0 0 0 0 0 64,520
Total Revenue 1,452,179 (40,000) 20,320 10,000 (18,989) 125,000 0 0 1,548,510

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Purchase of Equipment (Envelope Stuffer) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,000 7,000
Direct Debits & System Development 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 32,000 32,000
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 39,000 39,000

TOTAL 1,452,179 (40,000) 20,320 10,000 (18,989) 125,000 0 39,000 1,587,510

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

P
age 77



Appendix D
Recurring Growth Bids

Service Description Amount
£000

Portfolio - Corporate Resources - Barbara Cannon
Corporate Property Increase in NNDR costs following revaluation exercise 15
Harrington Harbour Additional dredging required to maintain inner & outer roads 8

Banking & Interest
Increase in PWLB interest costs to reflect full year impact of additional borrowing
expected to be drawn down in 2016/17 and the cost of additional borrowing
expected to be drawn down in 2017-18. 

27

Minimum Revenue Provision: Increase in MRP charge associated with unfinanced capital expenditure incurred
prior to 1 April 2017 31

Insurances Retendering of insurance cover and anticipated increase in associated policy costs 39

Apprenticeship Levy Introduction of statutory levy from April 2017 17
Human Resources Pay Group Head of People Resources no longer part funded by Copeland BC 6

143

Portfolio - Economic Growth - Mark Fryer
Tenanted properties Increase in maintenance and NNDR costs relating to tenanted properties 15

Economic Regeneration Budget to support specific activity listed in the Action Plan and facilitate activity
planned by others 20

Estates Funding to undertake the development of (capital) schemes 25
Economic Dev & Tourism Pay
Group Creation of Special Initiatives Officer post 53

113

Portfolio - Housing, Health and Wellbeing - Carni McCarron-Holmes
Reducing Poverty Operational budget to work along-side community officer post 50

50

Portfolio - Locality and Environmental Quality - Mike Heaslip
Parks & Grounds Maintenance Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 19
Street Cleansing Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 16
Domestic Waste Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 24
Trade Waste Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 4
Recycling Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 20

Parks & Grounds Maintenance  First year of two year grant to Workington Town Council for Vulcans Park (£20,710
in year 2) 41

Off-street Car Parks - Owned Increase in NNDR Costs 56

Sports & Leisure Centres
Scheduled reduction in contribution received from GLL to compensate the Council
for additional revenue financing costs associated with improvement works at
Cockermouth Sports centre

108

The Wave  Increase in contribution to joint fund as per Management Agreement 17
305

Portfolio - Regulatory Services - Konrad Hansen
Bereavement Services Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 5
Revenues Reduction in Court costs income (Council tax and NNDR summonses) 25
Revenues & Benefits Reduction in Admin Support Grant 62
Land Charges Services Increase in expenditure on External Agency searches 8

100

Portfolio - Tourism and Culture - Bill Jefferson
Tourism & Heritage Development Additional budget to support delivery of the tourism element of the Business Growth

Plan and Heritage Strategy
50

50

Portfolio - Transformation - Phil Tibble

IT Services

Annual cost of procuring CHECK accredited services to conduct internal and
external vulnerability and penetrating testing of the Council’s network to ensure
compliance with Central Government PSN Code of Connection security
requirements

10

10

Total Recurring Growth 2017-18 771

Page 78



Appendix D Cont'd
Recurring Savings Bids

Service Description Amount
£000

Portfolio - Corporate Resources - Barbara Cannon
Human Resources Reduction in training budget (15)
Parish Councils  Reduction in Council Tax Reduction Scheme grant (21)
Out of Hours Telephones Out of Hours system now provided in-house (8)

(44)

Portfolio - Economic Growth - Mark Fryer
Camping & Caravan  Adjustment to bring income in line with 3 year average (50)

(50)

Portfolio - Leader - Alan Smith
Corporate Complaints Corporate Complaints system now provided in-house (4)

(4)

Portfolio - Locality and Environmental Quality - Mike Heaslip
Asset Management Transfer/closure of public toilets (20)
Public Conveniences Reduction In NNDR Costs (5)
Domestic Waste Increase in bulky waste income from fees and charge uplift. (13)

Trade Waste
Additional commercial waste income associated with an increase in fees and
charges and the re-introduction of charges for collection & processing of co-mingled
recyclates

(50)

Recycling Reduction in costs of purple bag recycling scheme following transfer to re-usable
containers. (Part year roll out) (25)

Sports & Leisure Centres Increase in insurance recharge (10)
The Wave  Increase in income following changes to layout  (20)

(143)

Portfolio - Regulatory Services - Konrad Hansen

Bereavement Services Additional Income due to increase in fees and charges plus income due following a
change in the legal requirements for statutory declarations (29)

Shared Revenues & Benefits Reduction in operating costs following cessation of Shared Revenues and Benefits
Service (90)

Land Charges Increase in income due to changes in the volume of search requests (20)
(139)

Portfolio - Tourism and Culture - Bill Jefferson
Carnegie Trust Agreed reduction in subsidy awarded (15)

(15)

Portfolio - Transformation - Phil Tibble
IT Services Income from Workington Town Council for ICT Support (4)
Shared Revs & Bens IT Additional Income from Carlisle City Council & Copeland Borough Council (9)
Shared IT Reduction in expenditure on maintenance of backup infrastructure (6)

(19)

Total Recurring Savings 2017-18 (414)

Page 79



Appendix E
Non-Recurring Growth Bids

Service Description Amount
£000

Portfolio - Corporate Resources - Barbara Cannon

Legal Services External legal support costs for potential appeals, judicial reviews, contract reviews
and agreements. 75

75

Portfolio - Economic Growth - Mark Fryer
Asset Management Contribution to repair works at Cockermouth Market Place 30
Shop Front Improvements Expansion of existing Shop Front Improvement Scheme 50

Projects Reserve Budget provision to support Council priority of reducing poverty and tackling
inequality 451

531

Portfolio - Housing, Health and Wellbeing - Carni McCarron-Holmes
Supporting Leisure Activities  Financial contribution to Wigton Pool Trust 15

15

Portfolio - Transformation - Phil Tibble
IT Services Next Generation Development & Health & Housing Services Solution 125

125

Total Non-Recurring Growth 2017-18 746

Non-Recurring Savings Bids

Service Description Amount
£000

Portfolio - Housing, Health and Wellbeing - Carni McCarron-Holmes

Housing Strategic Function Increase in income due to Houses In Multiple Occupation (HMO) License renewal
fees (4)

(4)

Portfolio - Leader - Alan Smith
Chief Executive Surplus training budget (1)

(1)

Portfolio - Regulatory Services - Konrad Hansen

Universal Credit Non recurring DWP grant income to support implementation of universal credit less
additional costs associated with obtaining  external advice (60)

(60)

Total Non-Recurring Savings 2017-18 (65)

Page 80



Appendix F

MOVEMENT IN REVENUE BUDGET 2016-17 to 2017-18

£'000 £'000 £'000

REVISED BUDGET 2016-17 (excluding Parish Precepts) 13,414

Less: Non-Recurring Growth (2,107)
Plus: Non- Recurring Savings 906

ADJUSTED OPENING BASE BUDGET 2017-18 12,213

Changes for 2017-18:

Recurring Growth
Salary Related Adjustments 75
Recurring Growth Bids 771

846
Recurring Savings
Increase in income (205)
Reduction in Expenditure (209)

(414)
Plans for Self sufficiency
Economic Growth (65)
Operational efficiencies (145)
Service Delivery (528)

(738)

Total Recurring changes (306)

Non-Recurring Growth/Savings
Non-Recurring Growth 746
Non-Recurring Savings (65)

Total one-off changes 681

TOTAL CHANGES 375

REVENUE BUDGET 2017-18 (excluding Parish Precepts) 12,588

Page 81



Appendix G

Summary of changes to existing 3 year Capital programme 

Revised Proposed Proposed Proposed 
Budget Budget Budget Budget
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

£ £ £ £

Expenditure

Portfolio
Housing, Health & Wellbeing 2,827,447 2,197,668 2,000,000 2,000,000
Corporate Resources 819,616 0 0 0
Localities & Environmental Quality 2,583,213 0 0 0
Transformation 166,616 0 0 0
Economic Growth 1,100,000 950,000 0 0
TOTAL EXPENDITURE - 2016/17 revised budget 7,496,892 3,147,668 2,000,000 2,000,000

Proposed Changes 
Housing, Health & Wellbeing: Reprofiling of existing DFG expenditure (100,000) 50,000 50,000
New Bids 
Housing, Health & Wellbeing: Healthy Homes (1,000,000)
Housing, Health & Wellbeing: Securing Affordable Homes (40,000)
Housing, Health & Wellbeing :Housing Improvement Projects (72,668)
Tourism and Culture: AONB Solway coast multi-user pathway 304,147 1,425,117
Tourism and Culture: Kirkgate Centre Contribution 100,000
Localities & Environmental Quality: Workington Hall Works 50,000
Localities & Environmental QualityFleming Square (Maryport)  - Restoration Works 30,000
Localities & Environmental Quality: Harrington Reservoir restoration 167,000
Localities & Environmental Quality: Public Toilet Review 75,000
Transformation: ICT Equipment 40,000 40,000 40,000
Transformation: Flood resilience 100,000 100,000 100,000
Economic Growth; LillyHall - Industrial Development 5,000,000 4,000,000
Economic Growth; Reedlands Road - Industrial Development 1,700,000

0 6,353,479 5,665,117 140,000

Total change to expenditure 0 6,253,479 5,715,117 190,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURE - proposed 2017/18 budget 7,496,892 9,401,147 7,715,117 2,190,000

Financing

External Grant Funding
DFG 1,080,588 1,075,000 950,000 950,000
SCP Housing Grant 344,739 72,668
Central Heating Fund Grant 1,140,000
Sports England Grant 45,000
WREN Grant 50,000
TOTAL - External Funding Sources 2,660,327 1,147,668 950,000 950,000

Allerdale BC Resources
Capital Receipts 598,345
Earmarked Reserves 204,000
Revenue Budget 20,000
Revenue Receipt 37,000
Revenue (use of contingencies) 45,000
General Fund 1,195,007
Prudential Borrowing 2,737,213 2,000,000 1,050,000 1,050,000
TOTAL - ABC Resources 4,836,565 2,000,000 1,050,000 1,050,000

TOTAL FINANCING - 2016/17 revised budget 7,496,892 3,147,668 2,000,000 2,000,000

Proposed Changes: 

External Grant Funding:
Reprofiling application of DFG funding (100,000) 50,000 50,000
New Bids 
Reprofiling application of SCP funding (62,668) 50,000 12,668
Coastal Communities Fund 304,147 1,425,117
Grants and contributions  - Harrington Resevoir 117,000
LEP funding (Lillyhall) 5,000,000
ERDF funding (Reedlands Road) 1,020,000

6,278,479 1,525,117 62,668

Prudential Borrowing (25,000) 4,190,000 127,332

Total change in financing 6,253,479 5,715,117 190,000

TOTAL FINANCING - proposed 2017/18 budget 7,496,892 9,401,147 7,715,117 2,190,000

Page 82



Earmarked Reserves by Portfolio

Reserves Projected 2017/18
Opening Balance

2017/18 Profiled
Spend

> 2017/18
Profiled Spend Held in Reserves

£ £ £ £

Revenue Reserves

Corporate Resources
Excess Insurance Costs 73,028 0 0 73,028
Emergency Planning - Flooding 28,260 0 0 28,260
Allerdale Options 3,745 3,745 0 0
Section 31 NNDR 171,559 171,559 0 0
Pension Scheme Auto Enrolment 100,000 0 0 100,000

376,592 175,304 0 201,288

Economic Growth
Planning Service Delivery Improvements 50,746 50,746 0 0
Local Development Framework 50,742 0 50,742 0
Planning Policy 30,154 10,000 20,154 0
AIP - Solicitors costs 30,000 30,000 0 0
Enterprise Coaches (WISE) 33,264 0 0 33,264

194,905 90,746 70,896 33,264

Leader of the Council
Corporate Priorities 31,360 20,000 11,360 0

31,360 20,000 11,360 0

Locality & Environmental Quality
Footway Lighting Scheme 65,409 21,803 43,606 0
Weekly Collection Support Scheme 1,061 0 0 1,061
Leisure Activities 29,360 29,360 0 0

95,830 51,163 43,606 1,061

Regulatory Services
Shared Revs & Bens 48,585 48,585 0 0

48,585 48,585 0 0

Tourism & Culture
Festivals & Community Events 10,000 10,000 0 0

10,000 10,000 0 0

Transformation
Purchase of Equipment (Enveloper) 11,852 7,000 4,852 0
Community Safety 50,951 0 0 50,951
Direct Debits & System Developments 32,000 32,000 0 0

94,803 39,000 4,852 50,951

Other
NNDR Rate Pool Volatility Fund 101,714 0 0 101,714
Business Rate Income 621,000 0 0 621,000
AIP Loan Note Interest 306,660 0 0 306,660
AIP Loan Notes 222,000 0 0 222,000

1,251,374 0 0 1,251,374

SUB TOTAL - REVENUE 2,103,449 434,797 130,714 1,537,938

Capital Reserves
Revenue Financing for Capital Programme 6,690 0 0 6,690

SUB TOTAL - CAPITAL 6,690 0 0 6,690

GRAND TOTAL 2,110,139 434,797 130,714 1,544,628

Page 83



MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Revenue Budget 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Base Budget 12,213 11,907 11,947 12,771
Pension Deficit (62) 20 21 0
Change in salary costs - recurring 137 205 205 225
Capital Bids (2017/18) Financing Costs (1) 65 251 11
Recurring growth 772 311 362 88
Recurring savings (414) (56) (15) 0
Self-sufficiency savings (738) (506) 0 0
Recurring (base) budget 11,907 11,947 12,771 13,095

Non-recurring growth 746 200 200 200
Non-recurring savings (65) 0 0 0
Net Service Expenditure budget 12,588 12,147 12,971 13,295

Expenditure on earmarked priorities 435 0 0 0

Proposed budget (excl. parish precepts) 13,023 12,147 12,971 13,295

Parish Precepts 1,914 1,914 1,914 1,914

Proposed Budget (incl. parish precepts) 14,937 14,061 14,885 15,209

Less: Planned use of earmarked balances (435) 0 0 0

Net Budget Requirement 14,502 14,061 14,885 15,209

Funding 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Revenue support grant 1,060 652 196 0
Rural Services Delivery Grant 261 201 261 0
New Homes Bonus 1,604 913 636 179
Council tax – Allerdale only 4,920 5,013 5,109 5,206
Council tax – parish element 1,914 1,914 1,914 1,914
Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax 139 0 0 0
NNDR funding 4,644 4,644 4,644 4,644
NNDR - Collection fund surplus/(deficit) (393) 0 0 0
NNDR - Cumbria Pool Benefit 353 0 0 0
Self-sufficiency savings - Growth in Council Tax
and NNDR 0 200 200 200

Total funding 14,502 13,537 12,960 12,143

Funding Gap 0 523 1,925 3,066

Page 84



Appendix J 

 

 

Budget 2017/18 consultation – response document 

Questions & Summary of responses 

1. Setting next year's council tax 

We collect Council Tax for ourselves but also on behalf of Cumbria County Council, 
the Police, and your local town or parish council. Only about 13% of your Council 
Tax bill pays for services provided by us. For 2016/17 the annual charge (from 
Allerdale Borough Council) for an average Band D property is £159.95 a year, or 
about £3 a week. 

Since 2012/13 we have not accepted the Council Tax freeze grants from government 
because of the adverse longer term impact this would have on our ability to raise 
income. Instead we have approved a year-on-year increase to Council Tax to keep 
up with inflation. 

In a recent survey nearly 60% of residents supported an increase in Council Tax if 
this meant services that were important to them were protected. An increase in 
Council Tax will allow us to protect front-line services such as: 

• Street cleaning 
• Bin collections 
• Recycling services 
• Grass-cutting 

We would like to know your views on whether we should increase the Council’s 
share of your Council Tax by 1.9% next year. If we increased Allerdale Borough 
Council’s part of the Council Tax bill by 1.9% in 2017/18, it would raise 
approximately £90,000 of additional income for us next year.  For an average Band 
D household this is equivalent to paying £3.04 extra a year (or 6p a week), for an 
average Band A household this would equate to an increase of £2.03 a year (or 4p a 
week). 

To protect services should we increase Allerdale's portion of the council tax 
bill by 1.9% in 2017/18? 

Budget Consultation Response: 

Response Percentage 

Yes 77.42 

No 22.58 

Don’t know 0 

Not answered 0 

 

Page 85



Appendix J 

 

 

2. Setting fees and charges 

Fees and charges are an important source of income, offsetting the cost of service 
provision and reducing the amount of expenditure that needs to be met from central 
government grants, council tax and business rates. 

For existing charges, the Council’s general policy is that levels of fees and charges 
should rise, each year, in line with the rate of RPI inflation, as determined as part of 
the budget planning process. This general policy is not applied where fees and 
charges are set nationally by central government, or where it is necessary to revise 
the amount the Council charges, other than in line with inflation, to ensure it complies 
with statutory requirements governing the amount charged for a particular service. 

Should we increase fees and charges in line with inflation in 2017/18? 

Budget Consultation Response: 

Response Percentage 

Yes 77.42 

No 16.13 

Don’t know 6.45 

Not answered 0 

 

Page 86



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 1 March 2017

Council Tax Resolution 2017-18

The Reason for the Decision To approve the necessary resolutions for Council 
Tax setting in accordance with Sections 31 – 36 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

Summary of options considered The Council is required to set a Council Tax in 
support of its budget each year.

Recommendations That the resolutions, as detailed in Appendix A 
be approved.

Financial/Resource Implications The Council is required to set the Council Tax 
each year in accordance with the legislation set 
out in this report.  
The Council will be required to hold a referendum 
if Members decide to increase the Council Tax by 
2% and more than £5 above its 2016-17 level.

Legal Implications Statutory requirement to set the Council Tax.

Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

If the Council Tax is not set in accordance with 
the legislation then there is a risk that the Council 
will be unable to bill in a timely manner with a 
consequential loss of revenue and this may affect 
the prudent management of the Council’s 
financial affairs.

Equality Duty considered/Impact 
Assessment completed

Considered in entitlement to certain discounts 
and benefits.

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s Strategic 
Objectives

Setting the Council Tax enables the Council to 
collect the income it needs to fulfil its key aims 
and objectives.

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Cllr Barbara Cannon

Page 87

Agenda Item 12



Lead Officer Catherine Nicholson 
Head of Financial Services
01900 702503
catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N

Background papers - working papers within Financial Services and Revenues,
Calculation of Council Tax Base for 2017-18 was approved at Council on 18th 
January 2017.

Appendices attached to this report:

Appendix A – Recommendations for Council to resolve for approval

Appendix B1 – The amount of Council Tax which relates to the Parish Precepts       
applicable to each valuation band

Appendix B2 – Aggregate of the Council Tax for Allerdale Borough Council and 
Parish Precept by valuation band 

Appendix B3 – The Total amount of Council Tax to be levied in 2017-18, inclusive 
of Cumbria County Council, and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 
Precept, applicable to each valuation band in each part of Borough

Appendix C – Parish Precept Council Tax Band D charge for 2017-18

Page 88



1.0 Background

1.1 The purpose of this report is to enable the Council to calculate and approve 
the Council Tax requirement for 2017-18, as required by The Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, as amended. 

1.2 The precept levels of other precepting bodies provided below are based on 
the most up to date information available at the date of submitting this report. 
If any revised Precepts are submitted after this report is published, these will 
be tabled at the Council meeting on the 1st March 2017.

Town and Parish Councils

1.3 The Town and Parish Council Precepts for 2017-18 are detailed in Appendix 
C and total £1,913,535. This results in an average Band D Council Tax of 
£63.40 for 2017-18.

1.4 The Precept figure included in Appendix A and Appendix C is based on the 
information that the Council has received from Parishes on the 2017-18 
precepts. 

1.5 However, under section 41 (4) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 a 
local precepting authority has until the 1st March to submit their Precept to 
the billing authority. If any revised Precepts are submitted after this report is 
published, these will be tabled at the Council meeting on the 1st March 2017.

 Cumbria County Council

1.6 Based on information that the Council has received from Cumbria County 
Council, their precept is £38,665,193, this results in a Band D Council Tax of 
£1,281.02. 

1.7 The Cumbria County Council will meet on 16th February 2017 to set their 
precept. If any revised Precepts are submitted after this report is published, 
these will be tabled at the Council meeting on the 1st March 2017.

Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria

1.8 Based on information that the Council has received from The Police and 
Crime Commissioner for Cumbria, their precept is £6,663,530, this results in a 
Band D Council Tax of £220.77.

1.9 The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria will meet on 22nd February 
2017 to set their precept. If any revised Precepts are submitted after this 
report is published, these will be tabled at the Council meeting on the 1st 
March 2017.

Page 89



2.0 Proposed Tax Levels

2.1 The recommendations are set out in the formal Council Tax resolution in 
Appendix A.

2.2 If the formal Council Tax Resolution at Appendix A is approved, the total 
Band D Council Tax will be as follows:-

2016-17
£

2017-18
£

Increase
%

Allerdale Borough Council 159.95 162.99 1.90%
Cumbria County Council 1,231.87 1,281.02 3.99%
Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Cumbria

216.63 220.77 1.91%

Sub Total 1,608.45 1,664.78 3.50%
Town and Parish Council (average) 61.00 63.40 3.93%
TOTAL 1,669.45 1,728.18 3.52%

3.0 Other Options

3.1 The Localism Act 2011 makes provision for Council Tax referendums to be 
held if an authority increases its basic amount of Council Tax (Town and 
Parish Council precepts are excluded when making this calculation) in excess 
of principles determined by the Secretary of State. The excessiveness 
principles are set each year and the Secretary of State has proposed that for 
2017-18 a referendum will be triggered if Allerdale Borough Council set a 
Council Tax increase which exceeds 2% and more than £5.
 

4.0      Policy Decisions 

4.1 At the Council meeting held on 18th January 2017, the Council approved the 
calculation of its Council Tax Base for 2017-18. The report considered by 
members outlined the method for calculating the Tax Base, including the 
impact of estimated:

 discounts awarded for single person households, disregarded 
properties, second homes, unoccupied properties, family annex and 
uninhabitable properties

 discounts and premiums for empty properties 
 discounts awarded through the Council’s Council Tax Reduction 

Scheme.

5.0 Conclusion

5.1 The recommendations are set out in the formal Council Tax Resolution in 
Appendix A for approval.

Page 90



6.0 Recommendations

6.1 That the resolutions, as detailed in Appendix A be approved.

Catherine Nicholson
Head of Financial Services

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 92



APPENDIX A

The Council is recommended to resolve as follows:

1) It be noted that on 18th January 2017 the Council calculated:

a) the Council Tax base 2017-18 for the whole Council area as 30,183.13 
(item T in the formula in Section 31B of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992, as amended (the “Act”)) and;

b) the dwellings in those parts of its area to which a Parish Precept relates 
as in the attached Appendix C.

2) The Council calculates that the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own 
purposes for 2017-18 (excluding Parish precepts) is £4,919,548.

3) That the following amounts be calculated for the year 2017-18 in accordance 
with Sections 31 to 36 of the Act.

a) £50,098,495 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act taking into 
account all precepts issues to it by Parish Council;

b) £43,265,412 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(3) of the Act;

c) £6,833,083 being the amount by which the aggregate at (a) above 
exceeds the aggregate at (b) above, calculated by the Council in 
accordance with Section 31A (4) of the Act as its Council Tax 
requirement for the year.  (Item R in the formula in Section 31B of the 
Act);

d) £226.39 being the amount at (c) above (Item R) divided by Item T (1 a) 
above), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31B of 
the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year (including 
Parish Precepts); (as detailed in Appendix B1 parish only by valuation 
band and Appendix B2 parish and district by valuation band);

e) £1,913,535 being the aggregate amount of all special items (Parish 
Precepts) referred to in Section 34 (1) of the Act. (as detailed in 
Appendix B1 parish only by valuation band  and C Parish Precepts);

f) £162.99 being the amount at (d) above less the result given by dividing 
the amount at (e) above by Item T (1 a) above), calculated by the 
Council, in accordance with Section 34 (2) of the Act, as the basic 
amount of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its 
area to which no parish precept relates.

Page 93



APPENDIX A

4) To note that Cumbria County Council and The Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Cumbria have issued precepts to the Council in accordance 
with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for each category 
of dwellings in the Council’s area as indicated in the table below.

Valuation Bands

 Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H
Precepting Authority £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Cumbria County Council
854.01 996.35 1,138.68 1,281.02 1,565.69 1,850.36 2,135.03 2,562.04

Police and Crime 
Commissioner for 
Cumbria

147.18 171.71 196.24 220.77 269.83 318.89 367.95 441.54

5) The Council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the aggregate amounts shown in the tables 
detailed in Appendix B (1,2 and 3), as the amounts of Council Tax for 2017-18 
for each part of its area and for each of the categories of dwellings.

Page 94



APPENDIX B1

Page 92

Council Tax for Parish Precept by valuation band.

Valuation Bands
A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Above Derwent 25.61 29.88 34.15 38.42 46.96 55.50 64.03 76.84
Aikton 18.33 21.38 24.44 27.49 33.60 39.71 45.82 54.98
Oughterside & Allerby 35.05 40.90 46.74 52.58 64.26 75.95 87.63 105.16
Allhallows 34.38 40.11 45.84 51.57 63.03 74.49 85.95 103.14
Allonby 41.84 48.81 55.79 62.76 76.71 90.65 104.60 125.52
Aspatria 56.76 66.22 75.68 85.14 104.06 122.98 141.90 170.28
Bassenthwaite 23.48 27.39 31.31 35.22 43.05 50.87 58.70 70.44
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Blennerhasset & Torpenhow 38.53 44.95 51.37 57.79 70.63 83.47 96.32 115.58
Blindbothel 33.09 38.60 44.12 49.63 60.66 71.69 82.72 99.26
Blindcrake 28.80 33.60 38.40 43.20 52.80 62.40 72.00 86.40
Boltons 12.81 14.94 17.08 19.21 23.48 27.75 32.02 38.42
Borrowdale 24.25 28.30 32.34 36.38 44.46 52.55 60.63 72.76
Bothel & Threapland 21.76 25.39 29.01 32.64 39.89 47.15 54.40 65.28
Bowness 33.86 39.50 45.15 50.79 62.08 73.36 84.65 101.58
Bridekirk 14.05 16.39 18.73 21.07 25.75 30.43 35.12 42.14
Brigham 19.09 22.28 25.46 28.64 35.00 41.37 47.73 57.28
Bromfield 19.72 23.01 26.29 29.58 36.15 42.73 49.30 59.16
Broughton 17.31 20.20 23.08 25.97 31.74 37.51 43.28 51.94
Broughton Moor 48.65 56.75 64.86 72.97 89.19 105.40 121.62 145.94
Buttermere 13.98 16.31 18.64 20.97 25.63 30.29 34.95 41.94
Caldbeck 24.39 28.46 32.52 36.59 44.72 52.85 60.98 73.18
Camerton 16.35 19.08 21.80 24.53 29.98 35.43 40.88 49.06
Cockermouth 40.93 47.76 54.58 61.40 75.04 88.69 102.33 122.80
Crosscanonby 23.15 27.01 30.87 34.73 42.45 50.17 57.88 69.46
Dean 18.59 21.68 24.78 27.88 34.08 40.27 46.47 55.76
Dearham 24.57 28.67 32.76 36.86 45.05 53.24 61.43 73.72
Dundraw 19.32 22.54 25.76 28.98 35.42 41.86 48.30 57.96
Embleton 20.77 24.23 27.69 31.15 38.07 44.99 51.92 62.30
Gilcrux 49.05 57.22 65.40 73.57 89.92 106.27 122.62 147.14
Great Clifton 21.77 25.39 29.02 32.65 39.91 47.16 54.42 65.30
Greysouthen 36.43 42.51 48.58 54.65 66.79 78.94 91.08 109.30
Hayton & Mealo 33.71 39.33 44.95 50.57 61.81 73.05 84.28 101.14
Holme Abbey 36.83 42.96 49.10 55.24 67.52 79.79 92.07 110.48 *
Holme East Waver 36.01 42.01 48.01 54.01 66.01 78.01 90.02 108.02
Holme Low 11.56 13.49 15.41 17.34 21.19 25.05 28.90 34.68
Holme St Cuthbert 22.43 26.16 29.90 33.64 41.12 48.59 56.07 67.28
Ireby & Uldale 20.93 24.41 27.90 31.39 38.37 45.34 52.32 62.78
Keswick 70.80 82.60 94.40 106.20 129.80 153.40 177.00 212.40
Kirkbampton 28.55 33.30 38.06 42.82 52.34 61.85 71.37 85.64
Kirkbride 43.33 50.56 57.78 65.00 79.44 93.89 108.33 130.00

Page 95



APPENDIX B1

Page 92

Little Clifton 25.03 29.20 33.37 37.54 45.88 54.22 62.57 75.08
Lorton 22.81 26.62 30.42 34.22 41.82 49.43 57.03 68.44
Loweswater 11.81 13.78 15.75 17.72 21.66 25.60 29.53 35.44
Maryport 48.79 56.93 65.06 73.19 89.45 105.72 121.98 146.38
Papcastle 34.13 39.81 45.50 51.19 62.57 73.94 85.32 102.38
Plumbland 26.73 31.19 35.64 40.10 49.01 57.92 66.83 80.20
Seaton 24.35 28.40 32.46 36.52 44.64 52.75 60.87 73.04
Sebergham 22.84 26.65 30.45 34.26 41.87 49.49 57.10 68.52
Setmurthy 7.23 8.43 9.64 10.84 13.25 15.66 18.07 21.68
Silloth 132.15 154.18 176.20 198.23 242.28 286.33 330.38 396.46
St Johns & Castlerigg & Wythburn 25.03 29.21 33.38 37.55 45.89 54.24 62.58 75.10
Thursby 34.77 40.56 46.36 52.15 63.74 75.33 86.92 104.30
Underskiddaw 21.87 25.52 29.16 32.81 40.10 47.39 54.68 65.62
Waverton 12.68 14.79 16.91 19.02 23.25 27.47 31.70 38.04
Westnewton 36.02 42.02 48.03 54.03 66.04 78.04 90.05 108.06
Westward 13.32 15.54 17.76 19.98 24.42 28.86 33.30 39.96
Wigton 66.27 77.31 88.36 99.40 121.49 143.58 165.67 198.80
Winscales 34.55 40.30 46.06 51.82 63.34 74.85 86.37 103.64
Woodside 15.48 18.06 20.64 23.22 28.38 33.54 38.70 46.44
Workington 45.01 52.52 60.02 67.52 82.52 97.53 112.53 135.04
Wythop 26.01 30.34 34.68 39.01 47.68 56.35 65.02 78.02

Valuation Bands
A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Page 96



APPENDIX B2

Page 93

Aggregate of the Council Tax for Allerdale Borough Council and Parish Precept by valuation band.

Valuation Bands
A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Above Derwent 134.27 156.65 179.03 201.41 246.17 290.93 335.68 402.82
Aikton 126.99 148.15 169.32 190.48 232.81 275.14 317.47 380.96
Oughterside & Allerby 143.71 167.67 191.62 215.57 263.47 311.38 359.28 431.14
Allhallows 143.04 166.88 190.72 214.56 262.24 309.92 357.60 429.12
Allonby 150.50 175.58 200.67 225.75 275.92 326.08 376.25 451.50
Aspatria 165.42 192.99 220.56 248.13 303.27 358.41 413.55 496.26
Bassenthwaite 132.14 154.16 176.19 198.21 242.26 286.30 330.35 396.42
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 108.66 126.77 144.88 162.99 199.21 235.43 271.65 325.98
Blennerhasset & Torpenhow 147.19 171.72 196.25 220.78 269.84 318.90 367.97 441.56
Blindbothel 141.75 165.37 189.00 212.62 259.87 307.12 354.37 425.24
Blindcrake 137.46 160.37 183.28 206.19 252.01 297.83 343.65 412.38
Boltons 121.47 141.71 161.96 182.20 222.69 263.18 303.67 364.40
Borrowdale 132.91 155.07 177.22 199.37 243.67 287.98 332.28 398.74
Bothel & Threapland 130.42 152.16 173.89 195.63 239.10 282.58 326.05 391.26
Bowness 142.52 166.27 190.03 213.78 261.29 308.79 356.30 427.56
Bridekirk 122.71 143.16 163.61 184.06 224.96 265.86 306.77 368.12
Brigham 127.75 149.05 170.34 191.63 234.21 276.80 319.38 383.26
Bromfield 128.38 149.78 171.17 192.57 235.36 278.16 320.95 385.14
Broughton 125.97 146.97 167.96 188.96 230.95 272.94 314.93 377.92
Broughton Moor 157.31 183.52 209.74 235.96 288.40 340.83 393.27 471.92
Buttermere 122.64 143.08 163.52 183.96 224.84 265.72 306.60 367.92
Caldbeck 133.05 155.23 177.40 199.58 243.93 288.28 332.63 399.16
Camerton 125.01 145.85 166.68 187.52 229.19 270.86 312.53 375.04
Cockermouth 149.59 174.53 199.46 224.39 274.25 324.12 373.98 448.78
Crosscanonby 131.81 153.78 175.75 197.72 241.66 285.60 329.53 395.44
Dean 127.25 148.45 169.66 190.87 233.29 275.70 318.12 381.74
Dearham 133.23 155.44 177.64 199.85 244.26 288.67 333.08 399.70
Dundraw 127.98 149.31 170.64 191.97 234.63 277.29 319.95 383.94
Embleton 129.43 151.00 172.57 194.14 237.28 280.42 323.57 388.28
Gilcrux 157.71 183.99 210.28 236.56 289.13 341.70 394.27 473.12
Great Clifton 130.43 152.16 173.90 195.64 239.12 282.59 326.07 391.28
Greysouthen 145.09 169.28 193.46 217.64 266.00 314.37 362.73 435.28
Hayton & Mealo 142.37 166.10 189.83 213.56 261.02 308.48 355.93 427.12
Holme Abbey 145.49 169.73 193.98 218.23 266.73 315.22 363.72 436.46 *
Holme East Waver 144.67 168.78 192.89 217.00 265.22 313.44 361.67 434.00
Holme Low 120.22 140.26 160.29 180.33 220.40 260.48 300.55 360.66
Holme St Cuthbert 131.09 152.93 174.78 196.63 240.33 284.02 327.72 393.26
Ireby & Uldale 129.59 151.18 172.78 194.38 237.58 280.77 323.97 388.76
Keswick 179.46 209.37 239.28 269.19 329.01 388.83 448.65 538.38
Kirkbampton 137.21 160.07 182.94 205.81 251.55 297.28 343.02 411.62
Kirkbride 151.99 177.33 202.66 227.99 278.65 329.32 379.98 455.98

Page 97



APPENDIX B2

Page 94

Little Clifton 133.69 155.97 178.25 200.53 245.09 289.65 334.22 401.06
Lorton 131.47 153.39 175.30 197.21 241.03 284.86 328.68 394.42
Loweswater 120.47 140.55 160.63 180.71 220.87 261.03 301.18 361.42
Maryport 157.45 183.70 209.94 236.18 288.66 341.15 393.63 472.36
Papcastle 142.79 166.58 190.38 214.18 261.78 309.37 356.97 428.36
Plumbland 135.39 157.96 180.52 203.09 248.22 293.35 338.48 406.18
Seaton 133.01 155.17 177.34 199.51 243.85 288.18 332.52 399.02
Sebergham 131.50 153.42 175.33 197.25 241.08 284.92 328.75 394.50
Setmurthy 115.89 135.20 154.52 173.83 212.46 251.09 289.72 347.66
Silloth 240.81 280.95 321.08 361.22 441.49 521.76 602.03 722.44
St Johns & Castlerigg & Wythburn 133.69 155.98 178.26 200.54 245.10 289.67 334.23 401.08
Thursby 143.43 167.33 191.24 215.14 262.95 310.76 358.57 430.28
Underskiddaw 130.53 152.29 174.04 195.80 239.31 282.82 326.33 391.60
Waverton 121.34 141.56 161.79 182.01 222.46 262.90 303.35 364.02
Westnewton 144.68 168.79 192.91 217.02 265.25 313.47 361.70 434.04
Westward 121.98 142.31 162.64 182.97 223.63 264.29 304.95 365.94
Wigton 174.93 204.08 233.24 262.39 320.70 379.01 437.32 524.78
Winscales 143.21 167.07 190.94 214.81 262.55 310.28 358.02 429.62
Woodside 124.14 144.83 165.52 186.21 227.59 268.97 310.35 372.42
Workington 153.67 179.29 204.90 230.51 281.73 332.96 384.18 461.02
Wythop 134.67 157.11 179.56 202.00 246.89 291.78 336.67 404.00

Valuation Bands
A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Page 98



APPENDIX B3

Page 95

Aggregate of the Council Tax for Allerdale Borough Council, Cumbria County Council, Police and Crime Commissioner for
Cumbria and Parish Precept by valuation band.

Valuation Bands
A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Above Derwent 1,135.46 1,324.71 1,513.95 1,703.20 2,081.69 2,460.18 2,838.66 3,406.40
Aikton 1,128.18 1,316.21 1,504.24 1,692.27 2,068.33 2,444.39 2,820.45 3,384.54
Oughterside & Allerby 1,144.90 1,335.73 1,526.54 1,717.36 2,098.99 2,480.63 2,862.26 3,434.72
Allhallows 1,144.23 1,334.94 1,525.64 1,716.35 2,097.76 2,479.17 2,860.58 3,432.70
Allonby 1,151.69 1,343.64 1,535.59 1,727.54 2,111.44 2,495.33 2,879.23 3,455.08
Aspatria 1,166.61 1,361.05 1,555.48 1,749.92 2,138.79 2,527.66 2,916.53 3,499.84
Bassenthwaite 1,133.33 1,322.22 1,511.11 1,700.00 2,077.78 2,455.55 2,833.33 3,400.00
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 1,109.85 1,294.83 1,479.80 1,664.78 2,034.73 2,404.68 2,774.63 3,329.56
Blennerhasset & Torpenhow 1,148.38 1,339.78 1,531.17 1,722.57 2,105.36 2,488.15 2,870.95 3,445.14
Blindbothel 1,142.94 1,333.43 1,523.92 1,714.41 2,095.39 2,476.37 2,857.35 3,428.82
Blindcrake 1,138.65 1,328.43 1,518.20 1,707.98 2,087.53 2,467.08 2,846.63 3,415.96
Boltons 1,122.66 1,309.77 1,496.88 1,683.99 2,058.21 2,432.43 2,806.65 3,367.98
Borrowdale 1,134.10 1,323.13 1,512.14 1,701.16 2,079.19 2,457.23 2,835.26 3,402.32
Bothel & Threapland 1,131.61 1,320.22 1,508.81 1,697.42 2,074.62 2,451.83 2,829.03 3,394.84
Bowness 1,143.71 1,334.33 1,524.95 1,715.57 2,096.81 2,478.04 2,859.28 3,431.14
Bridekirk 1,123.90 1,311.22 1,498.53 1,685.85 2,060.48 2,435.11 2,809.75 3,371.70
Brigham 1,128.94 1,317.11 1,505.26 1,693.42 2,069.73 2,446.05 2,822.36 3,386.84
Bromfield 1,129.57 1,317.84 1,506.09 1,694.36 2,070.88 2,447.41 2,823.93 3,388.72
Broughton 1,127.16 1,315.03 1,502.88 1,690.75 2,066.47 2,442.19 2,817.91 3,381.50
Broughton Moor 1,158.50 1,351.58 1,544.66 1,737.75 2,123.92 2,510.08 2,896.25 3,475.50
Buttermere 1,123.83 1,311.14 1,498.44 1,685.75 2,060.36 2,434.97 2,809.58 3,371.50
Caldbeck 1,134.24 1,323.29 1,512.32 1,701.37 2,079.45 2,457.53 2,835.61 3,402.74
Camerton 1,126.20 1,313.91 1,501.60 1,689.31 2,064.71 2,440.11 2,815.51 3,378.62
Cockermouth 1,150.78 1,342.59 1,534.38 1,726.18 2,109.77 2,493.37 2,876.96 3,452.36
Crosscanonby 1,133.00 1,321.84 1,510.67 1,699.51 2,077.18 2,454.85 2,832.51 3,399.02
Dean 1,128.44 1,316.51 1,504.58 1,692.66 2,068.81 2,444.95 2,821.10 3,385.32
Dearham 1,134.42 1,323.50 1,512.56 1,701.64 2,079.78 2,457.92 2,836.06 3,403.28
Dundraw 1,129.17 1,317.37 1,505.56 1,693.76 2,070.15 2,446.54 2,822.93 3,387.52
Embleton 1,130.62 1,319.06 1,507.49 1,695.93 2,072.80 2,449.67 2,826.55 3,391.86
Gilcrux 1,158.90 1,352.05 1,545.20 1,738.35 2,124.65 2,510.95 2,897.25 3,476.70
Great Clifton 1,131.62 1,320.22 1,508.82 1,697.43 2,074.64 2,451.84 2,829.05 3,394.86
Greysouthen 1,146.28 1,337.34 1,528.38 1,719.43 2,101.52 2,483.62 2,865.71 3,438.86
Hayton & Mealo 1,143.56 1,334.16 1,524.75 1,715.35 2,096.54 2,477.73 2,858.91 3,430.70
Holme Abbey 1,146.68 1,337.79 1,528.90 1,720.02 2,102.25 2,484.47 2,866.70 3,440.04 *
Holme East Waver 1,145.86 1,336.84 1,527.81 1,718.79 2,100.74 2,482.69 2,864.65 3,437.58
Holme Low 1,121.41 1,308.32 1,495.21 1,682.12 2,055.92 2,429.73 2,803.53 3,364.24
Holme St Cuthbert 1,132.28 1,320.99 1,509.70 1,698.42 2,075.85 2,453.27 2,830.70 3,396.84
Ireby & Uldale 1,130.78 1,319.24 1,507.70 1,696.17 2,073.10 2,450.02 2,826.95 3,392.34
Keswick 1,180.65 1,377.43 1,574.20 1,770.98 2,164.53 2,558.08 2,951.63 3,541.96
Kirkbampton 1,138.40 1,328.13 1,517.86 1,707.60 2,087.07 2,466.53 2,846.00 3,415.20
Kirkbride 1,153.18 1,345.39 1,537.58 1,729.78 2,114.17 2,498.57 2,882.96 3,459.56

Page 99



APPENDIX B3

Page 96

Little Clifton 1,134.88 1,324.03 1,513.17 1,702.32 2,080.61 2,458.90 2,837.20 3,404.64
Lorton 1,132.66 1,321.45 1,510.22 1,699.00 2,076.55 2,454.11 2,831.66 3,398.00
Loweswater 1,121.66 1,308.61 1,495.55 1,682.50 2,056.39 2,430.28 2,804.16 3,365.00
Maryport 1,158.64 1,351.76 1,544.86 1,737.97 2,124.18 2,510.40 2,896.61 3,475.94
Papcastle 1,143.98 1,334.64 1,525.30 1,715.97 2,097.30 2,478.62 2,859.95 3,431.94
Plumbland 1,136.58 1,326.02 1,515.44 1,704.88 2,083.74 2,462.60 2,841.46 3,409.76
Seaton 1,134.20 1,323.23 1,512.26 1,701.30 2,079.37 2,457.43 2,835.50 3,402.60
Sebergham 1,132.69 1,321.48 1,510.25 1,699.04 2,076.60 2,454.17 2,831.73 3,398.08
Setmurthy 1,117.08 1,303.26 1,489.44 1,675.62 2,047.98 2,420.34 2,792.70 3,351.24
Silloth 1,242.00 1,449.01 1,656.00 1,863.01 2,277.01 2,691.01 3,105.01 3,726.02
St Johns & Castlerigg & Wythburn 1,134.88 1,324.04 1,513.18 1,702.33 2,080.62 2,458.92 2,837.21 3,404.66
Thursby 1,144.62 1,335.39 1,526.16 1,716.93 2,098.47 2,480.01 2,861.55 3,433.86
Underskiddaw 1,131.72 1,320.35 1,508.96 1,697.59 2,074.83 2,452.07 2,829.31 3,395.18
Waverton 1,122.53 1,309.62 1,496.71 1,683.80 2,057.98 2,432.15 2,806.33 3,367.60
Westnewton 1,145.87 1,336.85 1,527.83 1,718.81 2,100.77 2,482.72 2,864.68 3,437.62
Westward 1,123.17 1,310.37 1,497.56 1,684.76 2,059.15 2,433.54 2,807.93 3,369.52
Wigton 1,176.12 1,372.14 1,568.16 1,764.18 2,156.22 2,548.26 2,940.30 3,528.36
Winscales 1,144.40 1,335.13 1,525.86 1,716.60 2,098.07 2,479.53 2,861.00 3,433.20
Woodside 1,125.33 1,312.89 1,500.44 1,688.00 2,063.11 2,438.22 2,813.33 3,376.00
Workington 1,154.86 1,347.35 1,539.82 1,732.30 2,117.25 2,502.21 2,887.16 3,464.60
Wythop 1,135.86 1,325.17 1,514.48 1,703.79 2,082.41 2,461.03 2,839.65 3,407.58

Valuation Bands
A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Page 100



APPENDIX C

Page 97

 PARISH PRECEPT COUNCIL TAX BAND D 2017-18

Net Parish Parish 
Parish Tax Band D

Precept Base Rate
£ £

Above Derwent 25,468.24 662.86 38.42
Aikton 4,556.80 165.79 27.49
Allerby & Oughterside 10,161.99 193.25 52.58
Allhallows 9,023.28 174.96 51.57
Allonby 10,000.00 159.34 62.76
Aspatria 61,355.23 720.67 85.14
Bassenthwaite 7,350.00 208.71 35.22
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 0.00 17.42 0.00
Blennerhasset & Torpenhow 9,393.01 162.54 57.79
Blindbothel 3,400.00 68.51 49.63
Blindcrake 6,236.39 144.35 43.20
Boltons 4,858.51 252.87 19.21
Borrowdale 6,895.00 189.55 36.38
Bothel & Threapland 5,368.58 164.50 32.64
Bowness 18,784.00 369.87 50.79
Bridekirk 6,341.00 300.95 21.07
Brigham 9,760.87 340.82 28.64
Bromfield 5,901.80 199.55 29.58
Broughton 14,765.00 568.49 25.97
Broughton Moor 15,876.66 217.59 72.97
Buttermere 1,396.98 66.61 20.97
Caldbeck 11,811.69 322.78 36.59
Camerton 1,500.00 61.16 24.53
Cockermouth 190,418.00 3,101.17 61.40
Crosscanonby 12,139.98 349.56 34.73
Dean 14,156.41 507.74 27.88
Dearham 27,735.23 752.48 36.86
Dundraw 1,703.32 58.77 28.98
Embleton 4,651.29 149.32 31.15
Gilcrux 8,547.83 116.18 73.57
Great Clifton 10,000.00 306.25 32.65
Greysouthen 11,864.92 217.10 54.65
Hayton & Mealo 4,017.17 79.43 50.57
Holme Abbey 12,270.80 222.12 55.24 *
Holme East Waver 6,500.00 120.35 54.01
Holme Low 1,874.62 108.12 17.34
Holme St Cuthbert 4,935.02 146.68 33.64
Ireby & Uldale 6,388.75 203.53 31.39
Keswick 219,051.31 2,062.61 106.20
Kirkbampton 7,500.00 175.16 42.82
Kirkbride 9,700.00 149.23 65.00
Little Clifton 5,315.50 141.58 37.54

Page 101



APPENDIX C

Page 98

Lorton 5,445.09 159.13 34.22
Loweswater 2,404.88 135.73 17.72
Maryport 191,165.41 2,611.79 73.19
Papcastle 9,259.78 180.90 51.19
Plumbland 5,000.00 124.70 40.10
Seaton 53,188.61 1,456.37 36.52
Sebergham 4,800.00 140.10 34.26
Setmurthy 560.52 51.73 10.84
Silloth 170,912.00 862.19 198.23
St Johns & Castlerigg & Wythburn 7,351.89 195.77 37.55
Thursby 21,738.33 416.81 52.15
Underskiddaw 5,547.50 169.06 32.81
Waverton 2,111.34 111.01 19.02
Westnewton 4,873.79 90.21 54.03
Westward 6,427.52 321.76 19.98
Wigton 166,180.54 1,671.88 99.40
Winscales 2,945.18 56.84 51.82
Woodside 4,628.26 199.28 23.22
Workington 439,030.00 6,501.99 67.52
Wythop 989.18 25.36 39.01

TOTAL 1,913,535.00 30,183.13

Net Parish Parish 
Parish Tax Band D

Precept Base Rate
£ £

Page 102



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 1 March 2017

Recommendations Referred to Council

Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy and 
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2017/18

The following recommendations have been referred to Council by the Audit 
Committee at its meeting held on 17 February 2017. It is for Council to consider its 
response.

Recommended

That Council be requested to approve:

1. The proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement & Investment 
Strategy for 2017/18 (included in sections 2 and 3 of Appendix 1)

2. The Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement set out in section 4 (of 
Appendix 1)

3. The prudential and treasury indicators - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit set out in Section 5 (of Appendix 1)

Dean Devine
Temporary Democratic and Support Services Manager

Page 103

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 104



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Audit Committee - 17th February 2017 
Council – 1st March 2017 

 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy and 
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement  

2017/18 
 

  
The Reason for the Decision Provisions contained in the Local Government Act 

2003, statutory guidance issued by the Department 
for Communities and Local Government (CLG) and 
codes of practice issued by the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) require 
the Council to prepare and approve, before the start 
of each financial year: 

 a Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
(TMSS) and Investment Strategy setting out 
its proposed treasury management activities 
for the year and policies for the prudent 
management of its investments 

 a statement of its policy on making Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) indicating how it is 
proposed to discharge the duty to make 
prudent MRP in the forthcoming financial year 

 a set of prescribed prudential and treasury 
indicators for the forthcoming and following 
years - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit - demonstrating that its 
capital expenditure plans are affordable and 
that external borrowing is within prudent and 
sustainable levels. 

  
Summary of options considered  N/A   
  
Recommendations It is recommended that Members approve:  

a) the proposed Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement & Investment Strategy for 2017/18 
(included in sections 2 and 3 of Appendix 1)  

b) the MRP Policy Statement set out in section 4 
(of Appendix 1).  

c)  the prudential and treasury indicators -including 
the Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit set out 
in Section 5 (of Appendix 1). 

  
 
 

 
 

Page 105



Financial/Resource Implications None directly, however the Council provides for 
interest receivable and interest payable and MRP  
within its annual revenue budget. 

  
Legal Implications Noted above 
  
Community Safety Implications None directly 
  
Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications 

The Council regards the successful identification, 
monitoring and control of risk to be the prime criteria 
by which the effectiveness of its treasury 
management activities will be measured.   

  

Equality Duty considered/Impact 
Assessment completed 

N/A 
 

  
Wards Affected None directly 
  
The contribution this decision 
would make to the Council’s 
Strategic Objectives 

Effective treasury management and compliance with 
the Prudential Code will provide support towards the 
achievement of the Council’s business and service 
objectives. 

  
Is this a Key Decision No 
  
Portfolio Holder Cllr Barbara Cannon 
  
Lead Officer  Barry Lennox  

Financial Services Manager    
Ext: 2586  
email: barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk  

 
 
Report Implications (Please delete where applicable). 
 
Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N 

Financial  Y Employment (internal) N 

Legal Y Partnership N 

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N 

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N 

 

Background papers    

Appendix 1:  Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment 
Strategy and Minimum Revenue Policy Statement - 2017/18 

 

Page 106



1.0 Introduction 

1.1 Provisions contained in the Local Government Act 2003, statutory guidance 
and regulations issued by the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (CLG) and codes of practice issued by the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), require the Council to prepare and 
approve, before the start of each financial year: 

 a Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 
Strategy setting out its proposed treasury management activities for 
the year and policies for the prudent management of its investments 

 a statement of its policy on making Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) indicating how it is proposed to discharge the duty to make 
prudent MRP in the forthcoming financial year 

 a set of prescribed prudential and treasury indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit - demonstrating that its capital expenditure plans are 
affordable and that external borrowing is within prudent and 
sustainable levels. 

1.2 This report - prepared in accordance with the statutory framework and codes 
of practice issued by CIPFA in relation to treasury management and capital 
finance - presents for approval by the full council, the Council’s proposed:  

 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 
for 2017/18  

 Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement for 2017/18 

 Prudential and treasury indicators for 2017/18 to 2019/20.  

1.3 The Council’s proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement, 
Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy for 
2017/18 are appended to this report (Appendix 1). The proposed TMSS, 
Investment Strategy and MRP policy for 2017/18 includes no significant 
changes to the policies and strategies adopted in respect of the financial year 
2016/17. 

1.4 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring effective 
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies the Council’s 
Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) require treasury management 
reports - including the report covering those matters listed in paragraph 1.2 
above - to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to their consideration by 
full council. 

1.5 The following sections provide an overview and summary of the contents of 
the proposed TMSS, Investment Strategy and MRP policy statement included 
in Appendix 1 to this report. 

 

 

Page 107



2.0  Treasury Management Strategy Statement   

2.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement sets out the Council’s 
proposed treasury management activities for the year - based on budget 
proposals, interest rate forecasts and economic outlook.   

2.2 The issues covered in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement include: 

 the current treasury position  

 treasury indicators required by CIPFAs Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities and Treasury Management in the Public 
Services: Code of Practice and accompanying sector guidance   

 economic background and prospects for interest rates  

 borrowing strategy   

 policy on borrowing in advance of need   

 debt rescheduling   

 policy on the use of derivatives 

 the process adopted for reviewing and addressing the training needs of 
officers and members in relation to treasury management 

 use of treasury management consultants including services provided 
and procedures employed for monitoring the quality of those services. 

2.3 The Council’s treasury activities expose it to a number of financial and 
operational risks including credit and counterparty risk, liquidity risk, and 
interest rate risk. The Council’s Treasury Management Policy Statement 
highlights the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk as being 
the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management 
activities will be measured.  Risk management is therefore central to the 
Council’s adopted treasury management and investment strategies. 

3.0 Investment Strategy 

3.1 The Annual Investment Strategy for 2017/18 - included in section 3 of 
Appendix 1- sets out the Council’s policies for the prudent financial 
management of its investments and for giving priority first to the security of 
those investments and secondly, to their liquidity.  

3.2 The contents of the Council’s Investment Strategy follow the 
recommendations set out in the CLG Guidance on Local Government 
Investments (second edition). It includes: 

 procedures for determining the counterparties with whom investments 
may be placed, including the Council’s approach on the use of credit 
ratings and other sources of information to assess credit and 
counterparty risk   

 the types of investment instruments that may be used 

Page 108



 limits placed on the amount that may be invested with any single 
institution or group of institutions  

 limits on the maximum period for which funds may be prudently 
committed 

 reporting arrangements.  

4.0  Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 2017/18 

4.1 The MRP is an annual amount required to be set aside from the General Fund 
to meet the capital cost of expenditure funded by borrowing or through credit 
arrangements such as on balance sheet leasing arrangements (finance 
leases). The Council’s proposed MRP policy, setting out how it will discharge 
the duty under the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (as amended) to make prudent MRP in the 
financial year, is set out in section 4 of Appendix 1.  It includes: 

 a description of what MRP is intended to achieve 

 commentary on the Council’s underlying duty to make prudent 
provision and ensure that debt is repaid over a period commensurate 
with that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits, or - for 
borrowing supported by central government funding (Revenue Support 
Grant) - over the period implicit in the determination of that funding 

 consideration of the ‘options’ for calculating MRP outlined in the 
statutory guidance on MRP and the restrictions on their use 

 the policy proposed for the forthcoming year.  

4.2 Having regard to the statutory guidance on MRP issued by CLG and the 
‘options’ for calculating MRP set out in that guidance the Council will calculate 
MRP:  

 for all capital expenditure funded from borrowing incurred before 1 April 
2008 and for all supported capital expenditure funded from borrowing 
incurred on or after 1 April 2008, based on 4% of Capital Financing 
Requirement at the end of the preceding financial year (Option 2- CFR 
method)   

 for unsupported capital expenditure funded from borrowing expenditure 
incurred after 1 April 2008 by applying Option 3 - Asset Life Method, 
using either the equal instalments or annuity method  

 for credit arrangements such as on balance sheet leasing 
arrangements (finance leases) by charging an amount (MRP) equal to 
the element of the rent/charge that goes to write down the balance 
sheet liability.  

5.0  Prudential & Treasury Indicators  

5.1 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires local 
authorities to self-regulate the affordability, prudence and sustainability of their 
capital expenditure and borrowing plans, by setting estimates and limits and 

Page 109



by publishing actuals for a range of prudential indicators. It also requires them 
to ensure their treasury management practices are in accordance with good 
practice.  

5.2 The prudential and treasury indicators for the forthcoming and following years 
must be set before the beginning of the forthcoming year. They may be 
revised at any time, following due process, and must be reviewed, and revised 
if appropriate, for the current year when the prudential indicators are set for 
the following year. 

5.3 The Council’s prudential and treasury indicators for 2017/18 and following 
years are set out in section 5 of Appendix 1. They include:  

 indicators required by the Prudential Code covering affordability, 
prudence, capital expenditure, external debt and treasury 
management. These include the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (the 
Authorised Limit for External Debt) 

 indicators required by the sector guidance accompanying the Treasury 
Management Code and designed to ensure the Council operates its 
treasury activities within defined limits 

6.0  Recommendations  

6.1 It is recommended that Members approve:  

a) the proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement & 
Investment Strategy for 2017/18 (included in sections 2 and 3 of 
Appendix 1)  

b) the MRP Policy Statement set out in section 4 (of Appendix 1).  

c)  the prudential and treasury indicators -including the Council’s 
Authorised Borrowing Limit set out in Section 5 (of Appendix 1). 

 

Page 110



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement & 
Investment Strategy 

Minimum Revenue  
Provision Policy 

2017/2018 
 

 

 

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit” 
 

Page 111



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 2 

 

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

Page 112



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 3 

 

Contents     

1.  Introduction ........................................................................................................ 4 

1.1   Background  .................................................................................................. 4 

1.2   Reporting requirements  ................................................................................ 4 

2.  Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) ........................................ 6 

2.1   Current treasury position  .............................................................................. 6 

2.2   Treasury Indicators: limits on borrowing & investing activity  ........................ 6 

2.3   Prospects for interest rates  .......................................................................... 7 

2.4   Borrowing strategy  ..................................................................................... 11 

2.5   Policy on borrowing in advance of need  ..................................................... 11 

2.6   Debt rescheduling  ...................................................................................... 12 

2.7   Policy on the use of derivatives   ................................................................. 13 

2.8   Training  ...................................................................................................... 13 

2.9 Treasury management consultants  ........................................................... 14 

3.  Annual Investment Strategy ............................................................................ 15 

3.1   Investment policy - objectives ..................................................................... 15 

3.2   Creditworthiness policy (credit risk management) ....................................... 15 

3.3   Approved investment counterparties  .......................................................... 15 

3.4   Approved instruments ................................................................................. 17 

3.5   Limits on principal sums invested................................................................ 18 

3.6   Limits on investment maturities ................................................................... 18 

3.7   Sovereign credit ratings .............................................................................. 19 

3.8   Reporting arrangements   ........................................................................... 20 

4.  Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement ................................... 21 

5.  Prudential & treasury Indicators 2017/18 - 2019/20 ....................................... 24 

5.1   Indicators required by the Prudential Code  ................................................ 24 

5.2   Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code ............................. 30 

6.  Appendices ....................................................................................................... 33 

A.   Interest Rate Forecasts 2017 - 2020 ............................................................ 34 

B.   Economic Background  ................................................................................. 35 

C.   Short & Long term credit ratings  .................................................................. 43 

 

 

 

Page 113



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 4 

 

1. Introduction  

1.1  Background 

1.1.1 For public sector organisations, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) defines treasury management as “the management of 
the organisations investments and cash flows, its banking, money market 
and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated 
with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks”.  

1.1.2 This definition expects a ‘best value’ approach in which authorities should 
seek to minimise the cost of borrowing (or maximise the returns from 
investment), subject to the over-riding management of risks, with risk 
limitation being more important than return (yield). 

1.1.3 The statutory framework for treasury management within local authorities is 
laid out in a series of legislations, statutory guidance and codes of practice, 
the key elements of which are:  

 The Local Government Act 2003 - (‘the 2003 Act’) 

 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting)(England) 
Regulations 2003 (as amended) - (‘the 2003 Regulations’)  

 Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG) Guidance 
on Local Government Investments - second edition (March 2010) 

 CLG guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision - third edition (February 
2012) 

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities - 2011 
Edition - (‘the Prudential Code’) 

 CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 
and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 2011 Edition - (‘the Treasury 
Management Code’) 

1.2  Reporting requirements 

1.2.1 Provisions contained in the Local Government Act 2003, statutory guidance 
and regulations issued by the Department for Communities and Local 
Government and Codes of Practice issued by CIPFA in relation to treasury 
management and capital finance, require local authorities to prepare and 
approve, before the start of each financial year: 

 a Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 
Strategy setting out its proposed treasury management activities for 
the year - based on budget proposals, interest rate forecasts and 
economic outlook - and policies for the prudent management of its 
investments 

 a statement of its policy on making Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) indicating how, in the forthcoming financial year, the duty to 
make prudent MRP will be discharged 

Page 114



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 5 

 

 a set of prescribed prudential and treasury indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit - demonstrating that its capital expenditure plans are 
affordable and that external borrowing is within prudent and 
sustainable levels. 

1.2.2 The Treasury Management Code also requires authorities to ensure that the 
Full Council receives:  

 a mid-year review providing:  

- an update on the economic environment  and interest rate 
forecasts 

- a Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment 
Strategy update, including details of variations (if any) from 
agreed policies/practices 

- a review of investing and borrowing activities  

- confirmation of compliance with treasury and prudential 
indicators.  

 after the year-end, an annual report on the performance of the 
treasury management function, on the effects of the decisions taken 
and the transactions executed in the past year, and on any 
circumstances of non-compliance with the Council’s treasury 
management policy statement. 

1.2.3 This document - prepared in accordance with the statutory framework and 
codes of practice referred to above - sets out the Council’s:  

 Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 
Strategy for 2017/18  

 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement for 2017/18 

 Prudential and treasury indicators for the three year period 2017/18 to 
2019/20.  

1.2.4 The TMSS and Investment Strategy, MRP policy and the prudential and 
treasury indicators are required to be approved by Full Council prior to the 
commencement of the financial year to which they relate. 

1.2.5 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring 
effective scrutiny of treasury management strategy and policies the Council’s 
Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) require treasury management 
reports - including this report - to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to 
their consideration by Full Council. 

 

Page 115



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 6 

 

2.  Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

2.1  Current treasury position  

2.1.1 The Council’s treasury portfolio position at 31st December 2016 is 
summarised in table 1. Table 1 also shows a comparison of the Council’s 
actual external debt (borrowing) postion with its underlying capital borrowing 
need (the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or 
under borrowing. 

Table 1: Investment and borrowing 

 At 31 
Dec 2016  

£000 

At 31 
Mar 2016  

£000 

At 31 
Dec 2015  

£000 

At 31 
Mar 2015  

£000 

Investments     

Specified Investments:      

Term, call & notice accounts  4,334 3,216 2,874 7,024 

Money Market Funds  11,391 6,351 10,316 3,813 

Non-specified investments:     

UK Government securities 0 0 0 1 

Equities  11 11 10 10 

Total investments 15,736 9,578 13,200 10,848 

Borrowing      

PWLB 13,693 13,829 9,833 9,885 

Other borrowing 94 94 93 245 

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total (gross) debt 13,787 13,923 9,926 10,130 

Capital Financing Requirement 18,375 17,449 14,009 13,355 

(Under)/Over borrowing  (4,588) (3,526) (4,083) (3,225) 

2.2  Treasury Indicators: limits on borrowing and lending activity 

2.2.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires a local authority to create and keep 
under review limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of 
loans and other forms of credit (for example finance leases). The processes 
authorities must follow in setting these limits (the ‘Authorised Limit for 
external debt’) are set out in the Prudential Code which authorities must 
‘have regard to’. An authority is free to vary its affordable borrowing limit - 
subject to approval by Full Council – provided there is good reason for doing 
so. However breach of the Affordable Borrowing Limit is prohibited by the 
2003 Act and any borrowing above the affordable borrowing limit is ultra-
vires. 

2.2.2 In addition to the Authorised Limit the Prudential and Treasury Management 
Codes and accompanying sector guidance include a number of other key 
treasury management indicators designed to ensure the Council operates its 
treasury activities within well-defined limits. These include: 

Page 116



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 7 

 

 setting an operational boundary for external debt based on the 
expectations of the most likely maximum external debt for the year and 
reflecting the authority’s plans for capital expenditure, estimated capital 
financing requirement (CFR) and cash flow requirements for the year 
for all purposes 

 ensuring that gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the 
total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
CFR for current and the following two financial years. 

 placing upper limits on:  

- fixed interest and variable interest rate exposures 

- the total of principal sums invested longer than 364 days 

 placing upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of its fixed rate 
borrowing. 

2.2.3 Details of the Council’s prudential and treasury indicators are set out in 
section 5 of this report. 

2.3   Prospects for interest rates  

2.3.1 The Council has appointed Capita Asset Services as its treasury advisor. 
Part of their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest 
rates. Capita Asset Services undertook its latest review of interest rate 
forecasts in November 2016. These latest forecasts take into account the 
Bank of England quarterly Inflation Report for November 2016, the decision 
of the MPC meeting of 3 November, and the US Presidential election of 8 
November.  

Table 2: Forecast interest rates 2017-2020 

Quarter ending Bank Rate PWLB Borrowing Rates1  

 % 5 year % 10 year % 25 year % 50 year % 

26 Jan 2017 0.25 1.55 2.34 2.96 2.72 

Mar 2017 0.25 1.60 2.30 2.90 2.70 

Jun 2017 0.25 1.60 2.30 2.90 2.70 

Sep 2017 0.25 1.60 2.30 2.90 2.70 

Dec 2017 0.25 1.60 2.30 3.00 2.80 

Mar 2018 0.25 1.70 2.30 3.00 2.80 

Jun 2018 0.25 1.70 2.40 3.00 2.80 

Sept 2018 0.25 1.70 2.40 3.10 2.90 

Dec 2018 0.25 1.80 2.40 3.10 2.90 

Mar 2019 0.25 1.80 2.50 3.20 3.00 

Jun 2019 0.50 1.90 2.50 3.20 3.00 

Sept 2019 0.50 1.90 2.60 3.30 3.10 

Dec 2019 0.75 2.00 2.60 3.30 3.10 

Mar 2020 0.75 2.00 2.70 3.40 3.20 

 1
Certainty rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from the standard new loan rates. Certainty rates 

apply to authorities who provided DCLG with required information on their plans for long-term 

borrowing and associated capital spending. 

Page 117



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 8 

 

2.3.2 These forecasts are based on the PWLB Certainty Rate (standard new loan 
rate minus 20 basis points) which has been accessible to most authorities 
since 2012. It includes a first increase in the Bank Rate in quarter 2 of 2019, 
together with a trend of rising PWLB borrowing rates over the forecast period. 

2.3.3 The Monetary Policy Committee, (MPC), cut the Bank Rate from 0.50% to 
0.25% on 4th August in order to counteract what it forecast was going to be a 
sharp slowdown in growth in the second half of 2016.  It also gave a strong 
steer that it was likely to cut Bank Rate again by the end of the year if the 
economic outlook remained broadly consistent with the one set out in the 
Bank of England’s August Inflation Report. However, economic data since 
August has indicated much stronger growth in the second half 2016 than 
forecast. Inflation forecasts have also risen substantially as a result of a 
continuation of the sharp fall in the value of sterling since early August. 
Consequently, the Bank Rate was not cut again in November or December 
and on current trends, it now appears unlikely that there will be another cut, 
although that cannot be completely ruled out if there was a significant dip 
downwards in economic growth.    

2.3.4 During the two-year period 2017 to 2019, when the UK is negotiating the 
terms for withdrawal from the EU, it is likely that the MPC will do nothing to 
dampen growth prospects, (i.e. by raising Bank Rate), which will already be 
adversely impacted by the uncertainties of what form Brexit will eventually 
take.  Accordingly, a first increase to 0.50% is not tentatively pencilled in, as 
in the table above, until quarter 2 of 2019, after those negotiations have been 
concluded, (though the period for negotiations could be extended). However, 
if strong domestically generated inflation, (e.g. from wage increases within 
the UK), were to emerge, then the pace and timing of increases in Bank Rate 
could be brought forward. 

2.3.5 Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many external 
influences weighing on the UK. The above forecasts (and also MPC 
decisions), will, therefore, be liable to further amendment depending on how 
economic data and developments in financial markets transpire over the next 
year. Geopolitical developments, especially in the EU, could also have a 
major impact. Forecasts for average investment earnings beyond the three-
year time horizon will be heavily dependent on economic and political 
developments.  

2.3.6 The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is probably to the 
downside, particularly in view of the current uncertainty over the final terms of 
Brexit and the timetable for its implementation. 

2.3.7 In line with the base rate forecasts investment returns are likely to remain low 
during 2017/18 and beyond. As a consequence there will remain a cost of 
carry to any new long-term borrowing that causes a temporary increase in cash 
balances as this position will, most likely, incur a revenue cost – the difference 
between borrowing costs and investment returns. 

2.3.8 PWLB rates and gilt yields have been experiencing exceptional levels of 
volatility that have been highly correlated to geo-political, sovereign debt 

Page 118



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 9 

 

crisis and emerging market developments. It is likely that these exceptional 
levels of volatility could continue for the foreseeable future as investor fears 
and confidence ebb and flow between favouring more risky assets i.e. 
equities, or the safe haven of bonds. 

2.3.9 Notwithstanding the exceptional levels of volatility experienced over the 
course of 2016 borrowing interest rates have been on a generally downward 
trend during most of 2016. Rates fell sharply to historically low levels in the 
immediate aftermath of the EU referendum. Further sharp falls followed in early 
August following the Bank of England’s decision to cut the bank rate and expand 
its quantitative easing programme. 

2.3.10 After reaching exceptionally low levels in August, gilt yields (and PWLB 
borrowing rates) have since risen sharply due to a rise in concerns around a 
‘hard Brexit’, the fall in the value of sterling and an increase in inflation 
expectations. 

2.3.11 The overall longer-run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise, albeit 
gently. It has long been expected that at some point, there would be a start to 
a switch back from bonds to equities after a historic long-term trend over 
about the last twenty five years of falling bond yields.  The action of central 
banks since the financial crash of 2008, in implementing substantial 
quantitative easing purchases of bonds, added further impetus to this 
downward trend in bond yields and rising prices of bonds.  The opposite side 
of this coin has been a rise in equity values as investors searched for higher 
returns and took on riskier assets.   

2.3.12 The sharp rise in bond yields since the US Presidential election, has called 
into question whether, or when, this trend has, or may, reverse, especially 
when America is likely to lead the way in reversing monetary policy.  Until 
2015, monetary policy was focused on providing stimulus to economic growth 
but has since started to refocus on countering the threat of rising inflationary 
pressures as strong economic growth becomes more firmly established.  

2.3.13 The expected substantial rise in the Federal Reserve Rate over the next few 
years may make holding US bonds much less attractive and cause their 
prices to fall and therefore bond yields to rise. Rising bond yields in the US 
would be likely to exert some upward pressure on bond yields in other 
developed countries but the degree of that upward pressure is likely to be 
dampened by how strong, or weak, the prospects for economic growth and 
rising inflation are in each country, and on the degree of progress in the 
reversal of monetary policy away from quantitative easing and other credit 
stimulus measures. 

2.3.14 Over the next few years the Federal Reserve Rate is likely to go up more 
quickly and more strongly than Bank Rate in the UK.  Whilst there is normally 
a high degree of correlation between treasury and gilt yields, there is an 
expectation of a growing decoupling between the two rates with US yields 
expected to go up faster than UK yields. This situation will need to be 
monitored closely along with the resulting effect on PWLB rates. 

Page 119



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 10 

 

2.3.15 Apart from the above uncertainties, downside risks to current forecasts for 
UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include:  

 monetary policy action by the central banks of major economies 
reaching its limit of effectiveness and failing to stimulate significant 
sustainable growth, combat the threat of deflation (especially the 
Eurozone and Japan) and reduce high levels of debt in some 
countries, combined with a lack of adequate action from national 
governments to promote growth through structural reforms, fiscal 
policy and investment expenditure 

 major national polls:  

- Italian constitutional referendum 4.12.16; resulted in a ‘No’ 
vote which led to the resignation of Prime Minister Renzi. This 
means that Italy needs to appoint a new government 

- Spain has a minority government with only 137 seats out of 
350 after already having had two inconclusive general 
elections in 2015 and 2016. This is potentially highly unstable.  

- Dutch general election 15.3.17  

- French presidential election - April/May 2017  

- French National Assembly election - June 2017  

- German Federal election August - October 2017  

 a resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, with Greece 
being a particular problem and stress arising from disagreement 
between EU countries on free movement of people and how to 
handle a huge influx of immigrants and terrorist threats 

 weak capitalisation of some European banks, especially Italian 

 geopolitical risks in Europe, the Middle East and Asia, causing a 
significant increase in safe haven flows. 

 UK economic growth and increases in inflation turning weaker than 
currently anticipated 

 weak growth or recession in the UK’s main trading partners - the EU 
and US.  

2.3.16 The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB 
rates, especially for longer term PWLB rates, include:  

 UK inflation rising to significantly higher levels than in the wider EU 
and in the US, causing an increase in the inflation premium inherent 
to gilt yields  

 a rise in US Treasury yields as a result of US Federal Funds Rate 
increases and rising inflation expectations in the USA, dragging UK 
gilt yields upwards 

 the pace and timing of increases in the US Federal Funds Rate 
causing a fundamental reassessment by investors of the relative 
risks of holding bonds as opposed to equities and leading to a major 
flight from bonds to equities 

Page 120



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 11 

 

 a downward revision to the UK’s sovereign credit rating undermining 
investor confidence in holding sovereign debt (gilts). 

2.3.17 A more detailed commentary on the economic background underpinning current 
interest rate forecasts is included in Appendix B. 

2.4  Borrowing strategy  

2.4.1 The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position (see table 
1).  This means that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing 
Requirement - CFR), has not been fully funded with loan debt. By utilising 
cash from reserves, revenue balances  and favourable cashflow the Council 
has been able to avoid the need to borrow up to the level of the CFR. This 
has allowed the Council to minimise borrowing costs and reduce treasury risk 
by reducing its external investment balances. This strategy is prudent as 
investment returns are low and counterparty risk is still an issue that needs to 
be considered. The Council will continue with this policy during 2017/18 to 
the extent permitted by its liquidity requirements and the effective 
management of its interest rate exposures.  

2.4.2 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution 
will be adopted with the 2017/18 treasury operations.  Treasury staff will 
monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to 
changing circumstances: 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long and 
short-term rates (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse 
into recession or of risks of deflation), then long-term borrowings will 
be postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into 
short term borrowing will be considered. 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in 
long and short-term rates than that currently forecast, (e.g. due an 
acceleration in the start date and in the rate of increase in central rates 
in the USA and UK, to a greater than expected increase in global 
economic activity or a sudden increase in inflation risks), then the 
portfolio position will be re-appraised with the likely action being that 
fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates are still lower than 
they will be in the next few years. 

2.4.3 Any decisions taken in this regard will be reported to members at the next 
available opportunity. 

2.5  Policy on borrowing in advance of need   

2.5.1 The Local Government Act 2003 allows local authorities to borrow or invest 
for ‘‘any purpose relevant to its functions, under any enactment’’, or “for the 
purpose of the prudent management of its financial affairs”. This allows the 
temporary investment of funds borrowed for the purposes of expenditure in 
the near future. However, the speculative procedure of borrowing purely or 
explicitly for the purpose of re-investment remains unlawful. 

Page 121



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 12 

 

2.5.2 The Council will not borrow more than, or in advance of, its needs purely in 
order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision 
to borrow in advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing 
Requirement estimates and will be considered carefully to ensure that value 
for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security 
of such funds.  

2.5.3 Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to 
prior appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual 
reporting mechanism.  

2.6  Debt rescheduling  

2.6.1 Debt rescheduling includes the premature repayment of loans and the 
replacement of existing loans with new loans on different terms (repayment 
method, loan period, interest rate). The reasons for rescheduling include:  

 aligning long-term cash flow projections and debt levels in order 
redistribute the burden of debt financing costs between years of account  

 generating savings in risk adjusted interest costs 

 rebalancing the interest rate structure of the debt portfolio to reduce 
exposures to interest rate risk   

 changing the size and/or maturity profile of the debt portfolio to reduce 
refinancing risk exposures and/or align the debt maturity profile with the 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes (the capital financing 
requirement).   

2.6.2 As short-term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term 
fixed interest rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings 
by switching from long-term debt to short-term debt.  However, these savings 
will need to be considered in the light of the current treasury position and the 
size of the cost of debt repayment (premiums incurred).  

2.6.3 Consideration will also be given to identifying if there is any residual potential 
for making savings by running down investment balances to repay debt 
prematurely as short-term rates on investments are likely to be lower than 
rates paid on current debt.   

2.6.4 The economic environment and consequent structure of interest rates has 
limited the Council’s rescheduling opportunities during recent years. The 
Council will however continue to monitor interest rate structures for 
opportunities to reschedule debt in order to generate savings and/or 
rebalance risks within the loan portfolio. All rescheduling will be reported to 
the Audit Committee and Full Council at the earliest meeting following its 
action. 

 

 

Page 122



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 13 

 

2.7  Policy on the use of derivatives   

2.7.1 The Council will only use derivatives for the management of risk and for the 
prudent management of its financial affairs. Transactions involving 
standalone derivative products such as forward rate agreements, interest 
rate swaps and options (interest rate caps, floors and collars) require 
authorisation by the Head of Financial Services and will only be entered into:  

 after seeking proper advice to ensure the product is fully understood 
including how underlying risks are affected and the additional risks that 
may result from its use (for example credit exposure to derivative 
counterparties) 

 after seeking confirmation that the Council has legal power to enter into 
the transaction 

 where use of the product can be shown to reduce the overall level of 
financial risks the Council is exposed to (after taking into consideration 
additional risks that may result from use of the derivative instrument) 

 after ensuring treasury staff have received training to ensure competent 
use of the product. 

2.7.2 Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that 
meets the approved investment criteria outlined in section 3 below. The 
current value of any amount due from a derivative counterparty will count 
against the counterparty limits set out in paragraph 3.5.1. 

2.8  Training   

2.8.1 CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral 
Guidance Notes require the responsible officer (the Head of Financial 
Services) to ensure that:  

 all staff involved in the treasury management function are fully equipped 
to undertake the duties and responsibilities allocated to them 

 members tasked with treasury management responsibilities, including 
those responsible for scrutiny, have access to training relevant to their 
needs and those responsibilities. 

2.8.2 In complying with these requirements the Council regularly reviews the 
training needs of officers and members and training will be arranged as 
required to ensure that officers and members have the requisite skills and 
knowledge.  

Page 123



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 14 

 

2.9  Treasury management consultants  

2.9.1 The Council currently uses Capita Asset Services, Treasury Solutions (Capita) 
as its external treasury management advisors. They provide a range of 
services to the Council including: 

 technical support on treasury matters and capital finance issues 

 economic and interest rate analysis 

 debt services including advice on the timing of borrowing 

 debt rescheduling advice  

 generic investment advice on interest rates, timing and investment 
instruments 

 credit ratings and creditworthiness information.  

2.9.2 The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is 
not placed upon our external service providers.  It also recognises that there is 
value in employing external providers of treasury management services in order 
to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council will ensure that 
the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be 
assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review.  

2.9.3  Capita Asset Services were appointed in 2013 for the three year period 2013-
2016. An exercise for the procurement treasury advisory services for the 
three year period 2017/18 to 2019/20 will be completed during 2016/17. Any 
changes to the arrangements and methodologies described in this document 
following completion of this exercise will be reported to members at the 
earliest available opportunity thereafter.  

Page 124



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 15 

 

3.  Annual Investment Strategy 

3.1  Investment policy - objectives  

3.1.1 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the CLG’s Guidance on Local 
Government Investments (‘CLG Investment Guidance’) and CIPFA’s 
Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-
Sectoral Guidance Notes 2011Edition (‘the Treasury Management Code’). 

3.1.2 Accordingly, the Council’s primary policy objective in relation to its investment 
activity is to ensure the security of principal sums invested in priority to 
liquidity (second) and yield (third). The Council will aim to achieve the 
optimum return on its investments commensurate with the proper levels of 
security and liquidity. However, yield will only determine investment decisions 
when deciding between two or more investments satisfying security and 
liquidity objectives. 

3.2  Creditworthiness policy (credit risk management)  

3.2.1 Ensuring the security of principal sums invested is achieved through active 
management of the Council’s credit risk exposures. This includes placing 
restrictions and limits on:  

 the counterparties with whom investments may be placed based on the 
creditworthiness of the counterparty (section 3.3) 

 the types of investment instruments that may be used (section 3.4) 

 the amount invested with any single institution or group of institutions on 
the Council’s list of approved counterparties  (section 3.5) 

 the duration of individual investment instruments depending on the 
financial standing (creditworthiness) of the counterparty (section 3.6). 

3.3  Approved investment counterparties   

3.3.1 Counterparties with whom investments may be placed are restricted to 
financial institutions and other bodies of high credit quality. High credit quality 
financial institutions and other bodies are defined by the Council as those 
with a minimum long-term rating across all three of the main credit ratings 
agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) of A- or equivalent (AA+ or 
equivalent for non-UK sovereigns). 

3.3.2 The minimum rating criteria applied by the Council uses the lowest common 
denominator method of selecting counterparties and applying limits.  This 
means the Council’s minimum criteria will apply to the lowest available rating 
for any institution.  For example, if an institution is rated by two agencies, one 
rating meets the Council’s criteria, the other does not, the institution will fall 
outside the lending criteria and will be excluded from the list of approved 
counterparties.   

Page 125



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 16 

 

3.3.3 Whilst credit ratings remain a key source of information they are not the sole 
determinant of the Council’s assessment of the credit quality of potential 
counterparties. Before making investment decisions reference will also be 
made to: 

 ratings outlooks (indicating the likely direction of an issuer's rating 
over the medium term)  

 credit watches and watchlists (indicating that downgrading or 
upgrading of the credit rating could be imminent)  

 sovereign ratings and support mechanisms 

 credit default swap (CDS) spreads (indicating perceived market 
sentiment regarding the credit risk associated with a particular 
institution and an early warning of potential creditworthiness 
problems which may only belatedly lead to actual changes in credit 
ratings). 

3.3.4 This information is fully integrated into the creditworthiness methodology 
used by the Council’s treasury advisors,Capita Asset Services to produce its 
colour coded ratings assessment to indicate the relative creditworthiness of 
potential counterparties. Information provided by this ratings assessment is 
used by the Council to determine the maximum duration of individual 
investment instruments (see section 3.6). 

3.3.5 Other information sources used to assess the suitability of potential 
investment counterparties include the financial press, share price and other 
information pertaining to the banking sector and the economic and political 
environments in which these institutions operate. Regardless of the credit 
rating assigned to an institution if this additional information casts doubt over 
its financial standing then that institution will be removed immediately from 
the Council’s counterparty lending list. 

3.3.6 Credit ratings and creditworthiness information is supplied to the Council by 
Capita Asset Services and monitored weekly. The Council is also alerted by 
email when there is an amendment by any of the agencies to the credit rating 
of an institution.  If as a result of downgrade a counterparty no longer meets 
the Council’s minimum credit ratings criteria it will be removed immediately 
from the Council’s counterparty (dealing) list.  Notification of rating changes, 
rating watches and rating outlooks is provided to officers almost immediately 
after they occur and this information is considered before dealing.  For 
instance, a negative rating watch applying to a counterparty, currently at the 
minimum Council criteria, will result in the counterparty being suspended 
from use, with all others being reviewed in light of market conditions. Capita 
Asset Services also provide the Council with information relating to 
movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and 
other market data on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result 
in downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s lending list. 

 

Page 126



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 17 

 

3.4  Approved instruments  

3.4.1 The types of investment instruments that may be used by the Council - 
subject to the counterparty and maturity limits set out in sections 3.5 and 
3.6 - are shown in table 3. Permitted instruments are categorised as 
either “Specified” or “Non-Specified” investments - as defined in CLGs 
Investment Guidance - to distinguish those (specified) investment 
instruments offering relatively high security and high liquidity from those 
with higher credit risk (non-specified investments). All investments will be 
in sterling. 

Table 3: Permitted investment instruments - specified & non-specified  

Investment Specified 
Non-

Specified 

Term deposits, call and notice accounts with banks & 
building societies 

  

Term deposits with UK local authorities   

Certificates of deposit with banks & building societies    

Gilts issued by the UK Debt Management Office (DMO)   

Treasury Bills (T-bills) issued by the UK DMO   

Bonds issued by Multilateral Development Banks   

Local Authority Bills   

Commercial Paper   

Corporate Bonds   

AAA rated Money Market Funds (with a 60-day 
Weighted Average Maturity (WAM)) 

  

Other Money Market & Collective Investment Schemes   

Debt Management Account Deposit Facility   

Equity investments with other organisations    

3.4.2 A specified investment - offering high security and high liquidity - is defined 
as an investment that is:  

(a)  denominated in sterling with any payments or repayments 
payable only in sterling 

(b)  not a long-term investment (i.e. is repayable within 12 months of 
acquisition)  

(c)  not defined as capital expenditure under regulations (i.e. 
acquisition of share capital)  

(d)  made with a body or in an investment scheme of high credit 
quality (as defined by the Council in paragraph 3.3.1) or with the 
UK Government, a local authority or a parish council or 
community council.  

Page 127



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 18 

 

3.4.3 Non-specified investments refer to any investments not meeting the 
definition of ‘specified investments’.  The Council currently holds a limited 
quantity of non-specified investments (unquoted equity shares). These 
account for less than 1% of the Council’s investment portfolio. No 
additional non-specified investments are planned during 2017/18 and all 
new investments made in 2017/18 will be subject to a maximum maturity 
of 364 days.  

3.4.4 Non-specified investment will only be made with prior approval by the 
Head of Financial Services and will only be undertaken:  

 following external credit assessment and due diligence to assess 
the financial strength and creditworthiness of the counterparty, 
and  

 after taking such professional advice as is considered necessary 
to inform the decision to invest. 

3.4.5 In the event that the credit rating of the Council’s banker falls below the 
minimum credit criteria referred to above, the Council will continue to use 
the bank for transactional purposes but will seek to minimise balances as 
far as is possible. 

3.5 Limits on principal sums invested  

3.5.1 With the exception of funds placed with HM Treasury’s Debt Management 
Office (DMO) the maximum amount that may be placed with any institution or 
group of institutions that are part of the same banking group is £4 million.  
For funds placed with the DMO’s Account Deposit Facility the limit is £12m 
(subject to maximum maturity of 3 weeks for all sums in excess of £4m). 

 3.6  Limits on investment maturities    

3.6.1 To ensure that access to cash to meet forecast liquidity is not impaired, 
decisions regarding the maturity of investments instruments must be taken 
having regard to cash flow requirements.  The maturity of investment 
instruments is also subject to the maximum maturity periods set out below 
(table 4). These are established to ensure that access to cash is not unduly 
restricted and to reduce the risk of being locked into an investment whilst the 
creditworthiness of the counterparty is deteriorating. 

3.6.2 The maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed by the 
Council is determined using the Creditworthiness service provided by Capita 
Asset Services. This combines credit ratings information provided by the 
three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s - 
with ratings outlooks and credit watches in a weighted scoring system. This is 
combined with an overlay of credit default swap (CDS) spreads to produce a 
colour rating to indicate the relative creditworthiness of the counterparty. 
These colour codes are used to determine the maximum duration for 
investments made with individual counterparties. 

Page 128



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 19 

 

3.6.3 In the current economic climate it is considered appropriate to keep 
investment terms short to cover cash flow needs, but also to seek out value 
available in periods of up to 12 months with high credit quality institutions 
using Capita’s creditworthiness approach. Using this approach the Council 
will use the following duration bands - shown in table 4 - subject to a 
maximum maturity of 364 days (from the date of acquisition). 

Table 4: Upper limits on investment maturities  

 Colour rating Maximum duration (term to maturity) 

Yellow 5 years- restricted to 12 months (see paragraph 3.6.3) 

Purple 2 years - restricted to 12 months (see paragraph 3.6.3) 

Orange 12 months 

Red 6 months 

Green 100 days 

No colour 0 months (counterparty not to be used) 

 

3.7 Sovereign credit ratings 

3.7.1 The main rating agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) have, 
through much of the financial crisis, provided some institutions with a ratings 
“uplift” to reflect implied levels of sovereign support. Commencing in 2015, in 
response to the evolving regulatory regime - designed to see greater stability, 
lower risk and the removal of expectations of government financial support 
should an institution fail - all three agencies have begun removing these 
“uplifts” with the timing of the process determined by regulatory progress at 
the national level.  

3.7.2 The process has been part of a wider reassessment of methodologies by 
each of the rating agencies. In addition to the removal of implied support, 
new methodologies are now taking into account additional factors, such as 
regulatory capital levels. In some cases, these factors have “netted” each 
other off, to leave underlying ratings either unchanged or little changed.  A 
consequence of these new methodologies is that they have also lowered the 
importance of the (Fitch) Support and Viability ratings and have seen the 
(Moody’s) Financial Strength rating withdrawn by the agency.  

3.7.3 As a consequence the agencies’ new methodologies, the rating element of 
the colour coded credit assessment provided by Capita Asset Services no 
longer incorporates Viability, Financial Strength and Support Ratings and 
instead focus solely on the short and long-term ratings of an institution 
supplemented with overlays for credit watches, credit outlooks and CDS 
spreads. While this is the same process that has always been used for 
Standard & Poor’s, this has been a change in the use of Fitch and Moody’s 
ratings. The assessment of Rating Watch and Outlook information as well as 
the Credit Default Swap (CDS) overlay remains unchanged. 

Page 129



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 20 

 

3.7.4 These rating agency changes do not reflect any changes in the underlying status 
or credit quality of the institution. They are merely reflective of a reassessment of 
rating agency methodologies in light of enacted and future expected changes to 
the regulatory environment in which financial institutions operate.  

3.7.5 While some banks have received lower credit ratings as a result of these 
changes, this does not mean that they are suddenly less creditworthy than they 
were formerly.  Rather, in the majority of cases, this mainly reflects the fact that 
implied sovereign government support has effectively been withdrawn from 
banks. They are now expected to have sufficiently strong balance sheets to be 
able to withstand foreseeable adverse financial circumstances without 
government support. In fact, in many cases, the balance sheets of banks are 
now much more robust than they were before the 2008 financial crisis when they 
had higher ratings than now. However, this is not universally applicable, leaving 
some entities with modestly lower ratings than they had through much of the 
“support” phase of the financial crisis.  

3.8  Reporting arrangements   

3.8.1 The Treasury Management and Prudential Codes require the Council to 
report regularly on its treasury management activities including its 
performance against all forward-looking prudential and treasury management 
indicators set out in section 5 below. In meeting the recommended reporting 
requirements of the Treasury Management Code (outlined in section 1.2 
above) the Head of Financial Services will, in addition to this report, submit to 
the Audit Committee and Full Council:  

 a mid-year review of the Council’s treasury management activities 
covering the six months to 30th September 2017, and  

 an annual treasury report after the year-end.  

The annual report will be submitted as soon as reasonably practicable after 
the end of the financial year, but in any case no later than 30th September 
2018. 

3.8.2 A summary of treasury management activities will also be included in the 
quarterly finance reports submitted to the Council’s Executive. 

Page 130



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 21 

 

4.   Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 

4.1 Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (‘the 2003 Regulations’) requires local 
authorities to ‘charge to a revenue account a minimum revenue provision 
(MRP) for that year’. The minimum revenue provision is an annual amount 
required to be set aside from the General Fund to meet the capital cost of 
expenditure funded by borrowing or credit arrangements, that is, capital 
expenditure that has not been financed from grants, revenue contributions or 
capital receipts. 

4.2 Regulation 27 also allows authorities to charge to a revenue account any 
amount, in addition to the MRP, in respect of the financing of capital 
expenditure incurred in the current financial year or any financial year before 
the current year (voluntary revenue provision - VRP).  

4.3 The calculation of MRP is covered in regulation 28 of the 2003 Regulations. 
From 31 March 2008, Regulation 28, as amended by Regulation 4(1) of the 
Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2008 (‘the 2008 Regulations’), requires each authority to: 

'determine for the current financial year an amount of minimum revenue 
provision which it considers to be prudent.’ 

4.4 The 2003 Regulations (as amended) are accompanied by statutory guidance 
on minimum revenue provision, issued by CLG under section 21(1A) of the 
Local Government Act 2003 (‘the 2003 Act’). In meeting the requirement to 
‘make prudent provision’, the 2003 Act requires local authorities to ‘have 
regard to’ this guidance. This means that an authority must consider what the 
statutory guidance says. It does not mean that a local authority is obligated to 
follow the guidance. However, if an authority does decide to depart from the 
guidance, it must be able to show good reasons for doing so. 

4.5 The current version of regulation 28 was implemented by the 2008 
regulations. It came into force on 31 March 2008 and, along with the statutory 
guidance issued by CLG, is effective for 2007/08 and later years. Before this 
change regulation 28 set out detailed formula - based on an authority’s 
capital financing requirement - which authorities were required to follow when 
calculating MRP.  

4.6 Neither the 2003 Regulations nor the statutory guidance define the term 
“prudent provision”. The statutory guidance does however establish the 
broad aim of making prudent provision, which is to ensure that debt is repaid 
over a period: 

 commensurate with the period over which the capital expenditure 
provides benefits, or 

 for borrowing supported by central government funding (RSG), over the 
period implicit in the determination of that funding. 

Page 131

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/319926/2089512.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/319926/2089512.pdf


TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 22 

 

4.7 The CLG guidance outlines four possible ‘options’ as methods of calculating 
a prudent amount of MRP. However, approaches other than the four listed in 
the guidance are not ruled out provided they are consistent with the statutory 
duty to make a prudent provision. This provides authorities with wide 
discretion in determining MRP. The statutory guidance also includes specific 
recommendations on the calculation of MRP  in respect of finance leases and 
on-balance PFI  contracts. 

4.8 The four options for calculating MRP  outlined in the CLG guidance, and 
restrictions on their use, are summarised in table 5. 

 

Table 5: Options for prudent provision of MRP  

Option Method of calculation  Applicability and limits on use 

‘Option 1 

Regulatory 
method’ 

Apply the statutory 
formula set out in the 
2003 Regulations (as 
amended) before it was 
revoked by the 2008 
Regulations 

Available for:  

 All capital expenditure incurred before 
1 April 2008.  

 Supported capital expenditure for 
RSG purposes incurred on or after 1 
April 2008.  

‘Option 2 

CFR 
method’ 

Multiply the (non-
housing) Capital 
Financing Requirement 
at the end of the 
preceding financial year 
by 4%. 

Available for:  

 All capital expenditure incurred before 
1 April 2008.  

 Supported capital expenditure for 
RSG purposes incurred on or after 1 
April 2008.  

‘Option 3 
Asset life 
method’ 

Amortise expenditure 
financed by borrowing 
or credit arrangement 
over the estimated 
useful life of the 
relevant assets using 
either the equal 
instalment or annuity 
method. 

Must be used for capital expenditure 
incurred on or after 1 April 2008 that falls 
outside supported capital expenditure for 
RSG purposes (unsupported capital 
expenditure). This includes all 
expenditure capitalised under 
regulations or direction on or after 1 April 
2008 falling outside the scope of ‘Option 
1’. 

May be used in relation to any capital 
expenditure whether or not supported 
and whenever incurred. 

‘Option 4 
Depreciation 

method’ 

Charge MRP to revenue 
based on proper 
accounting practices for 
depreciation as they 
apply to the relevant 
assets. 

Must be used for capital expenditure 
incurred on or after 1 April 2008 that falls 
outside supported capital expenditure for 
RSG purposes (unsupported capital 
expenditure). 

May be used in relation to any capital 
expenditure whether or not supported 
and whenever incurred. 

4.9 Where capital expenditure on an asset is financed wholly or partly by 
borrowing or credit arrangements, authorities applying ‘Option 3’ should 
calculate MRP by reference to the life of the asset. Two main variants of this 
option exist: (i) the equal instalment method and (ii) the annuity method.  

Page 132



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 23 

 

4.10 Both variations allow authorities to make additional voluntary revenue 
provision (VRP), in which case they may make an appropriate reduction in 
later years’ levels of MRP. Where an authority uses Options 3 or 4, the CFR 
for the purposes of Options 1 and 2 is reduced by the amount of the relevant 
expenditure and cumulative provision for MRP made under Options 3 and 4. 

Policy adopted for 2017/18 

4.11 Having regard to the statutory guidance on minimum revenue provision 
issued by CLG and the ‘options’ for calculating MRP set out in that guidance 
the Council will calculate MRP: 

 for all capital expenditure funded from borrowing incurred before 1 
April 2008 and for all supported capital expenditure funded from 
borrowing incurred on or after 1 April 2008, based on 4% of the non-
housing Capital Financing Requirement at the end of the preceding 
financial year (Option 2- CFR method)   

 for unsupported capital funded from borrowing expenditure incurred 
after 1 April 2008 by applying Option 3 - Asset life method - using 
either the equal instalments or annuity method  

 for credit arrangements, such as on balance sheet leasing 
arrangements (finance leases), by charging an amount (MRP) equal to 
the element of the rent/charge that goes to write down the balance 
sheet liability.  

4.12 In applying ‘Option 3’:  

 MRP should normally begin in the financial year following the one in 
which the expenditure was incurred. However, in accordance with the 
statutory guidance, commencement of MRP may be deferred until the 
financial year following the one in which the asset becomes 
operational. 

 The estimated life of the asset should be determined in the year that 
MRP commences and not subsequently be revised.  

 If no life can reasonably be attributed to an asset, such as freehold 
land, the life should be taken to be a maximum of 50 years. However, 
for freehold land on which a building or other structure is constructed, 
the life of the land may be treated as equal to that of the structure, 
where this would exceed 50 years.  

 For expenditure capitalised by virtue of a capitalisation direction or 
regulation 25(1) of the 2003 regulations, the ‘asset’ life should equate 
to the value set out in paragraph 24 of the statutory guidance. 

Page 133



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 24 

 

5.   Prudential and treasury indicators 2017/18 – 2019/20 

5.1  Indicators required by the Prudential Code   

5.1.1  The Prudential Code requires local authorities to self-regulate the 
affordability, prudence and sustainability of their capital expenditure and 
borrowing plans, by setting estimates and limits, and by publishing actuals for 
a range of prudential indicators. It also requires them to ensure their treasury 
management practices are carried out in accordance with good professional 
practice.  

5.1.2 The prudential and treasury indicators required by the Prudential Code, the 
Treasury Management Code and accompanying sector guidance issued by 
CIPFA, are designed to support and record local decision making. They are 
not designed to be comparative performance indicators and should not be 
used for this purpose. The prudential and treasury indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years must be set before the beginning of the 
forthcoming year. They may be revised at any time, following due process, 
and must be reviewed, and revised if appropriate, for the current year when 
the prudential indicators are set for the following year. 

Estimates of capital expenditure 

5.1.3 The estimate of capital expenditure indicator summarises the Council’s 
capital expenditure plans for the forthcoming year and the following two 
financial years.   Estimates of capital expenditure include both those agreed 
previously and those forming part of the current (2017/18) budget cycle. 

5.1.4 Capital expenditure is defined as in section 16 of the Local Government Act 
2003 and includes all expenditure that falls to be capitalised in accordance 
with proper practices together with any items capitalised in accordance with 
regulation 25 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (as amended), or by virtue of a capitalisation 
direction issued under section 16(2) of the 2003 Act. Estimates of capital 
expenditure include any capital expenditure that it is estimated might 
(depending on option appraisals) or will be dealt with as other long-term 
liabilities. 

Table 6:  Capital expenditure  

Planned expenditure 2016/17 
Approved1 

£000 

2016/17 
Revised2 

£000 

2017/18 
Estimate 

£000 

2018/19 
Estimate 

£000 

2019/20 
Estimate 

£000 

Approved in 2016/17 
(& prior years)  

3,265 7,497 3,048 2,050 2,050 

Approved/planned 
2017/18 - 2019/20 

  6,353 5,665 140 

Total expenditure 3,265 7,497 9,401 7,715 2,190 
1 

Approved capital programme for 2016/17;  
2
 Updated to reflect revised carry forward of budget from 

2015/16 and additional capital bids included in the revised capital budget for 2016/17.   
 

Page 134



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 25 

 

5.1.5  Table 7 shows how these capital expenditure plans will be financed through 
the application of capital and revenue resources.  Any excess of capital 
expenditure over resources applied (unfinanced expenditure) will result in a 
corresponding increase in the underlying need for borrowing (the capital 
financing requirement).   

Table 7:  Financing of capital expenditure 

 2016/2017 Estimate 

Approved 

£000 

Revised 

£000 

2017/18  

£000 

2018/19  

£000 

2019/20  

£000 

Total expenditure 3,265 7,497 9,401 7,715 2,190 

Financed by:           

Capital receipts 97 599 0 0 0 

Capital grants 600 2,660 7,426 2,475 1,013 

Revenue/Reserves  650 1,501 0 0 0 

Total financed  1,347 4,760 7,426 2,475 1,013 

Unfinanced expenditure:      

Supported borrowing1 0 0 0 0 0 

Unsupported borrowing  1,918 2,737 1,975 5,240 1,177 

Financed & unfinanced  3,265 7,497 9,401 7,715 2,190 

1
 Following the Spending Review 2010 there have been no new supported borrowing allocations since 

2010/11 (although the level of assumed outstanding debt is still included in the calculation of formula grant 
allocations). This form of financial support has been discontinued from 2011/12. 

Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement  

5.1.6  The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is a measure of an authority’s 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes. It represents the historic cost 
of capital expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources 
(grants, contributions, capital receipts or direct revenue financing). It does not 
necessarily correspond with an authority’s actual borrowing position. The 
level of external debt will be determined in accordance with an authority’s 
treasury management strategy and practices and authorities should not 
associate borrowing with particular items of expenditure unless required to do 
so under statute.  

5.1.7  Capital expenditure that is not financed up-front through the application of 
capital grants, contributions, capital receipts or a direct charge to revenue will 
increase the Capital Financing Requirement. Charging the minimum revenue 
provision or a voluntary revenue provision against the general fund will 
reduce the CFR.  The CFR includes items of capital expenditure included in 
the Council’s balance sheet associated with other long term liabilities, such 
as assets held on finance leases, but excluding the underlying liability.  

5.1.8 Table 8 sets out estimates of the Council’s capital financing requirement at 
the end of 2017/18 and the following two financial years. 

 

 

Page 135



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 26 

 

Table 8: Capital financing requirement 

 2016/17 Estimate 

Approved 

£000 

Revised 

£000 

2017/18  

£000 

2018/19  

£000 

2019/20 

£000 

CFR at 1 April 19,078 17,449 19,637 20,967 25,493 

CFR at 31 March 20,587 19,637 20,967 25,493 25,724 

Movement in CFR 1,509 2,188 1,330 4,526 231 

Represented by:      

Unfinanced expenditure    1,918 2,737 1,975 5,240 1,177 

Less MRP/VRP (409) (411) (645) (714) (946) 

Revenue financing of 
2015/16 expend. 

 0 (138)  0  0  0 

Movement in CFR 1,509 2,188 1,330 4,526 231 

Gross debt and the capital financing requirement (CFR) 

5.1.9 A fundamental provision of the Prudential Code and a key indicator of 
prudence is that over the medium term debt will only be for a capital purpose.  

To ensure this is the case the Prudential Code requires that gross external 
debt should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of capital financing 
requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital 
financing requirement for the current and next two financial years.  

5.1.10 This requirement allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes. If 
in any of these years there is a reduction in the CFR, this reduction is ignored 
in estimating the cumulative increase in the CFR used for comparison with 
gross external debt. Gross debt refers to the sum of borrowing and other 
long-term liabilities (credit arrangements). 

 Table 9: Gross debt & the CFR 2017/18 

  
 

£000 

Limit  
2017/18 

£000 

Forecast CFR at 31 March 2017  19,637 

Estimated additional CFR for:   

2017/18 (see table 8) 1,330  

2018/19 (see table 8) 4,526  

2019/20 (see table 8) 231 6,087 

Limit  25,724 

Gross Debt 2017/18 (maximum)   

Estimated gross debt at 31March 2017 - existing borrowing  13,701  

Estimated (maximum) net additional borrowing - 2016/17 3,000  

Estimated (maximum) net additional borrowing - 2017/18 1,730  

Estimated gross debt 2017/18  18,431 

Excess of CFR over gross debt  7,293 

Page 136



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 27 

 

5.1.11 At 31st December 2016 the Council was under-borrowed against its capital 
financing requirement by approximately £4.6m. The Council does not 
anticpate any difficulties in complying with this indicator during 2017/18 or the 
following two financial years. 

Authorised limit for external debt  

5.1.12 The Authorised Borrowing Limit represents the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (Affordable 
Limit). It imposes an upper limit on the Council’s gross external debt 
(excluding investments), separately identifying borrowing (external loans) 
from other long-term liabilities (for example finance lease liabilities). Breach 
of the Affordable Borrowing Limit is prohibited by section 2(1)(a) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. 

5.1.13 The Authorised Borrowing Limit is set with reference to the Council’s capital 
expenditure plans, capital financing requirement (or underlying borrowing 
requirement) and the potential need to borrow to meet temporary revenue 
borrowing requirements pending the receipt of amounts due to the Council. 
The Affordable Borrowing Limit also includes headroom over and above the 
Operational Boundary (see below) to accommodate any unusual or 
unforeseen cash movements. The indicator separately identifies limits for 
borrowing and other long-term liabilities. 

Table 10: Authorised Limit for External Debt 

 2016/17 
Limit 

£000 

2017/18 
Limit 

£000 

2018/19 
Limit 

£000 

2019/20 
Limit 

£000 

Borrowing 25,000 25,000 28,000 29,000 

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total 25,000 25,000 28,000 29,000 

Operational boundary for external debt 

5.1.14 The Operational Boundary represents the limit beyond which (gross) external 
debt is not expected to exceed. It is based on expectations of the maximum 
external debt of a local authority according to probable events (that is the 
most likely (prudent) but not worst case scenario) and is consistent with the 
maximum level of external debt projected by these estimates. The 
Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s plans for capital 
expenditure, estimates of the capital financing requirement and cash flow 
requirements for the year for all purposes but without the additional 
headroom included within the Authorised Limit. The indicator separately 
identifies limits for borrowing and other long-term liabilities. 

Page 137



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 28 

 

Table 11: Operational boundary for external debt 

 2016/17 
Limit 

£000 

2017/18 
Limit 

£000 

2018/19 
Limit 

£000 

2019/20 

Limit 

£000 

Borrowing 23,000 23,000 26,000 27,000 

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total 23,000 23,000 26,000 27,000 

5.1.15 Provided that the total Authorised Limit and total Operational Boundary for a 
year is unchanged, the Head of Financial Services has delegated authority to 
make changes to the separately identifiable limits for borrowing and other 
long-term liabilities. Any movement between these separate totals will be 
reported to the next meetings of the Audit Committee and Full Council.  

Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream  

5.1.16 This indicator of affordability highlights the revenue implications of existing 
and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue 
budget required to meet financing costs (net of interest and investment 
income).  

5.1.17 Financing costs comprise the aggregate of: 

 interest charged to the General Fund with respect to borrowing 

 interest payable under finance leases and any other long-term 
liabilities 

 premiums and discounts from debt restructuring charged or credited to 
the amount to be met from government grants and local taxpayers   

 interest and investment income 

 amounts payable or receivable in respect of financial derivatives 

 minimum revenue provision plus any additional voluntary contributions 

 any amounts for depreciation/impairment charged to the amount to be 
met from government grants and local taxpayers. 

5.1.18 Estimates for net revenue stream for current and future years are taken from 
the Council’s estimates of the amounts to be met from government grants 
and local taxpayers, using the equivalent figures from the original and revised 
budgets.   

Table 12: Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

 2016/17 
Approved 

% 

2016/17 
Revised 

% 

2017/18 
Estimate 

% 

2018/19
Estimate 

% 

2019/20 
Estimate 

% 

Ratio  8.5 7.8 10.3 12.4 15.6 

 

 

Page 138



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 29 

 

Estimates of the incremental impact of capital investment decisions on the 
council tax 

5.1.19 The incremental impact of capital investment decisions on the council tax is a 
fundamental indicator of affordability and highlights the impact of capital 
investment decisions - taken during the current budget cycle - on council tax. 
The incremental impact is calculated by comparing:  

 the total revenue budget requirement of the current approved (three 
year) capital programme (including any updates to forecasts to the 
current programme not arising from capital investment decisions 
being taken during the current budget-making cycle (for example, a 
revision to the expenditure profile or timing of anticipated capital 
receipts).  

 an equivalent calculation of the revenue budget requirement arising 
from the proposed capital programme - incorporating changes to the 
capital program arising from decisions taken during the current 
budget-making cycle. 

5.1.20 Calculations of the incremental impact are based on the Council’s budget 
proposals, but will invariably include some estimates, such as the levels of 
government support, which are not published over a three year period. 
Estimates are made on the basis of best information available at the time and 
by making reasonable assumptions where there is a significant element of 
uncertainty. 

Table 13: Incremental impact of capital investment decisions  

 2016/17 Estimate 

Increase in Band D 
Council Tax  

Approved 

£ 

Revised 

£ 

2017/18 
£ 

2018/19 

£ 

2019/20 

£ 

Capital programme 
2017/18 to 2019/20 

(1.21) (1.15) (0.02) 2.12 10.45 

 

Acceptance of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code 

5.1.21 Regulation 24 the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (as amended) requires a local authority to ‘have 
regard to’ the CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of 
Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes when carrying out its capital 
finance functions under Chapter 1 of Part 1 of the Local Government Act 
2003.   

5.1.22 The Council formally approved its adoption of CIPFA’s Treasury 
Management Code and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes on 7th March 2012. 
This followed the publication of the fully revised second edition of the 
Treasury Management Code in 2011.  

Page 139



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 30 

 

5.1.23  Adoption of the Treasury Management Code demonstrates the Council’s 
treasury management practices are carried out in accordance with good 
practice. This includes having in place:  

 formally adopted, codified treasury objectives, policies and practices 

 a clear separation of responsibilities between treasury management 
policy formulation and treasury management execution  

 proper reporting arrangements  

 arrangements which give priority to identifying, monitoring and 
controlling risk. 

5.2  Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code  

5.2.1 In addition to the indicators required by the Prudential Code there are also a 
number of treasury indicators required by the Treasury Management Code 
and accompanying sector guidance. These are: 

 upper limits on fixed interest and variable interest exposures 

 upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of its borrowing 

 upper limits on the total of principal sums invested longer than 364 
days. 

5.2.2 These treasury management indicators specify ranges (rather than targets) 
designed to limit the Council’s exposure to interest rate, liquidity and 
refinancing risks.   

 

Upper limits on fixed interest and variable interest exposures 

5.2.3 The upper limits provided by these indicators establish ranges within which 
the Council will manage its exposures to fixed and variable interest rates. 
The sector guidance which accompanies the Treasury Management Code 
allows these limits to be calculated on the basis of absolute amounts or as a 
percentage of the Council’s net interest or net principal sum outstanding on 
its borrowing/investments. Table 14a shows the upper limits on net 
exposures to fixed and variable rate interest rates expressed as a percentage 
of the Council’s projected net interest (payable). Tables 14b and 14c show 
the limits based on principal sums outstanding in respect of fixed and 
variable investments and borrowings expressed as percentages of total 
(gross) investments and borrowing respectively. 

 
5.2.4 The upper limit for variable rate exposure has been set at a level to ensure 

maximum flexibility of operation given the Council’s interest rate exposure is 
significantly influenced by historic fixed rate debt from the PWLB. 
Investments will be short-term and at fixed or variable rates depending on the 
Council’s requirements and prevailing interest rates. The limit allows for the 
use of variable rate debt to offset exposure to changes in short-term rates on 
investments. 

 

  

Page 140



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 31 

 

Table 14a Upper limit on fixed & variable interest rate - net exposures 

Upper limit  31.3.16 
Actual 

% 

2016/17 
Limit 

% 

2017/18 
Limit 

% 

2018/19 
Limit 

% 

2019/20 
Limit 

% 

Net interest payable/ 
(receivable) on fixed rate 
debt & investments  

105 115 115 115 115 

Net interest payable/ 
(receivable) on variable 
rate debt & investments  

(5) 115 115 115 115 

 

 Table 14b: Upper limits on interest rate exposures – gross investments 

 31.3.16 
Actual 

% 

2016/17 
Limit 

% 

2017/18 
Limit 

% 

2018/19 
Limit 

% 

2019/20 
Limit 

% 

Fixed interest rate 
exposure  

0 100  100  100  100  

Variable interest rate 
exposure 

100 100 100 100 100 

 

 Table 14c: Upper limits on interest rate exposures – gross borrowing  

 31.3.16 
Actual 

% 

2016/17 
Limit 

% 

2017/18 
Limit 

% 

2018/19 
Limit 

% 

2019/20 
Limit 

% 

Fixed interest rate 
exposure  

99.5 100  100  100  100  

Variable interest rate 
exposure 

0.5 100 100 100 100 

 

5.2.5 The limits above provide the necessary flexibility within which decisions will 
be made for drawing down new loans on a fixed or variable rate basis. These 
decisions will ultimately be determined by expectations of anticipated interest 
rate movements as set out in the Council’s treasury management strategy. 

 

Upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of its (fixed rate) borrowing 

 

5.2.6 This indicator highlights potential exposures to refinancing risk arising from 
concentrations of fixed rate debt falling due for refinancing and is designed to 
facilitate reductions in the Council’s exposure to refinancing at times of 
volatile or high interest rates. 

5.2.7  It is calculated as the amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate 
maturing in each period as a percentage of total projected borrowing that is 
fixed rate. The maturity of borrowing is determined by reference to the 
earliest date on which the lender can require payment.  

  

Page 141



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 32 

 

Table 15: Lower/upper limits on % of fixed rate borrowing maturing in each period 

  
  

31.3.16 
Actual  

31.3.17 
forecast 

2016/17  2017/18 

Lower 
limit  

Upper 
limit  

Lower 
limit  

Upper 
limit  

  % % % % % % 

Under 12 months 1.82 1.89 0 20 0 20 

12 months to 2 years 1.64 1.71 0 20 0 20 

2 years to 5 years 5.2 5.44 0 20 0 20 

5 years to 10 years 9.87 10.41 0 30 0 30 

10 years to 20 years  17.98 17.20 0 40 0 40 

20 years to 30 years  5.77 4.69 0 40 0 40 

30 years to 40 years  14.43 51.33 0 80 0 80 

40 years to 45 years 43.29 7.33 0 80 0 80 

 

Upper limits to the total of principal sums invested longer than 364 days 

5.2.8 A local authority that invests, or plans to invest, for periods longer than 364 
days is required to set an upper limit for each forward financial year period for 
the maturing of such investments. The purpose of these limits for principal 
sums invested for periods longer than 364 days is for the local authority to 
contain its exposure to the possibility of loss that might arise as a result of its 
having to seek early repayment or redemption of principal sums invested. 

Table 16: Upper limit for principal sums invested to final maturities beyond the 
period end 

 2016/17 
Approved 

£000 

2017/18 
Limit 

£000 

2018/19 
Limit 

£000 

2019/20 
Limit 

£000 

Principal sums invested > 364 days 20 20 20 20 

5.2.9 For its cash flow generated balances the Council will seek to utilise its call 
and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated deposits 
(overnight to 6 months). The Council will not invest for periods longer than 
364 days during 2017/18.

Page 142



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 33 

 

6. Appendices  
 

A. Interest Rate Forecasts 2017 - 2020  

B. Economic Background 

C. Credit Ratings 

Page 143



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 34 

 

Appendix A: Interest Rate Forecasts 2016 – 2020 

PWLB rates and forecast shown below have taken into account the 20 basis point certainty rate reduction effective as of the 1st November 2012. 

P
age 144



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 35 

 

Appendix B: Economic Background  

UK Economy 

B.1 UK GDP growth rates in 2013, 2014 and 2015 of 2.2%, 2.9% and 1.8% were 
some of the strongest rates among the G7 countries.  Growth is expected to 
have strengthened in 2016 with the first three quarters coming in respectively at 
+0.4%, +0.6% and +0.6%. Preliminary estimates for quarter 4 also came in at 
0.6% (an increase of 2% over the course of 2016 and 2.2% on the previous 
year’s quarter) with the services sector continuing to play a major role in driving 
the growth. Over the calendar year, the services, production and construction 
industries grew by 2.8%, 1.1% and 1.4% respectively. 

B.2 The latest Bank of England forecast for growth in 2016 as a whole is +2.2%. 
The figure for quarter 3 was a pleasant surprise which confounded the 
downbeat forecast by the Bank of England in August of only +0.1%, 
(subsequently revised up in September, but only to +0.2%).  During most of 
2015 and the first half of 2016, the economy had been facing headwinds for 
exporters from the appreciation of sterling against the Euro and weak growth in 
the EU, China and emerging markets and from the dampening effect of the 
Government’s continuing austerity programme. 

B.3 The referendum vote for Brexit in June 2016 delivered an immediate fall in 
confidence indicators and business surveys at the beginning of August. These 
were interpreted by the Bank of England in its August Inflation Report as 
pointing to an impending sharp slowdown in the economy.  However, 
subsequent monthly surveys have showed an equally sharp recovery in 
confidence and business surveys so that it is generally expected that the 
economy will post reasonably strong growth numbers through the second half 
of 2016 and also in 2017, albeit at a slower pace than in the first half of 2016.  
The fall in the value of sterling has also had a positive effect in boosting 
manufacturing in the UK due to improved competitiveness in world markets. 

B.4 The Monetary Policy Committee, (MPC), meeting of 4th August was dominated 
by countering the Bank of England’s expectations of a sharp slowdown in 
growth. This resulted in a package of measures that included:  

 a cut in Bank Rate from 0.50% to 0.25%,  

 a renewal of quantitative easing, with a further £70bn made available 
for purchases of gilts and corporate bonds, and 

 a £100bn tranche of cheap borrowing for banks to use to lend to 
businesses and individuals (Term Funding Scheme). 

B.5 Following robust growth in quarter 3 of +0.6%, plus forward indicating business 
surveys also being very positive on growth, the MPC meeting of 3rd November 
left Bank Rate unchanged at 0.25%. Other monetary policy measures also 
remained unaltered.  This was in line with market expectations, but a major 
change from the previous quarterly Inflation Report MPC meeting of 4th 
August, which had given a strong steer, in its forward guidance, that it was 
likely to cut Bank Rate again, probably by the end of the year if economic data 

Page 145



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 36 

 

turned out as forecast by the Bank.  The MPC meeting of 15th December also 
left the bank rate and other measures unchanged. 

B.6 The latest (November) MPC decision included a forward view that the Bank 
Rate could go either up or down depending on how economic data evolves in 
the coming months.  The central view of the Council’s treasury advisor is that 
Bank Rate will remain unchanged at 0.25% until the first increase to 0.50% in 
quarter 2 of 2019.  However, the risk of a cut in the Bank Rate if economic 
growth were to take a significant dip downwards cannot be discounted, 
although this is unlikely, especially given the run of strong economic data since 
then. Forecasting as far ahead as mid 2019 also remains extremely difficult 
with numerous potential economic headwinds which could blow the UK 
economy one way or the other as well as political developments in the UK, 
(especially over the terms of Brexit), EU, US and beyond, which could have a 
major impact on current forecasts. 

B.7 The pace of Bank Rate increases included in the current forecasts has been 
slightly increased beyond the three year time horizon to reflect higher inflation 
expectations. 

B.8 The August quarterly Inflation Report was based on a pessimistic forecast of 
near to zero GDP growth in quarter 3 i.e. a sharp slowdown in growth from 
+0.7% in quarter 2, in reaction to the shock of the result of the EU referendum 
in June. However, consumers have very much stayed in a ‘business as usual’ 
mode and there has been no sharp downturn in spending; it is consumer 
expenditure that underpins the services sector which comprises about 75% of 
UK GDP.  After a fairly flat three months leading up to October, retail sales in 
quarter 4 grew reasonably strongly, increasing by 1.2% and added 0.1% to 
GDP growth.  In addition, the GfK consumer confidence index has recovered 
quite strongly to -3 in October after an initial sharp plunge in July to -12 in 
reaction to the referendum result. However by December it had fallen back to   
-7 indicating a return to pessimism about future prospects among consumers, 
probably based mainly around concerns about inflation eroding purchasing 
power. 

B.9 Bank of England GDP forecasts in the November quarterly Inflation Report 
were as follows, (August forecasts in brackets) - 2016 +2.2%, (+2.0%); 2017 
1.4%, (+0.8%); 2018 +1.5%, (+1.8%). There has, therefore, been a sharp 
increase in the forecast for 2017, a marginal increase in 2016 and a small 
decline in growth, now being delayed until 2018, as a result of the impact of 
Brexit. 

B.10 In contrast Capital Economics hold the view that pessimism is still being 
overdone by the Bank and Brexit will not have as big an effect as initially feared 
by some commentators. Their GDP forecasts are consequently higher than 
those forecast by the Bank of England in November at +2.0% in 2016, +1.5% 
2017 and +2.5% in 2018. 

B.11 The Chancellor has said he will do ‘whatever is needed’ i.e. to promote growth; 
there are two main options he can follow – fiscal policy e.g. cut taxes, increase 
investment allowances for businesses and/or increase government expenditure 

Page 146



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 37 

 

on infrastructure, housing etc. This will mean that the PSBR deficit elimination 
timetable will need to slip further into the future as promoting growth, (and 
ultimately boosting tax revenues in the longer term), will be a more urgent 
priority.  

B.12 The Governor of the Bank of England, Mark Carney, had warned that a vote for 
Brexit would be likely to cause a slowing in growth, particularly from a reduction 
in business investment, due to the uncertainty of whether the UK would have 
continuing full access, (i.e. without tariffs), to the EU single market.  He also 
warned that the Bank could not do all the heavy lifting to boost economic 
growth and suggested that the Government would need to help growth e.g. by 
increasing investment expenditure and by using fiscal policy tools. The newly 
appointed Chancellor, Phillip Hammond, announced, in the aftermath of the 
referendum result and the formation of a new Conservative cabinet, that the 
target of achieving a budget surplus in 2020 would be eased in the Autumn 
Statement on 23 November.  This was duly confirmed in the Statement which 
also included some increases in infrastructure spending. 

B.13 The other key factor in forecasts for Bank Rate is inflation where the MPC aims 
for a target for CPI of 2.0%. The November Inflation Report included an 
increase in the peak forecast for inflation from 2.3% to 2.7% during 2017 and 
2018; (Capital Economics are forecasting a peak of just under 3% in 2018). 
This increase was largely due to the effect of the sharp fall in the value of 
sterling since the referendum, although during November, sterling recovered 
some of this fall to end up 15% down against the US dollar and 8% down 
against the euro (as at the MPC meeting date 15.12.16). This depreciation will 
feed through into a sharp increase in the cost of imports and materials used in 
production in the UK.  However, the MPC is expected to look through the 
acceleration in inflation caused by external, (outside of the UK), influences, 
although it has given a clear warning that if wage inflation were to rise 
significantly as a result of these cost pressures on consumers, then they would 
take action to raise Bank Rate. The MPC also commented that the partial 
recovery in the value of sterling, if maintained, would cause a small reduction in 
their November forecast rise in CPI inflation above the 2% target rate. 

B.14 What is clear is that consumer disposable income will come under pressure, as 
the latest employers’ survey is forecasting median pay rises for the year ahead 
of only 1.1% at a time when inflation is expected to be significantly higher than 
this.  The CPI figure has been on an upward trend in 2016 reaching 1.2% in 
November and 1.6% in December. Prices paid by factories for inputs are rising 
very strongly although producer output prices are still lagging well behind. 

B.15 Gilt yields, and consequently PWLB rates, have risen sharply since hitting a low 
point in mid-August. There has also been huge volatility during 2016 as a 
whole.  The year started with 10 year gilt yields at 1.88%, fell to a low point of 
0.53% on 12th August and finished at the end of December at 1.49% after 
some peaks higher during that month.  The rebound since August reflects the 
initial combination of the yield-depressing effect of the MPC’s new round of 
quantitative easing on 4th August, together with a sharp downturn in 
expectations for growth and inflation as per the pessimistic Bank of England 
Inflation Report forecast, followed by a sharp rise in growth expectations since 

Page 147



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 38 

 

August when subsequent business surveys and GDP growth in quarter 3 at + 
0.6% q/q, confounded the pessimism.  Inflation expectations also rose sharply 
as a result of the continuing fall in the value of sterling. 

B.16 Employment had been growing steadily during 2016 but encountered a first fall in 
over a year, of 6,000, over the three months to October. The latest employment 
data in December, (for November), was distinctly weak with an increase in 
unemployment benefits claimants of 2,400 in November and of 13,300 in October. 
The unemployment rate for September to November 2016 was 4.8%, down from 
5.1% for a year earlier.  The employment rate (age 16-64 years) for September to 
November 2016 stands at 74.5%, up from 74% a year ago.  House prices have 
been rising during 2016 at a modest pace but the pace of increase has slowed 
since the referendum; a downturn in prices could dampen consumer confidence 
and expenditure. 

USA  

B.17 The American economy had a patchy 2015 with sharp swings in the quarterly 
growth rate leaving overall growth for the year at 2.4%. Quarter 1 of 2016 at 
+0.8%, (on an annualised basis) and quarter 2 at 1.4% left average growth for 
the first half at a weak 1.1%.  However, quarter 3 at 3.5% (on an annualised 
basis), signalled a rebound to strong growth.  

B.18 The Federal Reserve embarked its long anticipated first increase in rates at its 
December 2015 meeting.  At that point, confidence was high that there would 
then be four more increases to come in 2016.  Since then, more downbeat 
news on the international scene and then the Brexit vote, have caused a delay 
in the timing of the second increase of 0.25% which came, as expected, in 
December 2016 to a range of 0.50% to 0.75%.   

B.19 Overall, despite some data setbacks, the US is still probably the best 
positioned of the major world economies to make solid progress towards a 
combination of strong growth, full employment and rising inflation. This is going 
to require the central bank to take action to raise rates so as to make progress 
towards normalisation of monetary policy, albeit at lower central rates than 
prevailed before the 2008 crisis. The Federal Reserve therefore also indicated 
that it expected three further increases of 0.25% in 2017 to deal with rising 
inflationary pressures.   

B.20 The result of the presidential election in November is expected to lead to a 
strengthening of US growth if Trump’s election promise of a major increase in 
expenditure on infrastructure is implemented.  This policy is also likely to 
strengthen inflation pressures as the economy is already working at near full 
capacity. In addition, the unemployment rate is at a low point verging on what is 
normally classified as being full employment.  However, the US does have a 
substantial amount of hidden unemployment in terms of an unusually large, (for 
a developed economy), percentage of the working population not actively 
seeking employment. 

B.21 Trump’s election has had a profound effect on the bond market and bond yields 
rose sharply in the week after his election.  Time will tell if this is a reasonable 

Page 148



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 39 

 

assessment of his election promises to cut taxes at the same time as boosting 
expenditure.  This could lead to a sharp rise in total debt issuance from the 
current level of around 72% of GDP towards 100% during his term in office. 
However, although the Republicans now have a monopoly of power for the first 
time since the 1920s, in having a President and a majority in both Congress 
and the Senate, there is by no means any certainty that the politicians and 
advisers he has been appointing to his team, and both houses, will implement 
the more extreme policies that Trump outlined during his election campaign.  
Indeed, Trump may even rein back on some of those policies himself. 

B.22 In the first week following the US election, there was a major shift in investor 
sentiment away from bonds to equities, especially in the US. However, gilt 
yields in the UK and bond yields in the EU have also been dragged higher.  
Some commentators are saying that this rise has been an overreaction to the 
US election result which could be reversed.  Other commentators take the view 
that this could well be the start of the long expected eventual unwinding of bond 
prices propelled upwards to unrealistically high levels, (and conversely bond 
yields pushed down), by the artificial and temporary power of quantitative 
easing. 

Eurozone 

B.23 In the Eurozone, the European Central Bank (ECB) commenced, in March 
2015, its massive €1.1 trillion programme of quantitative easing to buy high 
credit quality government and other debt of selected EZ countries at a rate of 
€60bn per month.  This was intended to run initially to September 2016 but was 
extended to March 2017 at its December 2015 meeting.  At its December and 
March 2016 meetings it progressively cut its deposit facility rate to reach -0.4% 
and its main refinancing rate from 0.05% to zero.  At its March meeting, it also 
increased its monthly asset purchases to €80bn.  These measures have 
struggled to make a significant impact in boosting economic growth and in 
helping inflation to rise significantly from low levels towards the target of 2%.  

B.24 Consequently, at its December meeting it extended its asset purchases 
programme by continuing purchases at the current monthly pace of €80 billion 
until the end of March 2017, but then continuing at a pace of €60 billion until the 
end of December 2017, or beyond, if necessary, and in any case until the 
Governing Council sees a sustained adjustment in the path of inflation 
consistent with its inflation aim. It also stated that if, in the meantime, the 
outlook were to become less favourable or if financial conditions became 
inconsistent with further progress towards a sustained adjustment of the path of 
inflation, the Governing Council intended to increase the programme in terms of 
size and/or duration. 

B.25 Economic growth in the Eurozone in the first three quarters of 2016 has been 
+0.5%, +0.3% and +0.3%, (+1.7% y/y).  Forward indications are that economic 
growth in the EU is likely to continue at moderate levels. This has added to 
comments from many forecasters that those central banks in countries around 
the world which are currently struggling to combat low growth, are running out 
of ammunition to stimulate growth and to boost inflation. Central banks have 
also been stressing that national governments will need to do more by way of 

Page 149



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 40 

 

structural reforms, fiscal measures and direct investment expenditure to 
support demand and economic growth in their economies. 

B.26 There are also significant specific political and other risks within the Eurozone: -   

 Greece continues to cause major stress in the EU due to its tardiness 
and reluctance in implementing key reforms required by the EU to 
make the country more efficient and to make significant progress 
towards the country being able to pay its way – and before the EU is 
prepared to agree to release further bail out funds. 

 Spain has had two inconclusive general elections in 2015 and 2016, 
both of which failed to produce a workable government with a majority 
of the 350 seats. At the eleventh hour on 31 October, before it would 
have become compulsory to call a third general election, the party with 
the biggest bloc of seats (137), was given a majority confidence vote to 
form a government. This is potentially a highly unstable situation, 
particularly given the need to deal with an EU demand for 
implementation of a package of austerity cuts which will be highly 
unpopular. 

 The under capitalisation of Italian banks poses a major risk. The longer 
this issue remains unresolved, the greater the likelihood that exposed 
banks will suffer an outflow of liquidity and so the bigger the cost will 
become to remedy the situation. Some German banks are also 
undercapitalised, especially Deutsche Bank, which is under threat of 
major financial penalties from regulatory authorities that will further 
weaken its capitalisation.  What is clear is that national governments 
are forbidden by EU rules from providing state aid to bail out those 
banks that are at risk, while, at the same time, those banks are unable 
realistically to borrow additional capital in financial markets due to their 
vulnerable financial state. However, they are also ‘too big, and too 
important to their national economies, to be allowed to fail’. 

 4th December Italian constitutional referendum on reforming the 
Senate and reducing its powers; this was also a confidence vote on 
Prime Minister Renzi who has resigned on losing the referendum.  
However, there has been remarkably little fall out from this result which 
probably indicates that the financial markets had already fully priced it 
in. A rejection of these proposals is likely to inhibit significant progress 
in the near future to fundamental political and economic reform which is 
urgently needed to deal with Italy’s core problems, especially low 
growth and a very high debt to GDP ratio of 135%. These reforms were 
also intended to give Italy more stable government as no western 
European country has had such a multiplicity of governments since the 
Second World War as Italy, due to the equal split of power between the 
two chambers of the Parliament which are both voted in by the Italian 
electorate but by using different voting systems. It is currently unclear 
what the political, and other, repercussions are from this result.  

 Dutch general election 15.3.17; a far right party is currently polling neck 
and neck with the incumbent ruling party. However, the proportional 
voting system means there are a multiplicity of parties so each general 

Page 150



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 41 

 

election results in an exercise in gathering a viable coalition after the 
results are in. In addition, anti-big business and anti-EU activists have 
already collected two thirds of the 300,000 signatures required to force 
a referendum to be taken on approving the EU – Canada free trade 
pact. This could delay the pact until a referendum in 2018 which would 
require unanimous approval by all EU governments before it can be 
finalised. In April 2016, Dutch voters rejected by 61.1% an EU – 
Ukraine cooperation pact under the same referendum law. Dutch 
activists are concerned by the lack of democracy in the institutions of 
the EU. 

 French presidential election; first round 13 April; second round 7 May 
2017. 

 French National Assembly election June 2017. 

 German Federal election August – 22 October 2017.  This could be 
affected by significant shifts in voter intentions as a result of terrorist 
attacks, dealing with a huge influx of immigrants and a rise in anti EU 
sentiment. 

 The core EU,(rather than just the Eurozone currency area), principle of 
free movement of people within the EU is a growing issue leading to 
major stress and tension between EU states, especially with the 
Visegrad bloc of former communist states. 

B.27 Given the number and type of challenges the EU faces in the next eighteen 
months, there is an identifiable risk for the EU project to be called into 
fundamental question. The risk of an electoral revolt against the EU 
establishment has gained traction after the shock results of the UK referendum 
and the US Presidential election.  But it remains to be seen whether any shift in 
sentiment will gain sufficient traction to produce any further shocks within the 
EU. The risks are increasing that voter dissatisfaction with the EU could lead to 
another country lining up after the UK, to leave the EU, unless the EU positively 
addresses the major challenges it faces over the next few years. 

Asia. 

B.28 Economic growth in China has been weakening despite successive rounds of 
central bank stimulus. This has, in turn, been denting economic growth in 
emerging market countries dependent on exporting raw materials to China.  
Medium term risks have also been increasing in China. These include a 
dangerous build up in the level of credit compared to the size of GDP and a 
need to address the level of non-performing loans in the banking and credit 
systems. In addition major progress still needs to be made to address a major 
over supply of housing and surplus industrial capacity, both of which need to be 
eliminated.  This needs to be combined with a rebalancing of the economy from 
investment expenditure to consumer spending. The Chinese central bank has a 
track record of supporting growth through various monetary policy measures, 
though these further stimulate the growth of credit risks and so increase the 
existing major imbalances within the economy. 

Page 151



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 42 

 

B.29 Japan has continued to struggle to gain consistent significant economic growth (but 
has achieved an annualised rate in quarter 3 of +2.7%, (Q2 +2.6%). It has also 
been struggling to put deflation firmly behind it and get inflation up to reasonable 
levels, despite successive rounds of huge monetary stimulus and massive fiscal 
action to promote consumer spending. The government is also making little 
progress on fundamental reforms of the economy. 

Emerging countries 

B.30 There have been major concerns around the vulnerability of some emerging 
countries exposed to the downturn in demand for commodities from China or to 
competition from the increase in supply of American shale oil and gas reaching 
world markets. The ending of sanctions on Iran has also brought a further 
significant increase in oil supplies into the world markets.  While these 
concerns have subsided during 2016, if interest rates in the USA do rise 
substantially over the next few years, (and this could also be accompanied by a 
rise in the value of the dollar in exchange markets), this could cause significant 
problems for those emerging countries with large amounts of debt denominated 
in dollars.  The Bank of International Settlements has recently released a report 
that $340bn of emerging market corporate debt will fall due for repayment in 
the final two months of 2016 and in 2017 – a 40% increase on the figure for the 
last three years. 

B.31 Financial markets could also be vulnerable to risks from those emerging 
countries with major sovereign wealth funds, that are highly exposed to the falls 
in commodity prices from the levels prevailing before 2015, especially oil, and 
which, therefore, may have to liquidate substantial amounts of investments in 
order to cover national budget deficits over the next few years if the price of oil 
does not return to pre-2015 levels. 

Page 152



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2017-2018 

Page 43 

 

Appendix C: Credit Ratings  

International long-term credit ratings 

Fitch Moody’s Standard 

& Poor’s 

Definition   Permitted 

counter-

party 

Investment Grade 

AAA Aaa AAA Highest quality/Best quality/Extremely strong Yes 

AA Aa AA Very high quality/High quality/Very strong Yes 

A A A High quality/Upper medium grade/Strong Yes* 

BBB Baa BBB Good quality/Medium grade/Adequate No 

Non-investment/speculative grade 

BB Ba BB 
Speculative/Lower medium grade/Speculative – 
Less vulnerable 

No 

B B B Highly speculative/Low grade/More vulnerable No 

CCC Caa CCC Poor quality/Currently vulnerable No 

CC Ca CC 
High default risk/Highly speculative/Currently 
highly vulnerable 

No 

C C C 
High default risk/Extremely poor/Imminent 
default 

No 

D  D In default No 

*except non UK sovereigns 

Note: Fitch Ratings and Standard and Poor’s ratings from 'AA' to 'CCC' may be modified by the addition of 
a plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show relative standing within the major rating categories. Moody’s append 
numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating classification from Aa through Caa to denote relative 
status. 

 

 

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 154



1 | P a g e
Final Version February 2017

Allerdale Borough Council

Full Council – 1 March 2017 

Pay Policy Statement – 2017/2018

Report Implications

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N
Financial Y Employment (internal) Y
Legal Y Partnership N
Social Inclusion Y Asset Management N
Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N

The Reason for the Decision The Pay Policy Statement sets out the Council’s 
approach to pay policy in accordance with the 
requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 
2011. 

Summary of options considered N/A

Recommendations That Council approves the Pay Policy Statement.

Financial/Resource Implications All financial implications are included in the 
report.

Legal Implications All legal implications are included in the report.

Community Safety Implications N/A 

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

N/A

Equality Duty considered/Impact 
Assessment completed

Yes

Wards Affected All 

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s Strategic 
Objectives

The statement provides transparency with regard 
to the Council’s approach to setting the pay of its 
employees. 

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Councillor Barbara Cannon 

Lead Officer Ian Frost, Chief Executive, 01900 702975, 
ian.frost@allerdale.gov.uk 

Page 155

Agenda Item 14

mailto:ian.frost@allerdale.gov.uk


2 | P a g e
Final Version February 2017

1. Introduction and Purpose
Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the 
“power to appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as the 
authority thinks fit”. This Pay Policy Statement (the ‘statement’) sets out the 
Council’s approach to pay policy in accordance with the requirements of 
Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011.  

The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to the 
Council’s approach to setting the pay of its employees by identifying;

 the methods by which salaries of all employees are determined;
 the detail and level of remuneration of its most senior staff i.e. ‘chief 

officers’, as defined by the relevant legislation;
 the Chief Executive (as the Head of Paid Service) is responsible for 

ensuring the provisions set out in this statement are applied 
consistently throughout the Council and recommending any 
amendments to the Council.

Once approved by the Council, this policy statement will come into immediate 
effect and will be subject to review on a minimum of an annual basis, the 
policy for the next financial year being approved by 31st March each year. 

The introduction of the Code of Practice for Local Authority on Data 
Transparency 2015 places additional duties on Local authorities in terms of 
publication of pay details which are included in the document.  The Code also 
requires the publication of Trade Union Facility Time and the annual 
publication of organisation structure charts which are contained in Appendix 1.

2. Other legislation relevant to pay and remuneration
In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Council 
will comply with all relevant employment legislation.  This includes legislation 
such as the Equality Act 2010, Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less 
Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000 and where relevant, the Transfer of 
Undertakings (Protection of Earnings) Regulations 2006.  

The Council ensures there is no pay discrimination within its pay structures 
and that all pay differentials can be objectively justified through the use of job 
evaluation mechanisms, which directly establish the relative levels of posts in 
grades according to the requirements, demands and responsibilities of the 
role.  

3. Pay and Grading Structure
The Council uses the nationally negotiated pay spine (i.e. a defined list of 
salary points) as the basis for its local pay structure, which determines the 
salaries of its employees (published on the intranet). The actual salary levels 
for each post other than Chief Officers are determined by reference to the 
Council’s job evaluation scheme. This is a national scheme.

Page 156



3 | P a g e
Final Version February 2017

The Council adopts the national pay bargaining arrangements in respect of the 
establishment and revision of the national pay spine, for example through any 
agreed annual pay increases negotiated with the National Joint Council of 
Local Authority Services

All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally 
negotiated rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with 
collective bargaining machinery.

In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for any 
posts which fall outside its scope, the Council takes account of the need to 
ensure value for money in respect of the use of public expenditure, balanced 
against the need to recruit and retain employees who are able to meet the 
requirements of providing high quality services to the community, delivered 
effectively and efficiently and at times at which those services are required.  

New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant pay 
scale for the grade, although this can be varied where necessary to secure the 
best candidate. Where the appointment salary is above the minimum point of 
the pay scale this will be within the discretion of the appointing officer applies 
under the Recruitment and Selection Policy.

From time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay 
levels in the labour market in order to attract and retain employees with 
particular experience, skills and capacity.  Where necessary, the Council will 
ensure the requirement for such is objectively justified by reference to clear 
and transparent evidence of relevant market comparators, using data sources 
available from within the local government sector and outside, as appropriate, 
in accordance with the Market Factor Supplement Policy.

Any temporary supplement to the salary scale for the grade is approved in 
accordance with the Market Factor Supplement Procedure and the Acting up 
and Honoraria Procedure.

All employees are covered by the National Joint Council Agreement on Pay 
and Conditions of Service except for Chief Officers who are covered by a 
separate National Joint Council Agreement for Chief Officers of Local 
Authorities.

Salary levels for Chief Officers were set by Council after consideration of an 
independent review which was undertaken externally by North West 
Employers Organisation (NWEO) in 2012. The determination of any new 
salary structure is undertaken in accordance with the guidance produced by 
the Joint Negotiating Committees for Chief Executives and Chief Officers 
which says that when deciding the level of remuneration the following factors 
should be considered:

 The Chief Executive’s salary and that of senior staff not covered by the 
Chief Officers’ JNC;

 Any special market considerations;

Page 157



4 | P a g e
Final Version February 2017

 Any substantial local factors not common to authorities of similar type 
and size.

 Comparative salary information from other similar authorities;
 Top management structures and the size of the management team 

compared to those of other authorities of similar type and size;
 The relative job size of each post, as objectively assessed.

There is no separate provision for Chief Officers in relation to the Council’s 
general employment policies and statements. Arrangements for Chief Officers 
are dealt with in accordance with the Council’s ordinary policies. 

4. Senior Management Remuneration
Details of the senior management remuneration are included below:

Job Title Points Salary
Chief Executive 1 £102,010
Corporate Director** 3 £73,876,   £75,957,   £78,038
Heads of Service** 3 £46,823,   £48,904,   £50,985

** An individual’s progression through the relevant pay scale is annual 
increments subject to satisfactory performance.

Returning Officer
The designation of the Returning Officer currently sits with the Corporate 
Director. The Council is required to provide funding to the Retuning Officer to 
discharge statutory functions relating to the administration of local government 
elections. The Returning Officer will make payments to those officers who 
undertake specific duties in relation to the elections in accordance with their 
role. 

Monitoring Officer and Deputy
The designation of the Monitoring Officer currently sits with the Head of 
Governance. The Monitoring Officer is paid on the normal salary for a Head of 
Service, with an additional 10% annual allowance in recognition of their 
particular statutory responsibilities. The Deputy Monitoring Officer is paid an 
additional £1000 per annum, on top of their salary.

Section 151 Officer and Deputy
The designation of the Section 151 Officer currently sits with the Head of 
Financial Services. The Section 151 Officer is paid on the normal salary for a 
Head of Service, with an additional 10% annual allowance in recognition of 
their particular statutory responsibilities. The Deputy 151 is paid an additional 
£1000 per annum on top of their salary.

Further details are published in the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts.

5. Recruitment of Chief Officers
The Council’s policy and procedures with regard to recruitment of Chief 
Officers is set out within section 8.5 of the Constitution.  

Page 158



5 | P a g e
Final Version February 2017

When recruiting to all posts the Council will take full and proper account of all 
provisions of relevant employment law and its own equal opportunities in 
Recruitment & Selection, and Change Management Policy.  

The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed 
Chief Officer will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies 
in place at the time of recruitment.  

6. Additions to Salary of Chief Officers
To meet specific operational requirements it may be necessary for an 
individual to temporarily take on additional duties to their identified role. The 
Council’s arrangements for authorising any additional remuneration (e.g. 
honoraria, ex gratia, ‘acting up’) relating to temporary additional duties are the 
same for all officers and are set out in the Acting up, Honorarium & 
Secondment Policy. 

The Senior Management team receive an on-call/standby fee, where required. 
The same rate is applicable for all employees who undertake on call/standby 
cover.

Essential car user may be paid to the senior management team providing their 
role meets the criteria which is applicable to all employees.

In addition to basic salary, the following posts receive additional pay as set out 
below;

Post / Tier of 
post

Payment details 

Corporate Director The designation of Returning Officer is made by Full Council 
and currently sits with the Corporate Director.

The fees paid for Returning Officer services are as follows :

In accordance with the national agreement the Returning 
Officer is entitled to receive and retain the personal fees 
arising from performing the duties of the RO, ACT, DRO or 
DARO and similar position which they perform subject to the 
payment of pension contributions thereon, where 
appropriate.

In respect of Borough and Parish Council elections the fee 
is based on a calculation of £100 per Borough Ward and 
£100 per contested parish.

Fees for elections duties for other elections (County Council, 
National and European, etc.) are paid as an additional sum 
at the rate prescribed by government as and when they 
arise, they are distinct from the process for the 
determination of pay for Chief Officers.

Page 159



6 | P a g e
Final Version February 2017

Some officers may attract a supplement  for deputy 
returning officer duties

Statutory Officers Salary supplements payable for fulfilling statutory officer 
duties (e.g. S151 / MO) 

7. Bonus Payments
The Council does not operate any variable pay or bonus schemes. 

8. Pension Contributions 
Where employees have exercised their statutory right to become members of 
the Local Government Pension Scheme, the Council is required to make a 
contribution to the scheme representing a percentage of the pensionable 
remuneration due under the contract of employment of that employee.  The 
rate of contribution is set by Actuaries advising the Cumbria Pension Fund and 
reviewed on a triennial basis in order to ensure the scheme is appropriately 
funded.  The rate to be used in the financial year 2017/18 is 14.5%.  

The employee contribution rates are based on actual pensionable pay as 
detailed in the table below.  These rates are published each year. At time of 
publication of this pay policy, the 2017/18 rates have not been published.

Contribution table 2015/16
Actual Pensionable Pay
£

Employee contribution rate

Up to £13,600 5.5%
£13,601 - £21,200 5.8%
£21,201 - £34,400 6.5%
£34,401 - £43,500 6.8%
£43,501 - £60,700 8.5%
£60,701 - £86,000 9.9%
£86,001 - £101,200 10.5%
£101,201 - £151,800 11.4%
£151,801 or more 12.5%

9. Payments on Termination
The Councils approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination 
of employment of Chief Officers, prior to reaching normal retirement age, is 
the same as for all employees set out within its Pension Discretion Policy in 
accordance with Regulations 5 and 6 of the Local Government (Early 
Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) Regulations 2006 
and Regulation 12 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, 
Membership and Contribution) Regulations 2007.  

10.Pay Analysis
Median Salary
This calculation is made including all staff within the paid services of the 
Council, including the Chief Executive. The median salary using the December 
2016 payroll was £24,964. This is based on a staffing number of 249 and total 

Page 160



7 | P a g e
Final Version February 2017

remuneration of £6,142,481.31 (based on all posts at their full-time equivalent 
rate).

Lowest paid employees
Using December 2016 payroll data, the lowest paid employee was on a salary 
of £14,514, however the Council pays the Living Wage Foundation Wage, 
which is currently £8.45 per hour. This means that the lowest employee is 
actually paid £16,302 per annum. 

Apprentices are appointed to Allerdale Borough Council on the Living 
Foundation Wage 

Pay Multiple
The relationship between the rate of pay for the lowest paid and Chief Officers 
is determined by the processes used for determining pay and grading 
structures as set out earlier in this policy statement.  

The average full time salary throughout the Authority is £26,805 with the 
highest salary being £101,000 per annum. Therefore, the ‘pay multiple’, the 
ratio between the highest paid salary and the median salary (£24,964) of the 
whole of the authority’s workforce, is 1:4 (as at December 2016).

As part of its overall and ongoing monitoring of alignment with external pay 
markets, both within and outside the sector, the Council will use available 
benchmark information as appropriate.  In addition, upon the annual review of 
this statement, the Council will also monitor any changes in the relevant ‘pay 
multiples’ and benchmark against other comparable local authorities. 

11.Trade Union Facility Time 
The Code of Practice on Data Transparency 2015 requires that Councils 
produce a basic estimate of time spent on union activities. The following 
information is what is what has to be published

 Total number of staff who are union representatives
 Total number of union representatives who devote at least 50 per cent 

of their time to union duties
 Names of all trade unions represented in the local authority
 A basic estimate of spending on trade unions (calculated as the 

number of FTE equivalent days spent on union duties multiplied by the 
average salary)

 A basic estimate of spending unions as a % of the total pay bill

There are currently 6 employees who are official union representatives.

Representatives are currently not asked to record the amount of time that they 
spend on union activities, no union representation spends 50% of their time 
consistently every week on trade union activities.

The union that is represented in the Council is Unison

Page 161



8 | P a g e
Final Version February 2017

A basic estimate as a proportion of the total pay bill is 0.04% (£27,124* 
divided by total pay bill x 100). This is based on the total number of union 
representatives combined salaries divided by the number of union 
representatives.

*this is the total of all the union representatives salaries divided by the number 
of union representatives based on union activity being 1 day a week across all 
of the representatives divided by the Councils pay bill x100.

12.Publication
Upon approval by the Full Council, this statement will be published on the 
Council’s website. 

13.Accountability and Decision Making
In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, the Head of Paid Service, 
Chief Officer Employment Panel and Council are responsible for decision 
making in relation to the recruitment, pay, terms and conditions and 
severance arrangements in relation to Chief Officers of the Council.

14.Re-employment/Re-engagement of former Chief Officers 
The Council will not normally employ or engage under a contract of service 
Chief Officers who have previously received a redundancy or severance 
payment or who are in receipt of a pension under the Local Government 
Pension Scheme.

The Small Business, Enterprise & Employment Act 2015 makes provision 
requiring the repayment of some or all of any qualifying exit payment in 
qualifying circumstances.

15.Gender Pay Gap Reporting
From April 2017 mandatory gender pay reporting will be required of all 
employers with over 250 employees. The gender pay gap is a measure of the 
difference between men’s and women’s average earnings across the 
organisation. It is expressed as a % of men’s earnings.

Salaries at Allerdale Borough Council are determined through a job evaluation 
scheme (NJC). Job evaluation evaluates the job and not the post holder. It 
makes no reference to gender or any other personal characteristics of existing 
or potential job holders. Allerdale is confident that it is paying the same salary 
to roles of equal value.

The data below represents the gender pay gap data for Allerdale as at the 
end of March 2017. The data where appropriate had been broken down by 
both full-time and part-time staff. This is to aid understanding and also help 
identify any issues arising within the part-time staff population.

66% of Allerdale’s workforce is female of which 31.5%are part-time staff.

Table 1: Overall gender pay gap full and part time (all employees)

Page 162



9 | P a g e
Final Version February 2017

Overall median pay gap Overall mean pay gap
Female £11.27 £12.65
Male £14.62 £15.41
Pay gap 23% 18%

Many organisations calculate their pay gap in a variety of ways and there is 
no single measure that adequately deals with the complex issue of differences 
between mens and womens pay, the Office of National Statistics (ONS) 
currently use median hourly earnings excluding overtime when calculating the 
gender pay gap.

 The median level of earnings reflects the mid-point value if all of a 
companies employees earnings are arranged in order and is less 
affected by very high or very low figures.

Using hourly earnings better accounts for the fact that men on average work 
more hours than women

Quartile Summary
The quartile data has been calculated in accordance with the methodology as 
set out in the Mandatory Gender Pay Gap Reporting – Public Sector 
Employers Government Consultation document.

It recommends that:

“Employers will need to calculate their quartile data by dividing the workforce 
into four equal sized groups. These four groups will be separated according to 
the hourly pay rate, starting from the lowest paid to the highest paid. This 
approach has been adopted in preference to calculating quartiles by dividing 
the overall pay distribution into four equal proportions. Splitting the data into 
equal groups by salary range could result in very small groups e.g. an entire 
quartile based on the Chief Executive’s salary.” 

Table 2: Mean hourly pay

Female  Male  Pay Gap
 

Hourly Rate No: Hourly Rate No:  
Quartile 1
Grade A, B,C,D,E £9.28 56 £8.97 17 -3%

Quartile 2
Grade E, F,G
 

£11.77 47 £11.85 17 1%

Quartile 3
Grade G, H,I
 

£15.08 40 £15.27 25 1%

Quartile 4
Grade I, 
J,K,L,M,N,O,P

£19.26 22 £22.11 28 13%

Page 163



10 | P a g e
Final Version February 2017

HOS,CD,CE

Allerdale Borough Council recognises that there are disproportionately fewer 
women in senior positions (quartile 4), in particular those earning over 
£36,937 which is equivalent to an hourly rate of £19.15. 

Quartile 4 shows that in the higher pay grades there are more males than 
females employed.

Table 4: Distribution of gender in £10,000 increments

Salary Range Female Male Total
 < £20,000 56 17 73
 £20,001 - £30,000 70 27 97
 £30,001 - £40,000 37 34 71
 £40,001 - £50,000  2 2
 £50,001 - £60,000 2 5 7
 £60,001 - £70,000  1 1
 £70,001 - £80,000    
 £80,001 - £90,000    
 £90,001 - £100,000    
£100,001  1 1
Total 165 87 252

Many organisations calculate their pay gaps in a variety of ways and there is 
no 

Although average hourly pay provides a useful comparison of earnings of men 
and women, a gender pay gap does not necessarily signify unlawful 
discrimination or reveal differences in rates of pay for comparable jobs.

The council will continue to work in partnership with UNISON to review 
policies, equality and inclusion, maternity and paternity and people 
development. The Council has recently approved a new Time management 
policy to increase flexible working across the Council which may help to make 
our more senior roles more attractive to candidates with caring 
responsibilities.

Gender pay information will be contained in the Council pay policy each year 

Ian Frost
Chief Executive

Page 164



11 | P a g e
Final Version February 2017

Head of
People 

Resources

£46,823 - 
£50,985

Net budget 
£519,014
X4 staff

HR

Training & 
Development

P
age 165



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 166


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service
	9 Portfolio Holder Reports
	10 Executive Minutes
	11 Budget 2017-18 – Revenue and Capital
	Budget 2017-18 - Revenue and Capital, 15/02/2017 Executive
	Budget 2017-18 Appendix A to I amended
	Budget 2017-18 Appendix J - Budget Consultation Responses, 15/02/2017 Executive

	12 Council Tax Resolution 2017-18
	Appendix A
	APPENDIX B1
	APPENDIX B2
	APPENDIX B3
	Appendix C

	13 Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2017/18
	Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2017/18, 17/02/2017 Audit Committee
	Appendix 1 -TMSS Investment strategy  MRP policy statement 2017-2018

	14 Pay Policy Statement

